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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 29, 2013
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission File No. 001-35603

CHUY'S HOLDINGS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

DELAWARE 20-5717694
(State of Incorporation (I.LR.S. Employer
or Organization) Identification No.)

1623 TOOMEY ROAD
AUSTIN, TEXAS 78704
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code(512) 473-2783

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ihefAct:

Title of each class Name of each exchange dohaegistered
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share NaSttzek Market LLC
Securities registered pursuant to section 12(ghef\ct: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40%0B#curities Act. Yes O No o4}

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes O No 4}

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant &b filed all reports required to be filed by Secti or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4L88rin¢
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter petiatithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing nesents fc
the past 90 days. Ye# No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ibsnitted electronically and posted on its corpok&eb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to bt
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Régnl&-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@gmionths (or for such shorter period that
registrant was required to submit and post sueB)fil Yes ™ No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Iltem 405 of RegulatiorKS§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained merand will no
be contained, to the best of registrant’'s knowledyelefinitive proxy or information statements amporated by reference in Part 11l of this FormK.@r any
amendment to this Form 10-KI

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iasrge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&e®se th
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelezd filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul&b-2 of the Exchange Act (Check One):

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer 4|
Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantdbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxge Act). Yes O No 4}

As of June 28, 2013 (the last business day of mstmecently completed second fiscal quarter) aijgregate market value of the registrammmon stoc
held by non-affiliates was approximately $606 roiili

The number of shares of the registrant's commockstatstanding at February 28, 2014 was 16,386,932
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Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwhodking statements. These statements reflect theeruviews of our senior managen
with respect to future events and our financiafgrenance. These statements include forwaaking statements with respect to our busi
and industry in general. Statements that include wlords “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “piject,” “forecast,” “estimate,” “may,”
“should,” “anticipate” and similar statements offidure or forward-looking nature identify forwatdeking statements for purposes of

federal securities laws or otherwise.

" ow " ow " ow ” oW " ow LTS

Forwardiooking statements address matters that invohkes ré;d uncertainties. Accordingly, there are ot b important factors that cot
cause our actual results to differ materially frorose indicated in these statements. We beliewgtibae factors include, but are not limitec
the following:

» the success of our existing and new restaul

e our ability to identify appropriate sites and dexeand expand our operatic

» changes in economic conditions, including contigweffects from the recent recess
« damage to our reputation or lack of acceptancaiobeand in existing or new marke

e economic and other trends and developments, imgjudidverse weather conditions, in the local oramgi areas in which o
restaurants are located,;

» the impact of negative economic factors, includimg availability of credit, on our landlords andrsunding tenant
» changes in food availability and co:

» labor shortages and increases in our labor cagthiding as a result of changes in government egigul, such as the adoption of
new federal health care legislation;

* increased competition in the restaurant industd/tae segments in which we comp

» the impact of legislation and regulations regardintyitional information, and new information otitdes regarding diet and healtt
adverse opinions about the health of consumingranu offerings;

» the impact of federal, state and local beer, licarod food service regulatiol
» the success of our marketing progre

« the impact of new restaurant openings, includingttom effect on our existing restaurants of opemegw restaurants in the sa
markets;

» the loss of key members of our management |

« strain on our infrastructure and resources caugeanibgrowth

e the impact of litigatior

« the inadequacy of our insurance coverage and fiticiy insurance requirements and ct
» the impact of our indebtedness on our ability ¥est in the ongoing needs of our busin
» our ability to obtain debt or other financing ondaable terms or at a

» the impact of a potential requirement to recoreétsspairment charges in the futt

» the impact of security breaches of confidentialteoer information in connection with our electrompimcessing of credit and de
card transactions;

* inadequate protection of our intellectual propt

» the failure of our information technology systentloe breach of our network secur

e amajor natural or mamade disaste

e ourincreased costs and obligations as a resbkiofy a public compar

« the impact of federal, state and local tax

» the impact of electing to take advantage of cemaigmptions applicable to emerging growth compa

» volatility in the price of our common stox
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« the impact of future sales of our common stock thedexercise of stock options and any additionpitabraised by us through the <
of our common stock;

« the impact of a downgrade of our shares by seeardhalysts or industry analysts, the publicatibnegative research or reports
lack of publication of reports about our business;

» the effect of anttakeover provisions in our charter documents arttbuelaware lav

» the effect of our decision to not pay dividendstfar foreseeable futul

» the effect of changes in accounting principles igpple to us

» our ability to raise capital in the future; ¢

» the conflicts of interest that may arise becauseesof our directors are principals of our principaickholder:

Although we believe that the expectations refledtethe forwardlooking statements are reasonable based on ouentiknowledge of ol
business and operations, we cannot guarantee figsuéis, levels of activity, performance or ackieents. The foregoing factors should nc
construed as exhaustive. If one or more of thesghar risks or uncertainties materialize, or if anderlying assumptions prove to be incor
actual results may differ materially from what weieipate. Any forward-looking statements you réadhis Form 10K reflect our views as
the date of this annual report with respect torievents and are subject to these and other rigkgrtainties and assumptions relating tc
operations, results of operations, growth stratagy liquidity. You should not place undue reliameethese forwardooking statements a
you should carefully consider all of the factorgntlfied in this report that could cause actualitssto differ. We assume no obligatior
update these forward looking statements, excepsred by law.

Basis of Presentation

We operate on a 52- or 38ek fiscal year that ends on the last Sunday ettiendar year. Each quarterly period has 13 weskept for
53-week year when the fourth quarter has 14 weeks. 2012 fiscal year consisted of 53 weeks. Our 204B2011 fiscal years each consit
of 52 weeks. Fiscal years are identified in thiswal report according to the calendar year in wiiehfiscal year ends. For example, refere
to “ 2013 ,” “fiscal 2013 ,” “fiscal year 2013 " aiimilar references refer to the fiscal year enddgember 29, 2013 .
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PART |

Unless otherwise specified, or the context othexwégjuires, the references in this report to “ampgany, we” and

“our” refer to Chuy’s Holdings, Inc. together witls subsidiaries.

the Company,” “us,

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Chuy’s is a fast-growing, full-service restauraohcept offering a distinct menu of authentic, figgbrepared Mexican and Tex Mex inspi
food. We were founded in Austin, Texas in 1982 by Bounders and, as of December 29, 2013 , we 48 Chuys restaurants across
states, with an average unit volume of $4.9 millfon our 32 comparable restaurants for the twehamtims ended December 29, 201Qul
restaurants have a common décor, but we believe leaation is unique in format, offering an “unahed” look and feel, as expressed by
motto “If you've seen one Chuy’s, you've seen ormus!” We believe our restaurants have an upbeat, furdtgctic, somewhat irrevere
atmosphere while still maintaining a familyendly environment. We are committed to providinglue to our customers through offel
generous portions of made-frasaratch, flavorful Mexican and Tex Mex inspiredhdis. We believe our employees are a key elemeott
culture and set the tone for a fun, family-friendiynosphere with attentive service. We believeCGhay’s culture is one of our most valua
assets, and we are committed to preserving anéhcaiyy investing in our culture and our customeestaurant experience.

Our core menu was established using recipes fronilyfaand friends of our Founders, and has remanedatively unchanged over the ye
We offer the same menu during lunch and dinnerchvimcludes enchiladas, fajitas, tacos, burritasnlzination platters and daily speci
complemented by a variety of appetizers, soupssatatls. Each of our restaurants also offers atyasiehomemade sauces, including
signature Hatch green chile and creamy jalapefioesawll of which we make from scratch daily inleaestaurant. These sauces are ¢
element of our offering and provide our customeith \&an added ability to customize their orders. @unu offers considerable value to
customers, with only three out of 49 menu itemsaatiover $10.00 at 47 of our 48 restaurants asecE@ber 29, 2013 . We also offer a full
service bar in all of our restaurants providing oustomers a wide variety of beverage offeringatuieng a selection of specialty cockt
including our signature on-the-rocks margaritas enaih fresh, hand-squeezed lime juice and the J d4artini, a made-to-order, hamsthake!
cocktail served with jalapefstuffed olives. The bar represents an importané@spf our concept, where customers frequently egaphior tc
being seated. For the twelve months ended Dece2®h&013 , alcoholic beverages constituted 18.6%uototal restaurant sales.

We strive to create a unique and memorable custexparience at each of our locations. While thelhyn each of our restaurants varies
maintain distinguishable elements across our lonatiincluding hand-carved, hapdinted wooden fish imported from Mexico, a variet
vibrant Mexican folk art, a “Nacho Cathat provides complimentary chips, salsa and atile queso in the trunk of a classic car, vin
hubcaps hanging from the ceiling, colorful handee floor and wall tile and festive metal palmesrelncluding patio space, our restaur
range in size from 5,300 to 12,500 square feeh sé@ting for approximately 225 to 40@stomers. Nearly all of our restaurants featuteau
patios. We design our restaurants to have flexdlelating arrangements that allow us to cater toliesnand parties of all sizes. Our br
strategy of having an “unchainetiiok and feel allows our restaurants to establitirtown identity and provides us with a flexibtsal estat
model. Our site selection process is focused owarsions of existing restaurants as well as newtaip prototypes in select locations. ¢
restaurants are open for lunch and dinner seves dayeek. We serve approximately 7,000 customerdogation per week or 365,0
customers per location per year, on average, byiging high-quality, freshly prepared food at a competitiveepmpoint. We believe that me
of Chuy’s frequent customers visit one of our resaats multiple times per week.

Our Business Strengths
Over our 32-year operating history, we have devedognd refined the following strengths:

Fresh, Authentic Mexican and Tex Mex Inspired @ei. Our goal is to provide unique, authentic Mexieand Tex Mex inspired food usi
only the freshest ingredients. We believe we samthentic Mexican and Tex Mex inspired food baseduor recipes, ingredients, cook
techniques and food pairings, which originated froan Foundersfriends and families from Mexico, New Mexico andx&e. Every day |
each restaurant, we roast and hand pull whole ehigkhand roll fresh tortillas, squeeze fresh ljmee and prepare fresh guacamole f
whole avocados. In addition, we make all nine teveh of our homemade sauces daily using kjgdhlity ingredients. We believe t
commitment to made-from-scratch, freshly prepareoking results in great tasting, higlality food, a sense of pride among our resta
employees and loyalty among our customers. Soneeiokitchen managers travel to Hatch, New Mexicergssummer to hangelect batche
of our green chiles. We believe our commitmenteiving highguality food is also evidenced by us serving onhoiCe quality beef and fre
ingredients. We believe our servers and kitcheff ata highly proficient in executing the core mesmd capable of satisfying large quant
of custom orders, as the majority of our orderscaisgomized.

Considerable Dining Value with Broad Customer Apped/e are committed to providing value to our custenthrough offering generc
portions of flavorful Mexican and Tex Mex inspirdishes using fresh, high-quality ingredients. Wkelve our menu




Table of Contents

offers a considerable value proposition to our@ustrs, with only three out of our 49 menu itemseguiover $10.0at 47 of our 48 restaura
as of December 29, 2013 . Further highlighting value proposition, for the twelve months ended Dawmer 29, 2013 our average check w
$13.46. Through our training programs, we train our engpks to make sure that each plate is prepareddicgdp our presentation and rec
standards.

Although our core demographic is ages 21 tg wé believe our restaurants appeal to a broadrspeof customers and will continue to ber
from trends in consumergreferences. We believe consumers are craving tspidy and flavorful foods, like those featureddar core
offering. Additionally, we believe our brand appe#d a wide demographic and will continue to bdanfefim the growing demand for fre:
authentic Mexican and Tex Mex inspired food andrg festive dining experience. We believe we ase ah attractive venue for families |
other large parties, and consider many of our veatds to be destination locations, drawing custsrfrem as far as 30 miles away. We lo
our restaurants in high-traffic locations to attnagmarily local patrons with limited reliance dusiness travelers.

Upbeat Atmosphere Coupled with Irreverent BrandpddDifferentiate ConceptAs stated in our motto “If you've seen one Chuyeu've
seen one Chuy’s!” each of our restaurants is umygdesigned. However, most share a few common elesrehand-carved, harnhinte
wooden fish, vintage hubcaps hanging from themgilcolorful handnade floor and wall tile, palm trees crafted froonap metal and a varie
of colorful Mexican folk art. Much of this décondluding all of the wooden fish and painted tilisssourced from vendors in Mexican villa
that have partnered with us for decades. Additlgnalrtually all restaurants feature a complimemgtaelf-serve “Nacho Car,” a hollowemlt,
customized classic car trunk filled with fresh @hipalsa, chile con queso and more.

We believe these signature elements, combinedatiigimtive service from our friendly and energetigpéoyees create an upbeat ambience
a funky, eclectic and somewhat irreverent atmosph®ur restaurants feature a fun mix of rock aridradher than traditional Mexicastyle
music, which we believe helps to provide an ené&gaistomer experience. We also believe that eastaurant reflects the character
history of its individual community. Many of ourstaurants have added unique, local elements suehspecial wall of photos featuri
customers with their friends, families and dogs. bééeve this has allowed our customers to devalsprong sense of pride and ownersh
their local Chuy’s.

Deep Rooted and Inspiring Company Cult. We believe the Chug’ culture is one of our most valuable assets, amding committed
preserving and continually investing in our cultared restaurant experience. Since our foundindB821we believe we have developed c
personal relationships with our customers, emplsya®l vendors. We emphasize a fun, passionate uthdngic culture and support aci
social responsibility and involvement in local coonmities. We regularly sponsor a variety of commyitents including our annual Chay’
Children Giving to Children Parade, CheyHot to Trot 5K and other local charitable evel¥e believe our employees and customers st
unique energy and passion for our concept. We ranedpof our annual employee turnover rate at coatgarrestaurants, which as@&cembe
29, 2013 was 25.5% for managers and 83.5% for Zamiployees and our goal of promoting 40% of rastatdevel managers from within,
well as our solid base of repeat customers.

In order to retain our unique culture as we growe, Wwest significant time and capital into our hiag programs. We devote substal
resources to identifying, selecting and training mstaurant-level employees. We typically haveitestore trainers at each existing loca
who provide both front- and back-of-theuse training on site as well as two training dowators that lead new restaurant training. We
have an approximately 20eek training program for all of our restaurant egers, which consists of an average of 11 weekgstaurar
training and eight to nine weeks of “cultural” waig, in which managers observe our establishethuemnts’ operations and custon
interactions. We believe our focus on culturalrirag is a core aspect of our company and reinfooxgscommitment to the Chug’bran:
identity. In conjunction with our training actiws, we hold “Culture Clubs” four times or more gear, as a means to fully impart the Clauy’
story through personal appearances by our Founders.

Flexible Business Model with Industry Leading UBitbnomics. We have a long standing track record of consilstgmoducing high averay
unit volumes relative to competing Mexican conceptswell as established casual dining restaur&otsthe twelve months end&kcembe
29, 2013 , our comparable restaurants generatedgveinit volumes of $4.9 millionwith our highest volume restaurant generatin@
million and our lowest volume restaurant generags7 million. We have opened and operated restéaiia Texas, the Southeast and
Midwest and achieved attractive rates of returrooninvested capital, providing a strong foundationexpansion in both new and exist
markets. Under our investment model, our new reatduopenings have historically required a net daskstment of approximatel$1.¢
million . For our new unit openings, we estimatatteach ground-up buildout of our prototype willjuae a total cash investment $1.7
million to $2.5 million (net of estimated tenanteéntives of between zero and $1.0 milllprWe estimate that each conversion will requ
total cash investment of $2.0 million to $2.2 noilli. We target a cash-on-cash return beginningénthird operating year of 40.0%and i
sales to investment ratio of 2:10n average, returns on new units opened sincé BA%e exceeded these target returns in the sga@Td
operations.

Experienced Management Tei. We are led by a management team with signifieaspierience in all aspects of restaurant operatiOns
senior management team has an average of appreyn2® years of restaurant experience and our #érgk managers, as Biecember 2!
2013, have an average tenure at Chuy’s of appwetein 6 years. In 2007, we hired our CEO and
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President, Steve Hislop. Mr. Hislop is the formeedident of O’Charley Restaurants, where he spent 19 years performivgriaty o
functions, including serving as Concept Presidedta member of the board of directors, and helped ghe business from 12 restaurants
multi-concept company with 347 restaurants durirgtbnure. Since Mr. Hislop’arrival in 2007, we have accelerated our growém @nc
opened 42 new restaurants, as of February 28, 2&id entered 13 new states.

Our Business Strategies

Pursue New Restaurant Developm. We plan to open new restaurants in both our &skeal markets and adjacent to our established et
across the United States where we believe we dair\ahigh unit volumes and attractive unit leveslirns. We believe the broad appeal o
Chuy’s concept, historical unit economics and flexilgal restate strategy enhance the portability ofconcept and provide us opportunity
continued expansion. Our new restaurant developmiintonsist primarily of conversions of existirsgructures, with ground up construct
of our prototype in select locations.

We have built a scalable infrastructure and hawevgrour restaurant base through a challenging en@nenvironment. In 2011, we opel
eight new restaurants, including our first restatgan Indiana and Georgia. In 2012 we opened emgiaurants, including our first restaur:
in Oklahoma and Florida. We opened nine restauiar2913 in eight new markets located in six nemteX. Our restaurants opened since
that have been in operations for more than twosybawve generated average casteash returns of greater than 40.0% in the secoad ¢
operations. During 2014, we have opened two restasiras of February 28, 2014 , and plan to op@tahdf ten to elevenestaurants for tl
year.Over the next five years, we expect to grow outasint base by approximately 20%, annually.

Deliver Consistent Comparable Restaurant Sales ddimaProviding Higl-Quality Food and ServiceWe believe we will be able to genel
comparable restaurant sales growth by consistpntlyiding an attractive price/value proposition fur customers with excellent service ir
upbeat atmosphere. We remain focused on delivdraghly prepared, authentic, higjuality Mexican and Tex Mex inspired cuisine
considerable value to our customers. Though the ownu will remain unchanged, we will continue xplere potential additions as well
limited time food and drink offerings. Additionajlye will continue to promote our brand and drikedftc through local marketing efforts a
charity events such as the Chuy’s Hot to Trot 5K #re Chuy’s Children Giving to Children Paradewadl as our line of eclectic t-shirts.

We prioritize customer service in our restauraatg] will continue to invest significantly in onggirtraining of our employees. In additior
our new manager training program and at least gugrtCulture Clubs,”20 to 24 of our trainers are dispatched to open restaurants al
ensure a solid foundation of customer service, foeparation and our cultured environment. We belithese initiatives will help enhar
customer satisfaction, minimize wait times and hefp serve our customers more efficiently duringkppariods, which we believe
particularly important at our restaurants that apeat or near capacity.

Leverage Our Infrastructur. In preparation for our new restaurant developnpéent, we have made investments in our infrastrectwer th
past several years. We believe we now have theocatgand restauratdvel supervisory personnel in place to supportgromwth plan for th
foreseeable future without significant additionavéstments in infrastructure. Therefore, we belithet as the restaurant base grows,
general and administrative costs will increase slbwer growth rate than our revenue. Additionalyg foresee relatively minimal increase
marketing spend as we enter new markets, as theritgagf our marketing is done through ntmaditional channels such as community ew
charity sponsorships, social media and word-of-tmdtgm our devoted followers, as well as partngrshiith local public relations firms.

Real Estate

As of February 28, 2014 , we leased 61 locatiohgyloch 51 are free-standing restaurants and 1@adecap or irine restaurants in Class
locations. Of these locations, 9 are scheduleptmdy the end of 2014. Erap restaurants are highly visible locations at @née ends of
retail development whereas line restaurants are locations that are betweetipteutetail locations within a development. Cléstocation:
are upscale properties with easily identifiablealiins and convenient access that are surroundedhiey upscale properties. Including p
space, our restaurants range in size from apprdglyna,300 to 12,50@quare feet, averaging approximately 8,700 squeet \fith seatin
capacity for approximately 225 to 400 customerac&ithe beginning of 2008 through February 28, 204é have opened 4w restaurani
Since our inception in 1982, we have moved twotiooa and closed three locations and we have neenhor closed a location since 2C
All of our leases provide for base (fixed) rentusplthe majority provide for additional rent based gross sales (as defined in each |
agreement) in excess of a stipulated amount, ntiellifpy a stated percentage. A significant peraggiaf our leases also provide for peric
escalation of minimum annual rent either based uporeases in the Consumer Price Index or adetermined schedule. Typically, the ini
lease terms of our leases are 10 or 15 years gthemith 2 to 4, Syear extension options. The initial terms of owaskes currently expi
between 2016 and 2034. We are also generally dbtigep pay certain real estate taxes, insuran@gsmon area maintenance charges
various other expenses related to the propertias.cOrporate headquarters is also leased and aseld@t 1623 Toomey Road, Austin, Te
78704.
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Site Selection Process

We have developed a targeted site acquisition amdifigation process incorporating managemergxperience as well as extensive

collection, analysis and interpretation. We arévatt developing restaurants in both new and existnarkets, and we will continue to exp
in selected regions throughout the U.S. We havagaeement with a master broker, Foremark, whichtifles and works with a local broker
conduct preliminary research regarding a locati®he preliminary research includes an analysis affitr patterns, parking, acce
demographic characteristics, population densityell®f affluence, consumer attitudes or prefererened current or expected cetail ant
restaurant tenants. Foremark then presents pdtsitéia to our Vice President of Real Estate andel@ment. If our financial criteria for t
site are satisfied, our Vice Presidents of Openatiand Chief Executive Officer visit the site asdbject to board approval, our managetr
negotiates the lease. The key criteria we hava fite is that the population within a three méldius of the restaurant has a high concentr
of our target demographic, which is persons age® 24 and persons with income ranges between 86@&0Ad $85,00per year that dine ¢
frequently. We also prefer locations with high likty, especially in a new market, and ample pagkspaces.

We seek to identify sites that contribute to ourydu’ve seen one Chuy’s, you've seen one Chuyisfon, meaning no two restaurants
alike. As we do not have standardized restauraytimements with respect to size, location or layad are able to be flexible in our real es<
selection process. In line with this strategy, wefer to identify a combination of conversion sigéeswell as ground-up prototypes.

Design

After identifying a lease site, we commence outa@snt buildout. We strive to create a unique mnorable customer experience at ea
our locations. While the layout in each of our agsants varies, we maintain certain distinguish@denents across virtually all locations
hand-carved, hand-painted wooden fish imported friglexico, a variety of vibrant Mexican folk art, aNacho Car”that provide
complimentary chips, salsa and chile con queshértrunk of a classic car, vintage hubcaps hanfyorg the ceiling, colorful handaade floo
and wall tile and festive metal palm trees. Neatlyof our restaurants feature outdoor patios. Addally, our flexible seating arrangeme
allow us to cater to families and parties of aflesi including larger groups, which we believe iseeg differentiator from other casual din
operators.

Our new restaurants are either ground-up prototgpesnversions. We estimate that each gragméuildout restaurant will require a total c
investment of $1.7 million to $2.5 million (net ektimated tenant incentives of between zero an@ #illion ). We estimate that ea
conversion will require a total cash investmen$af0 million to $2.2 million The flexibility of our concepts has enabled uspen restaurar
in a wide variety of locations, including high-dépsesidential areas and near shopping mallsstjle centers and other higiaffic locations
On average, it takes us approximately 12 to 18 hwmfriom identification of the specific site to opmm the doors for business. In orde
maintain consistency of food and customer servicevell as the unique atmosphere at our restauramt$iave set processes and timelin
follow for all restaurant openings.

The development and construction of our new siahe responsibility of our Vice President of REatate and Development. Several prc
managers are responsible for building the restasiramd several staff members manage purchasimgebing, scheduling and other rele
administrative functions.

New Restaurant Development

We have opened 42 new locations since the begirofi208 through February 28, 2014 and our managebadieves we are weflositiones
to continue this growth through our new restauppéline, which includes locations currently underelopment and with respect to which
are actively negotiating letters of intent. We ntaim a commitment to capitalizing on opportunitaasd realizing efficiencies in our exist
markets while also pursuing attractive locationséaw markets. We seek to identify new markets iictvive believe there is capacity for u
open multiple restaurants. Over the next five yeaesexpect to grow our restaurant base by apprabeiy 20%, annually.

Restaurant Operations

We currently have ten supervisors that report tliyeo one of our three Vice Presidents of Operatjonvho in turn each report to our Cl
Executive Officer. Each supervisor oversees anameepf five to six restaurants. The staffing at mstaurants typically consists of a ger
manager, a kitchen manager and four to six assistemagers. In addition, each of our restaurantpl@ya approximately 120 hou
employees.

Sourcing and Supply

Our procurement team consists of our Vice PresidéReal Estate and Development and our Directd®wthasing and his team, which h
been sourcing and purchasing our food and othgrlgygroducts for over 25 years. We rely on two oegil distributors, Labatt Foodservice
Texas and Oklahoma and Performance Food Group (“PiRGhe Southeastern United States, and variouslisuppo provide our beef, chee
beans, soybean oil, beverages and our groceriedi€§itibutors deliver supplies to each restautantto three times each week. Our distrib
relationships with Labatt Foodservice and PFG Hmeen in place for approximately eleven years amdaqimately one year, respectively,
the distributors cover 27 and 21 locations, respelgt,
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as of February 28, 2014For our chicken products, we rely on three s@pplfor our Southeast locations and Martin PrefeFeods, as o
sole supplier in Texas, Oklahoma, Arkansas and ddiss For our green chiles, we contract to buy tigto our supplier Bueno Foods
Albuquergque, New Mexico. Each restaurant, througtgeneral manager and kitchen manager, purchsspsoduce locally. Changes in

price or availability of certain food products cdwffect the profitability of certain food itemsyrability to maintain existing prices and

ability to purchase sufficient amounts of items#&isfy our customers’ demands.

We are currently under contract with our principah-alcoholic beverage provider through 2018. Our gbith arrange national distribution
alcoholic beverages is restricted by state law;éw@s, where possible, we negotiate directly withitspompanies and/or regional distribut
We also contract with two third-party providersstmurce our cooking oil.

Food Safety

Providing a safe and clean dining experience forcoistomers is essential to our mission statenvgathave taken steps to control food qu.
and safety risks, including designing and implerment training program for our kitchen staff, emyes and managers focusing on 1
safety and quality assurance. In addition, to minénthe risk of foodsorne illness, we have implemented a Hazard Aralgsid Critice
Control Points (“HACCP”)system for managing food safety and quality. Culyera few of the jurisdictions in which we operdtave
implemented these new guidelines and we expectatiditional jurisdictions will implement these gelithes in the near future. We a
consider food safety and quality assurance whescted) our distributors and suppliers. Our suppligre inspected by federal, state and
regulators or other reputable, qualified inspectmnvices, which helps ensure their compliance \aithfederal food safety and qua
guidelines.

Building Our Brand

We believe our restaurants appeal to a broad speotf customers due to our freshdyepared food offering, attentive service and e
dining experience. Our target demographic is persmes 21 to 44 and persons within the income rahé0,000 to $85,000er year the
dine out frequently. We aim to build our brand irmagnd awareness while retaining local neighborhadationships by increasing 1
frequency of visits by our current customers aricheting new customers. We primarily foster relasibips with local schools, chamber:
commerce, businesses and sports teams throughmdhdasting events and partnering in and sponsddogl charity events. Our market
strategy also focuses on generating significarmdeavareness at new restaurant openings.

Local Brand Building

A key aspect of our local restaurant marketing/tnag strategy is developing community relationshigith residents, local schools, hotels
chambers of commerce. Our restaurant managersl@selycinvolved in developing and implementing thejority of our local restaure
marketing/branding programs.

Since our founding in 1982, Chwgysuccess has stemmed from close personal relaifienwith our customers, employees and vendors
believe the Chuy culture, which emphasizes fun and authenticitilerostering social responsibility and involvemémiocal communities,
one of our most valuable assets, and we are coathiittpreserving and continually investing in it.

We regularly hold a variety of community eventsclapring, we host the Chuy’s Annual Hot to Trot 8Kd Kid's K at our Arbor Trail
location in Texas, which benefits the Special Olicapof Texas. During the winter holidays, we spond® Chuys Children Giving t
Children Parade, which collects toys for the Blunt& program in Austin, Texas. The Blue Santa proggives gifts and holiday meals
needy families in Central Texas. With respect tolooations outside of Texas, we participate in apdnsor several community events ac
all of our locations, specifically focusing on hielg childrens charities. For example, we participated in thigg@6tone Golf Benefit in Co
Springs, Tennessee, the Magic City Mile in Birmiagh Alabama and the Camp Sunshine Fall Festivatlanta, Georgia. To celebrate one
our signature ingredients, the Hatch green chile,held an annual Green Chile Festival in all of oestaurants during the August .
September harvest, with special menu items feaiatch chiles and promotional give-aways.

New Restaurant Opening

We have developed a marketing/branding strategywbause in connection with new restaurant openiag®lp build local brand recogniti
and create a “buzzWe start off by establishing a visual presenceughosuch means as installing one of our emblematidish on the top
our new location and staging Elvis sightings in&nea surrounding our new location. During thaetinve also try to become active in the |
community by, for example, joining the chamber ofrenerce and meeting local community leaders. In maskets, we generally host a pre
opening party called a “Redfish Rallgfter our emblematic red fish for our social mefdias and local Texas Exes (University of Texe
Austin alumni group), a group that is generally il&anwith and displays an affinity for our concepturing our “Redfish Rallies'we serve ot
food and margaritas and give away free Chuy’s nerdlse.

We use the prepening period for our new restaurants as an oppitytto reach out to various media outlets as wslthe local communit
We retain local, niche marketing groups to assswith addressing the local market, establishitatimships with
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local charities and gaining brand recognition. Torpote new openings, we employ a variety of manietechniques in addition to issu
press releases, launching direct mail campaignd,eamarketing, such as hosting concierge parties, itrgitunches and dinners and f
tastings with local residents, media, communityléga and businesses.

E-Marketing & Social Media

We have increased our use of@fketing tools, which enables us to reach a saarif number of people in a timely and targetedhitas at :
fraction of the cost of traditional media. We beéeour customers are generally frequent Internetsuand will use social media to share di
experiences. We have set up four Facebook pagesding our corporate page and three local markefep, that we use to engage
customers. We also have a mailing list that allog$o send customers updates about events atdbairChuy’s.

Training and Employee Programs

We devote significant resources to identifying,eséhg and training restaurant-level employeeshwih approximately 2@eek training
program for all of our restaurant managers thaluges an average of 11 weeks of restaurant traiaimd) eight to nine weeks of “cultural”
training, in which managers observe our establistesturantsoperations and customer interactions. We condugctpcehensive trainir
programs for our management, hourly employees angocate personnel. Our training program coverddeship, team building, food saf
certification, alcohol safety programs, customevise philosophy training, sexual harassment tragrand other topics. In conjunction with
training activities, we hold “Culture Clubs” fouimtes or more per year, as a means to fully impaet €huys story through persor
appearances by our Founders.

Our training process in connection with opening nestaurants has been refined over the course robxperience. Trainers oversee
conduct both service and kitchen training and areite through the first two weeks of opening aachain on site for two to three additio
weeks as needed and depending on unit volumesgdtiéninitial weeks. We have one front- and onekhafethe-house training coordinati
and these training coordinators remainsite-to manage the opening for approximately timeesperiod as our other trainers. The lead and
trainers assist in opening new locations and lemgart and introduce our standards and culturegéamew team. We believe that hiring the
available team members and committing to theiningj helps keep retention high during the restauspening process.

Management Information Systems

At all of our restaurants, we use Hospitality Siolus International for our point-cfale system, which manages our credit card trainsa:
This software communicates directly with our cogierheadquarters and provides headquarters withreeaime information about restaur:
level performance and sales. We implemented a megergise back office software program, Restaukdagic, in all of our locations. TF
program compiles our accounts payable, payrollemery and purchasing information and communic#tasinformation to our headquart
to provide visibility on restaurant level operaon

Government Regulation

We are subject to numerous federal, state and laeal affecting our business. Each of our restaaransubject to licensing and regulation |
number of government authorities, which may inclualeoholic beverage control, nutritional informatialisclosure, health, sanitati
environmental, zoning and public safety agencidglénstate or municipality in which the restaurianbcated.

For the twelve months ended December 29, 2013 6%48f our total restaurant sales were attributablaltmholic beverages. Alcoha
beverage control regulations require each of ogtargants to apply to a state authority and, inagerocations, county and munici
authorities, for licenses and permits to sell atdichbeverages on the premises. Typically, licensest be renewed annually and may
subject to penalties, temporary suspension or ggi@t for cause at any time. Alcoholic beveragetimmegulations impact many aspect:
the daily operations of our restaurants, includihg minimum ages of patrons and staff members eoimguor serving these beverag
respectively; staff member alcoholic beverage ingirand certification requirements; hours of opergtadvertising; wholesale purchasing
inventory control of these beverages; the seatiginors and the servicing of food within our baeas; special menus and events, su
happy hours; and the storage and dispensing ohalicobeverages. State and local authorities in ymjamisdictions routinely monit
compliance with alcoholic beverage laws. We argemitio “dram shop’statutes in most of the states in which we operakéch generall
provide a person injured by an intoxicated perdenright to recover damages from an establishnineitvirongfully served alcoholic bevera
to the intoxicated person.

Various federal and state labor laws govern ouratmms and our relationships with our staff memsbéarcluding such matters as minim
wages, breaks, overtime, fringe benefits, safetyrkimg conditions and citizenship or work authotiaa requirements. We are also subjes
the regulations of the U.S. Citizenship and ImntigraServices and U.S. Customs and Immigration Eefment. In addition, some state
which we operate have adopted immigration employnt@ns which impose additional conditions on empigy Even if we operate ¢
restaurants in strict compliance with the lawsesuhnd regulations of these federal and state agersome of our staff members may not 1
federal citizenship or residency requirements @k lappropriate work authorizations, which coulddiga a disruption in our work forc
Significant government-imposed increases
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in minimum wages, paid or unpaid leaves of absenitk, leave, and mandated health benefits, or asa@ tax reporting, assessmer
payment requirements related to our staff membés neceive gratuities, could be detrimental toghaitability of our restaurants operatio
Further, we are continuing to assess the impactagntlyadopted federal health care legislation on ourtheare benefit costs. The imposil
of any requirement that we provide health insuraoeeefits to staff members that are more extentsiga the health insurance benefits
currently provide, or the imposition of additioreahployer paid employment taxes on income earneoubymployees, could have an adv
effect on our results of operations and financiasdifion. Our distributors and suppliers also mayaffected by higher minimum wage ¢
benefit standards, which could result in highert€dsr goods and services supplied to us. In aufditivhile we carry employment practi
insurance covering a variety of labmlated liability claims, a settlement or judgmeaghinst us that is uninsured or in excess of oueram:
limitations could have a material adverse effecoanresults of operations, liquidity, financialgiton or business.

The recent Patient Protection and Affordability A£2010 (the “PPACA”federal legislation enacted in March 2010 requitesin restauran
with 20 or more locations in the United Statesdmply with federal nutritional disclosure requiremtee Although the FDA published propo
regulations to implement the menu labeling provisi@f the PPACA in April 2011, the agency has dethyhe release of final regulatic
implementing these requirements. A number of staiesnties and cities have also enacted menu tap&ivs requiring multisnit restaurar
operators to disclose certain nutritional inforroatiavailable to customers, or have enacted lemislaestricting the use of certain type:
ingredients in restaurants. Although the federgilation is intended to preempt conflicting statdocal laws on nutrition labeling, until we .
required to comply with the federal law we will babject to a patchwork of state and local laws r@ggilations regarding nutritional cont
disclosure requirements. Many of these requiremargsnconsistent or are interpreted differentyndrone jurisdiction to another. While
believe our ability to adapt to consumer prefersrisa strength of our concept, the effect of dablkling requirements on consumer choice
any, is unclear at this time.

There is also a potential for increased regulatibfood in the United States, such as the receangés inthe HACCP system requiremel
HACCP refers to a management system in which fadely is addressed through the analysis and coottqobtential hazards from producti
procurement and handling, to manufacturing, digtidn and consumption of the finished product. Matgtes have adopted legislatiot
implemented regulations which require restauramtdeivelop and implement HACCP Systems. Similahg, Wnited States Congress and
FDA continue to expand the sectors of the food stiguthat must adopt and implement HACCP prografus. example, the Food Saf
Modernization Act (the “FSMA”) was signed into law January 2011 and significantly expanded F®Authority over food safety. Ama
other requirements, the FSMA granted the FDA wihvrauthority to proactively ensure the safety @f éimtire food system, including throt
new and additional hazard analysis, food safetgrpiay, increased inspections, and permitting mamgidbod recalls. Although restaurants
specifically exempted from some of the new requéets outlined in the FSMA and not directly impliesatby other requirements, we anticij
that some of the FSMA provisions and FBAMmplementation of the new requirements may impactindustry. We cannot assure you tha
will not have to expend additional time and researto comply with new food safety requirementsegittequired by the FSMA or futt
federal food safety regulation or legislation. Atdzhally, our suppliers may initiate or otherwise $ubject to food recalls that may impact
availability of certain products, result in advepalicity or require us to take actions that cooédcostly for us or otherwise harm our busin

We are subject to a variety of federal and statéremmental regulations concerning the handlingrasje and disposal of hazardous mate
such as cleaning solvents, and the operation tduemts in environmentally sensitive locations rimagact aspects of our operations. Du
fiscal 2013, there were no material capital expeemes for environmental control facilities, andswuch expenditures are anticipated.

Our facilities must comply with the applicable ra@g@ments of the Americans with Disabilities Act 1890 (“ADA”") and related federal a
state statutes. The ADA prohibits discriminationtba basis of disability with respect to public @eenodations and employment. Under
ADA and related federal and state laws, we mustaradcess to our new or significantly remodeledaresints readily accessible to disal
persons. We must also make reasonable accommosi&tiothe employment of disabled persons.

We have a significant number of hourly restauraaff anembers who receive income from gratuities. ¥y on our staff members
accurately disclose the full amount of their tigame and we base our FICA tax reporting on thelaisices provided to us by such tip
employees.

Intellectual Property

We believe that having distinctive marks that aegistered and readily identifiable is an importéaxttor in identifying our brand a
differentiating our brand from our competitors. \dl@rently own registrations from the United Sta@edent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”
for the following trademarks: Chuy’s; Chuy’s Mil $&ados Bar (stylized lettering); ChayGreen Chile Festival; Fish with sunglasses
emblematic fish design); and ChayChildren Giving to Children Parade, which we hake right to use under our Parade Sponsa
agreement. We have also registered our chuys.conaidoname. However, as a result of our settlemgrgesment with an unaffiliated enti
Baja Chuy’s, we may not use “Chuy’s” in Nevada,ifoahia or Arizona. An
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important part of our intellectual property stratég the monitoring and enforcement of our rightsriarkets in which our restaurants curre
exist or markets which we intend to enter in thieefe. We also monitor trademark registers to oppghseapplications to register confusin
similar trademarks or to limit the expansion of #wpe of goods and services covered by existimgasi trademarks. We enforce our ric
through a number of methods, including the issuafioease-and-desist letters or making infringenctaiins in federal court.

Restaurant Industry Overview

According to the National Restaurant Associatidre (fNRA”), U.S. restaurant industry sales in 2012 were $6B8li6bn and grew 3.2% 1
$659.3 billion in 2013, versus U.S. gross domgstaduct growth of 1.9% in 2013. The $659.3 billionsales in 2013 is composed of 91
commercial restaurant services and 8.3% noncomaieestaurant services, which include food serfizehospitals, transportation servic
schools and other noncommercial outlets. These saikegenerated by approximately 13.5 million xgstat industry employees. According
the NRA, restaurant industry sales in the stateshith we operate were approximately $193.2 billior2013 with average sales growtt
approximately 3.4%.

We believe we are well positioned to benefit froeweral fundamental trends in the restaurant ingusid U.S. population. The NRA estime
that 47% of total U.S. food expenditures were speméstaurants. Analysts believe that purchasé&®oél away from homeare attributable
demographic, economic and lifestyle trends, ineigdihe rise in the number of women in the workplae increase in average house
income, an aging U.S. population and an increasédiothgness by consumers to pay for the conveniesfceneals prepared outside of tt
homes. Real disposable personal income, a keyrdoiveestaurant industry sales, increased 0.8%0i32 following an increase of 2.0%
2012. We cannot provide assurance that we will fitefnem the aforementioned demographic trends.

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the Hispawoioufation is projected to be the fastest growinghdgraphic in the U.S., more tr
doubling in size from 53.3 million people in 2012 128.8 million people by 2060. During this timbetHispanic populatior’ share of tt
nation’s total population is projected to nearly doublenf approximately 17% to 33%. We believe the prai@¢ogrowth in the Hispar
population will result in an increase in demand Ngexican/Hispanic foods. We cannot provide asswrahat we will benefit from these long-
term demographic trends, although we believe thep#tiic influence on dining trends will continuegimw in tandem with the populati
growth.

The restaurant industry is divided into two primaggments including limited-service and fsdlrvice restaurants and is generally categc
by price, quality of food, service and location.u@ts competes in the fulervice restaurant segment, which according to fi@dic, Inc., .
national consulting and market research firm, hgpteximately $211.8 billion of sales in 2012, asdekpected to grow 3.1% in 2013 to s
of $218.4 billion. The Mexican food component o tlll-service restaurant segment is a highly fragmeraetbs with the top five restaura
based on sales, representing approximately 8%eotdtegory in 2012. According to Technomic, fulivise Mexican restaurants posted a <
increase of 4.1% in 2012, on a 2.0% increase itsuni

Competition

The restaurant business is intensely competitiva veispect to food quality, price/value relatiopshiambience, service and location, ar
affected by many factors, including changes in oomer tastes and discretionary spending patternsfa@eonomic conditions, demogray.
trends, weather conditions, the cost and avaitstli raw materials, labor and energy and goverrtmegulations. Our main competitors
full service concepts in the multeation, casual dining segment in which we compatest directly for real estate locations and cusis
including Texas Roadhouse, Cheddar’s Casual CafdBdis Restaurants. We also compete with other providiefex Mex and Mexican fa
and adjacent segments, including casual and fasiatasegments. We believe we compete favorablycémsumers on our food qual
price/value and unique ambience and experiencerofestaurants.

Seasonality

Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuatiorth véstaurant sales typically higher during theimgprand summer months as well a
December. Adverse weather conditions during ourtrfaxrable months or periods may affect customafit. In addition, at all but one
our restaurants we have outdoor seating, and feetefof adverse weather may impact the use otthesas and may negatively impact
revenues.

Employees

As of December 29, 201,3ve had approximately 5,712 employees, includibg@rporate management and staff personnel, 3Tdurest leve
managers and 5,290 hourly employees. None of opitagmes are unionized or covered by a collectivgdiaing agreement. We believe 1
we have good relations with our employees.

Company Information

Our principal executive office is located at 1628oey Road, Austin, Texas 78704 and our telephameber is 1-888-HEYGHUY. Oul
website address is www.chuys.com. The informatiomar website is not incorporated by reference thi® report.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In evaluating our Company, you should consider fadlyethe following risk factors and the other imfoation in this report, including o
consolidated financial statements and related nimtebose statements. If any of the following rigictually occur, our business, finan
condition and operating results could be adveraffcted.

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry
Our financial results depend significantly upon theuccess of our existing and new restaurants.

Future growth in our revenues and profits will degp@n our ability to develop profitable new restais, maintain or grow sales and efficie
manage costs in our existing and new restaurargsofAFebruary 28, 2014 , we operatedrB8taurants, of which 15 restaurants are
considered comparable. The results achieved bye thestaurants may not be indicative of longem performance or the potential ma
acceptance of restaurants in other locations.

The success of our restaurants revolves principatiynd customer traffic and average check peomet and customer experience. Signifi
factors that might adversely affect the averagéorner traffic and average check include, withownitation:

» declining economic conditions, including housingrked downturns, rising unemployment rates, lowespdsable income, cre
conditions, fuel prices and consumer confidenceahdr events or factors that adversely affect gomes spending in the markets
serve;

* increased competition in the restaurant indugtayticularly in the Mexican cuisine and casual &asteasual dining segmen
e changes in consumer preferen

e customersbudgeting constraini

» customersfailure to accept menu price increases that we malye to offset increases in key operating ¢

* our reputation and consumer perception of oncepts’offerings in terms of quality, price, value, amlgarand service; a

» customer experiences from dining in our restaut

Our restaurants are also susceptible to increase®riain key operating expenses that are eithallylor partially beyond our contr
including, without limitation:

» food and other raw materials costs, many of whiehde not or cannot effectively hed

» labor costs, including wage, workecmpensation, health care and other benefits erp

* rent expenses and construction, remodeling, maan@nand other costs under leases for our newxasithg restaurant
» compliance costs as a result of changes in regylatdandustry standarc

e energy, water and other utility co:

e costs for insurance (including health, liabiltyd workerscompensation

« information technology and other logistical costis¢

e expenses due to litigation againsl

Certain of our restaurants operate at or near @gpas a result, we may be unable to grow or neimsame store sales at those restau
particularly if additional restaurants are openedrrthe existing location. The failure of our exigtor new restaurants to perform as expe
could have a significant negative impact on ouaficial condition and results of operations.

Our long-term success is highly dependent on our abilitysteccessfully identify appropriate sites and devetoml expand our operations
existing and new markets.

We intend to develop new restaurants in our exgstirarkets, and selectively enter into new mark&itsce the start of 2008, we have expai
from 8 restaurants to 50 restaurants as of Feb2&r2014. We opened nine restaurants in 2013. During 2@&4have opened two restaur:
as of February 28, 2014 and plan to open a tott#rofo elevemestaurants for the year. There can be no assuthatany new restaurant t
we open will have similar operating results to #ho$ existing restaurants. We may not be able enaur planned new restaurants on a til
basis, if at all, and, if opened, these restaurarétg not be operated profitably. The number andnginof new restaurants opened during
given period, and their associated contributiorop@rating growth, may be negatively impacted byumlmer of factors including, withc
limitation:
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» identification and availability of appropriate |dizans that will drive high levels of customer tiafind sales per ur
» inability to generate sufficient funds from opeoat or to obtain acceptable financing to supportdewelopmen

e recruitment and training of qualified operatinggmnel in the local mark:

» availability of acceptable lease arrangementsudhioly sufficient levels of tenant allowanc

» the financial viability of our landlords, includinte availability of financing for our landlords gaour landlords ability to pay ten:
incentives on a timely basis;

» construction and development cost managetr
» timely delivery of the leased premises to us framlandlords and punctual commencement of our butidonstruction activitie
» delays due to the customized nature of our uestd concepts and decor, construction andpexing processes for each new loca

» obtaining all necessary governmental licenses amahips, including our liquor licenses, on a timéhsis to construct or remodel
operate our restaurants;

* inability to comply with certain covenants undem egavolving credit facility (the "Revolving Crediacility”) that could limit ou
ability to open new restaurants;

e consumer tastes in new geographic regions and &ewapof our restaurant conct

e competition in new markets, including competition festaurant site

» unforeseen engineering or environmental problentis thie leased premis:

» adverse weather during the construction pe

e anticipated commercial, residential and infrastizetdevelopment near our new restaurants
» other unanticipated increases in costs, any oflwbdauld give rise to delays or cost overr

We have experienced, and expect to continue torexqee, delays in restaurant openings from timegnme. Such actions may limit our grov
opportunities. We cannot assure you that we willab&e to successfully expand or acquire criticafkef presence for our brand in r
geographical markets, as we may encounter eslblished competitors with substantially greéiteancial resources. We may be unabl
find attractive locations, build nhame recognitisnccessfully market our brand or attract new custsmVe may incur additional costs in 1
markets, particularly for transportation and disition, which may impact the profitability of thosestaurants. Competitive circumstances
consumer characteristics and preferences in newanhaegments and new geographical markets mayr ditfestantially from those in t
market segments and geographical markets in whechave substantial experience. If we are unabéxpand in existing markets or penet
new markets, our ability to increase our revenunespofitability may be harmed.

Changes in economic conditions, including continugneffects from the recent recession, could matdyiaaffect our business, financi
condition and results of operations.

The restaurant industry depends on consumer discegy spending. The recent recession, coupled high unemployment rates, redu
home values, increases in home foreclosures, imesgt losses, personal bankruptcies, rising fuedegriand reduced access to credit
reduced consumer confidence, has impacted consuat®lisy and willingness to spend discretionary dadl Economic conditions may rem
volatile and may continue to repress consumer denfie and discretionary spending for the near tHrourrent volatile economic conditio
continue for a prolonged period of time or worsenisstomer traffic could be adversely impacted if oustomers choose to dine out
frequently or reduce the amount they spend on mvelaile dining out. We believe that if the curremtiatile economic conditions persist fc
long period of time or become more pervasive, coress might make longgsting changes to their discretionary spendingabieh, including
dining out less frequently on a permanent basisesfaurant sales decrease, our profitability calddine as we spread fixed costs acrc
lower level of sales. Reductions in staff levekset impairment charges and potential restaurasticés could result from prolonged nege
restaurant sales. There can be no assurance ¢hatabroeconomic environment or the regional ecoestim which we operate will impro
significantly or that government stimulus effortdlwmprove consumer confidence, liquidity, creditarkets, home values or unemploym
among other things.

Damage to our reputation or lack of acceptance afrdorand in existing or new markets could negatiyeimpact our business, financi
condition and results of operations.

We believe we have built our reputation on the fighlity of our food, service and staff, as wellosour unique culture and the ambienc
our restaurants, and we must protect and growahe\of our brand to continue to be successfuténftiture.
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Any incident that erodes consumer affinity for dmand could significantly reduce its value and dgenaur business. For example, our b
value could suffer and our business could be adlyeedfected if customers perceive a reductiorhquality of our food, service or staff, oi
adverse change in our culture or ambience, or wikerbelieve we have failed to deliver a consisygmbsitive experience.

In addition, our ability to successfully developaneestaurants in new markets may be adverselytafiduy a lack of awareness or accept
of our brand in these new markets. To the exteat e are unable to foster name recognition andigfffor our brand in new markets, «
new restaurants may not perform as expected angrowth may be significantly delayed or impaired.

We may be adversely affected by news reports agratlegative publicity regardless of their accuraegarding food quality issues, pul
health concerns, illness, safety, injury or govesntor industry findings concerning our restaurardgstaurants operated by other foodse
providers, or others across the food industry supphin. The risks associated with such negatid®@igity cannot be completely eliminated
mitigated and may materially harm our results ofragions and result in damage to our brand.

Also, there has been a marked increase in the Lisecial media platforms and similar devices, idahg weblogs (blogs), social me
websites and other forms of Interretsed communications which allow individuals access broad audience of consumers and
interested persons. Consumers value readily availaformation concerning goods and services they have or plan to purchase, and ma
on such information without further investigation authentication. The availability of informatiom csocial media platforms is virtua
immediate as is its impact. Many social media platfs immediately publish the content their subsgsband participants can post, o
without filters or checks on accuracy of the cohfgwsted. The opportunity for dissemination of infiation, including inaccurate informatis
is seemingly limitless and readily available. Imf@tion concerning our company may be posted on platforms at any time. Informati
posted may be adverse to our interests or maydeeimate, each of which may harm our performanaespects or business. The harm ma
immediate without affording us an opportunity fedress or correction. Such platforms also couldider for dissemination of trade se
information, compromising valuable company assktssum, the dissemination of information online ldobharm our business, prospe
financial condition and results of operations, reggss of the information’s accuracy.

Our brand could also be confused with brands tlaaetsimilar names, including Baja Chuy’s Mesquitilgr, Inc. (“Baja Chuy’s”),ar
unaffiliated restaurant chain with whom we haveeesd into a settlement agreement regarding useeo€huys name. As a result, our br¢
value may be adversely affected by any negativéigibrelated to Baja Chug or any other restaurant that may use brand nanadgmark
or trade dress that are similar to ours.

We are susceptible to economic and other trends deglelopments, including adverse weather conditioinsthe local or regional areas i
which our restaurants are located.

Our financial performance is highly dependent astaerants located in Texas and the SoutheasterMaivdestern United States. As a res
adverse economic conditions in any of these areakldave a material adverse effect on our oveeslllts of operations. In recent ye
certain of these states have been more negativglgdgted by the housing decline, high unemploymatesrand the overall economic crisis 1
other geographic areas. In addition, given our ggagc concentrations, particularly in Texas, negajpublicity regarding any of o
restaurants in these areas could have a materiatsaleffect on our business and operations, dd otluer regional occurrences such as |
strikes, terrorist attacks, increases in energgegti adverse weather conditions, hurricanes, disughother natural or mamade disastel
Adverse weather conditions may also impact custanadfic at our restaurants, cause the temporaderutilization of outdoor patio seatil
and, in more severe cases, cause temporary restalmaures, sometimes for prolonged periods.

Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuatiorithy mestaurant sales typically higher during theirgp and summer months as well a
December. Adverse weather conditions during ourtifaa®rable months or periods may exacerbate tleetedf adverse weather on custo
traffic and may cause fluctuations in our operatiegults from quarter-tquarter within a fiscal year. In addition, outdqmtio seating
available at all but one of our restaurants and m@yimpacted by a number of weathelated factors. Our inability to fully utilize c
restaurants’ seating capacity as planned may nefjatmpact our revenues and results of operations.

The impact of negative economic factors, includiige availability of credit, on our landlords and swounding tenants could negative
affect our financial results.

Negative effects on our existing and potential lards due to the inaccessibility of credit and othefavorable economic factors may, in ti
adversely affect our business and results of opasat!f our landlords are unable to obtain finagcor remain in good standing under t
existing financing arrangements, they may be untbf@ovide construction contributions or satisfher lease covenants to us. In additio
our landlords are unable to obtain sufficient drédicontinue to properly manage their retail sitge may experience a drop in the leve
quality of such retail centers. Our developmentnefv restaurants may also be adversely affectechéynegative financial situations
developers and potential landlords. Landlords mayat delay or cancel recent development projeassiell as renovations of existing proje
due to the instability in the credit markets and
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recent declines in consumer spending, which coediice the number of appropriate locations availéide we would consider for our n
restaurants. Furthermore, the failure of landldadsbtain licenses or permits for development mtsj®n a timely basis, which is beyond
control, may negatively impact our ability to implent our development plan.

Changes in food availability and costs could adwagsaffect our operating results.

Our profitability and operating margins are deperida part on our ability to anticipate and reaztchanges in food costs. We rely on
regional distributors, Labatt Foodservice in Teaasl Oklahoma and PFG in the Southeastern UnitedsStand various suppliers to pros
our beef, cheese, beans, soybean oil, beveragesuamgoceries. For our chicken products, we relywo suppliers for our Southeast locati
and a sole supplier in Texas and Oklahoma. Foigoeen chiles, we contract to buy, through our sSeppBueno Foods of Albuquerque, N
Mexico, chiles from a group of farmers in New Mexieach year, which we have the right to select uadeagreement. If and to the extent
farmers are unable or do not supply a sufficienbam of green chiles or if we need chiles out @fses, we purchase the excess amount
the general supply of Bueno Foods. Each restauthrtugh its general manager and kitchen managechpses its produce locally. A
increase in distribution prices, increase in thegx charged by suppliers or failure to perforntiimse thirdearties could cause our food ct
to increase or us to experience stiertn unavailability of certain products. Failureidentify an alternate source of supply for thésens ma
result in significant cost increases and an ingbiid provide certain of the items on our menuthése events occur, it may reduce
profitability of certain of our offerings and maguse us to increase our prices. In addition, angmah interruptions in our supply chain, s
as a material interruption of ingredient supply doi¢he failures of thirgsarty distributors or suppliers, or interruptionssiervice by commc
carriers that ship goods within our distributioranhels, may result in significant cost increases rauuce sales. Changes in the price,
result of inflation or otherwise, or availability certain food products could affect the profitéipibf certain food items, our ability to maint.
existing prices and our ability to purchase suéfitiamounts of items to satisfy our customeiemands, which could materially adversely a
our profitability and reputation.

The type, variety, quality, availability and prioeproduce, beef, chicken and cheese are moreitediaan other types of food and are subje
factors beyond our control, including weather, gawgental regulation, availability and seasonaktgch of which may affect our food cost:
cause a disruption in our supply. Our food distidosl and suppliers also may be affected by highstscto produce and transport commocd
used in our restaurants, higher minimum wage anéfiiecosts and other expenses that they passghrimutheir customers, which could re
in higher costs for goods and services suppliedstoAlthough we are able to contract for the mgjooif the food commodities used in
restaurants for periods of up to one year, thangiand availability of some of the commodities dise our operations, such as our prod
cannot be locked in for periods of longer than eeek or at all. We do not use financial instrumeatiedge our risk to market fluctuation:
the price of our ingredients and other commoditiethis time. We may not be able to anticipate @@ttt to changing food costs through
purchasing practices and menu price adjustmenthdnfuture, and failure to do so could negativetypact our revenues and result:
operations.

Increases in our labor costs, including as a resaftchanges in government regulation, could slowrayrowth or harm our business

We are subject to a wide range of labor costs. Bseaur labor costs are, as a percentage of resehigher than other industries, we ma
significantly harmed by labor cost increases. Uafable fluctuations in market conditions, availapibf such insurance or changes in ¢
and/or federal regulations could significantly e&se our insurance premiums. In addition, we abgesuto the risk of employmemélatec
litigation at both the state and federal levelgluding claims styled as class action lawsuits Whace more costly to defend. Also, sc
employment related claims in the area of wage anuol Hisputes are not insurable risks.

Significant increases in health care costs mayiwoatto occur, and we can provide no assurancewbavill be able to contain those co
Further, we are continuing to assess the impaatagntlyadopted federal health care legislation on ourthezlre benefit costs, and signific
increases in such costs could adversely impacbparating results. There is no assurance that Webgviable to contain our costs relate:
such legislation in a manner that will not adverseipact our operating results.

In addition, many of our restaurant personnel arerly workers subject to various minimum wage reguients or changes to tip crec
Mandated increases in minimum wage levels and awang the tip credit, which are the amounts an eygplis permitted to assume
employee receives in tips when calculating the eyg#s hourly wage for minimum wage compliance purpo$esie recently been a
continue to be proposed and implemented at bottr&@nd state government levels. For example,eintikcky our wait staff is not permiti
to pool tips in order to share those tips with &adiers and bussing staff. As a result, we mustquaybartenders and bussing staff in
Kentucky locations additional amounts to ensurg tleeeive minimum wage. Continued minimum wageéases or changes to allowable
credits may further increase our labor costs @atiffe tax rate.

Various states in which we operate are considesinjave already adopted new immigration laws, dedU.S. Congress and Departmer
Homeland Security from time to time consider or iempent changes to Federal immigration laws, reguiator enforcement programs as v
Some of these changes may increase our obligadtiorm®mpliance and oversight, which could
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subject us to additional costs and make our hipragess more cumbersome, or reduce the availabiligotential employees. Although
require all workers to provide us with governmepécified documentation evidencing their employmaigibility, some of our employe
may, without our knowledge, be unauthorized workErsauthorized workers are subject to deportatimhraay subject us to fines or penal
and if any of our workers are found to be unauttestiwe could experience adverse publicity that tiegg impacts our brand and may mak
more difficult to hire and keep qualified employed®rmination of a significant number of employaést unbeknownst to us wi
unauthorized employees may disrupt our operatioagse temporary increases in our labor costs ataire new employees and resul
additional adverse publicity. Our financial perf@mnce could be materially harmed as a result ofdditlyese factors.

Labor shortages could increase our labor costs sigantly or restrict our growth plans

Our restaurants are highly dependent on qualifiethagement and operating personnel. Qualified iddads have historically been in st
supply and an inability to attract and retain thexould limit the success of our existing restauraadswell as our development of r
restaurants. We place a heavy emphasis on thefigatdin and training of our personnel and sperghificantly more on training o
employees than our competitors. We can make noasses that we will be able to attract and retaialified individuals in the future whi
may have a more significant effect on our operatitan those of our competitors. Additionally, thesicof attracting and retaining qualif
individuals may be higher than we anticipate, asd aesult, our profitability could decline.

Customer traffic at our restaurants could be sigiwéntly affected by competition in the restauramdustry in general and, in particula
within the dining segments of the restaurant indegtin which we compete.

The restaurant industry is highly competitive wispect to food quality, ambience, service, pricd @alue and location, and a substa
number of restaurant operations compete with usdstomer traffic. The main competitors for ourriatare other operators of mpdiced, ful
service concepts in the mulGeation casual dining and Tex Mex/Mexican foodmegts in which we compete most directly for redhte
locations and customers. Some of our competitove kagnificantly greater financial, marketing, pereel and other resources than we do
many of our competitors are well established inketw in which we have existing restaurants or idtenlocate new restaurants. Any inab
to successfully compete with the other restauriantair markets will place downward pressure oneustomer traffic and may prevent us fi
increasing or sustaining our revenues and profitpbiVe may also need to evolve our concept ireottd compete with popular new restau
formats or concepts that develop from time to tiraed we cannot offer any assurance that we willsbecessful in doing so or tl
modifications to our concept will not reduce ouofgability. In addition, with improving product tdrings at fast casual restaurants, quicl
service restaurants and grocery stores and theeimfe of negative economic conditions and othéofacconsumers may choose less expe
alternatives, which could also negatively affecdtomer traffic at our restaurants.

Legislation and regulations requiring the displaynd provision of nutritional information for our mem offerings, and new information ¢
attitudes regarding diet and health or adverse opims about the health effects of consuming our menofferings, could affect consum:
preferences and negatively impact our results oeogttions.

Government regulation and consumer eating habifsimpact our business as a result of changesitndgs regarding diet and health or 1
information regarding the health effects of conswgndbur menu offerings. These changes have resuifeahd may continue to result in,
enactment of laws and regulations that impactnigeeidients and nutritional content of our menuraffgs, or laws and regulations requiring
to disclose the nutritional content of our foodeoniiigs. For example, a number of states, countidsciies have enacted menu labeling |
requiring multiunit restaurant operators to disclose certain thor@l information available to customers, or hawacted legislation restricti
the use of certain types of ingredients in restatstaFurthermore, the Patient Protection and Atibied Care Act of 2010 (the “PPACA”
establishes a uniform, federal requirement foradertestaurants to post nutritional information thieir menus. Specifically, the PPAI
amended the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Atdoire chain restaurants with 20 or more locatiopsrating under the same name
offering substantially the same menus to publighttial number of calories of standard menu itemsnenus and menu boards, along w
statement that puts this calorie information in¢batext of a total daily calorie intake. The PPA@I&o requires covered restaurants to pr¢
to consumers, upon request, a written summary t@fildd nutritional information for each standardrmeétem, and to provide a statemen
menus and menu boards about the availability sfitiformation.

The PPACA further permits the United States Food Brug Administration (the “FDA"Xo require covered restaurants to make addit
nutrient disclosures, such as disclosure of tramscdéntent. An unfavorable report on, or reactiondur menu ingredients, the size of
portions or the nutritional content of our menumtecould negatively influence the demand for oferaigs.

Compliance with current and future laws and regoet regarding the ingredients and nutritional eahbf our menu items may be costly
time-consuming. Additionally, if consumer health regidas or consumer eating habits change significamtey may be required to modify
discontinue certain menu items, and we may expegidngher costs associated with the implementaifahose changes. Although the F
published proposed regulations to implement theuriabeling provisions of the PPACA in April 201hetagency has delayed the relea:
final regulations implementing these requiremeatiditionally, some government authorities are iasiag regulations regarding trafads an
sodium, which may require us to limit or eliminate
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transfats and sodium from our menu offerings, switchhigher cost ingredients or may hinder our abilayoperate in certain markets. If
fail to comply with these laws or regulations, duisiness could experience a material adverse effect

We cannot make any assurances regarding our abilityffectively respond to changes in consumertheaérceptions or our ability
successfully implement the nutrient content diaslesequirements and to adapt our menu offeringsetwls in eating habits. The impositiol
menu-labeling laws could have an adverse effectuwsnesults of operations and financial positiwell as the restaurant industry in general

Multiple jurisdictions in which we operate have eatly enacted new requirements that require usitptaand implement a Hazard Anal
and Critical Control Points (“HACCP pystem for managing food safety and quality. HAQ€fers to a management system in which
safety is addressed through the analysis and doofrpotential hazards from production, procuremant handling, to manufacturil
distribution and consumption of the finished pradWe expect to incur certain costs to comply withse regulations and these costs mz
more than we anticipate. If we fail to comply witiese laws or regulations, our business could é&xpeg a material adverse effect.

Federal, state and local beer, liqguor and food siee/regulations may have a significant adverse inspan our operations.

We are required to operate in compliance with fad&ws and regulations relating to alcoholic begeis administered by the Bureat
Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives of th&.LDepartment of Justice, as well as the laws amhsing requirements for alcohc
beverages of states and municipalities where ataueants are or will be located. In addition, eastaurant must obtain a food service lic
from local authorities. Failure to comply with fedk state or local regulations could cause ownlges to be revoked and force us to ceas
sale of alcoholic beverages at our certain locatidmy difficulties, delays or failures in obtaigirsuch licenses, permits or approvals ¢
delay or prevent the opening of a restaurant iarliqular area or increase the costs associateehtith. In addition, in certain states, includ
states where we have existing restaurants or vwerglan to open a restaurant, the number of lidjgenses available is limited, and licer
are traded on the open market. Liquor, beer ane wales comprise a significant portion of our rexn If we are unable to maintain
existing licenses, our customer patronage, reveanesesults of operations could be adversely &te©r, if we choose to open a restaura
those states where the number of licenses avaigbhaited, the cost of a new license could bensigant.

We apply for our liquor licenses with the adviceooftside legal and licensing consultants. Becafistkeomany and various state and fec
licensing and permitting requirements, there igyaiicant risk that one or more regulatory agesaieuld determine that we have not comg
with applicable licensing or permitting regulations have not maintained the approvals necessaryugoto conduct business within
jurisdiction. Any changes in the application oreimgretation of existing laws may adversely impaat @staurants in that state, and could
cause us to lose, either temporarily or permangttily licenses, permits and regulations necessacpiduct our restaurant operations,
subject us to fines and penalties.

Restaurant companies have been the target of -actions and other litigation alleging, among othé#hings, violations of federal and ste
law.

We are subject to a variety of lawsuits, admintsteaproceedings and claims that arise in the @mgirtourse of our business. In recent yee
number of restaurant companies have been subjetaitos by customers, employees and others regaisiiues such as food safety, pers
injury and premises liability, employmerdgfated claims, harassment, discrimination, diggbdnd other operational issues common tc
foodservice industry. A number of these lawsuitgehgesulted in the payment of substantial damagabé defendants. An adverse judgn
or settlement that is not insured or is in excelssurance coverage could have an adverse impaaiuo profitability and could cau
variability in our results compared to expectationge carry insurance policies for a significanttfr of our risks and associated liabili
with respect to workers’ compensation, generalilligh employer’s liability, health benefits and other insurableks. Regardless of whetl
any claims that may be brought against us are walidhether we are ultimately determined to beléiatve could also be adversely affecte:
negative publicity, litigation costs resulting fraire defense of these claims and the diversiomma &nd resources from our operations.

We are subject to state “dram shdgivs and regulations, which generally provide thaterson injured by an intoxicated person may $e
recover damages from an establishment that wrolgggetved alcoholic beverages to the intoxicated@e Recent litigation against restau
chains has resulted in significant judgments, iditlg punitive damages, under such “dram shsfaitutes. While we carry liquor liabil
coverage as part of our existing comprehensive rgétiability insurance, we may still be subjectdagudgment in excess of our insura
coverage, and we may not be able to obtain or moatio maintain such insurance coverage at reakooasts, if at all. Regardless of whe
any claims against us are valid or whether weiabdd, we may be adversely affected by publicisuténg from such laws.

Our marketing programs may not be successful.

We expend resources in our marketing efforts usingariety of media, including social media. We estp® continue to conduct bra
awareness programs and customer initiatives tacatand retain customers. These initiatives mayhbeosuccessful, resulting in exper
incurred without the benefit of higher revenuesditidnally, some of our competitors have greataaficial resources, which enable thei
spend significantly more on marketing and advengighan we are able to. Should our competitorseizae
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spending on marketing and advertising or our margefunds decrease for any reason, or should ouertiging and promotions be I
effective than our competitors, there could be tenl adverse effect on our results of operatamd financial condition.

The impact of new restaurant openings could resmltfluctuations in our financial performance.

Quarterly results have been, and in the future ceenfinue to be, significantly impacted by the tigniof new restaurant openings (often dict
by factors outside of our control), including adated restaurant prepening costs and operating inefficiencies, as aslichanges in ¢
geographic concentration due to the opening of nestaurants. We typically incur the most significaortion of restaurant prepening
expenses associated with a given restaurant willeifive months immediately preceding and the maifitthe opening of the restaurant. As
regional and national economies in which we opérafgove, we may encounter more competition in iolirtg lease sites and, as a result,
be unable to negotiate similar levels of tenanéimives under our new leases. If we are unabldétaim similar levels of tenant incentives fc
particular unit, we would expect to incur increasagital expenditures in advance of opening andigagr rent with respect to the restaur
Our experience has been that labor and operatisig essociated with a newly opened restaurantofitst several months of operation
materially greater than what can be expected #fr time, both in aggregate dollars and as a ptage of revenues. Our new restaut
commonly take nine months to one year to reachngldnoperating levels due to inefficiencies typicaksociated with new restaura
including the training of new personnel, lack ofrke awareness, inability to hire sufficient quialif staff and other factors. Accordingly,
volume and timing of new restaurant openings hals &ad may continue to have, a meaningful impaawarprofitability. Due to the foregoil
factors, results for any one quarter are not necibgéndicative of results to be expected for anlyer quarter or for a full fiscal year, and tf
fluctuations may cause our operating results tbedew expectations of public market analysts anesiors.

Opening new restaurants in existing markets may a#gely affect sales at our existing restaurants.

The consumer target area of our restaurants vhyidecation, depending on a number of factors saglpopulation density, local retail
business attractions, area demographics and gdograp a result, the opening of a new restauraot inear markets in which we already
existing restaurants could adversely impact thessaf new or existing restaurants. Our core busiséstegy does not entail opening
restaurants that materially impact sales at owstieng restaurants but we may selectively open restaurants in and around areas of exi
restaurants that are operating at or near capddigre can be no assurance that sales cannibafiZagitween our restaurants will not occt
become more significant in the future as we comtittuexpand our operations.

Our business operations and future development ebbé significantly disrupted if we lose key membefour management team.

The success of our business continues to deperad dignificant degree upon the continued contrimgtiof our senior officers and k
employees, both individually and as a group. Oturii performance will be substantially dependenparticular on our ability to retain a
motivate Steve Hislop, our Chief Executive Officand our other senior officers. We currently haugpyment agreements in place v
Messrs. Hislop, Howie, Biller and Hatcher and MRsissell. The loss of the services of our CEO, oslemior officers or other key employ
could have a material adverse effect on our busimaesl plans for future development. We have noore&s believe that we will lose t
services of any of these individuals in the foresde future; however, we currently have no effextigplacement for any of these individi
due to their experience, reputation in the induatrgt special role in our operations. We also donmminitain any key man life insurance poli
for any of our employees.

Our growth may strain our infrastructure and resouaes, which could slow our development of new restenis and adversely affect o
ability to manage our existing restaurants.

We opened eight restaurants in both 2011 and 2E20opened nineestaurants in 2013. During 2014, we have openedréstaurants as
February 28, 2014 and plan to open a total of terlévenrestaurants for the year. Our future growth magistour administrative sta
management systems and resources, financial cergnal information systems. Those demands on orasiméicture and resources may
adversely affect our ability to manage our existingtaurants. If we fail to continue to improve @ufrastructure or to manage other fac
necessary for us to meet our expansion objectiugspperating results could be materially and askigraffected. Likewise, if sales decline,
may be unable to reduce our infrastructure quiekigugh to prevent sales deleveraging, which wodlesely affect our profitability.
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Our insurance policies may not provide adequatedksvof coverage against all claims, and fluctuatingsurance requirements and co:
could negatively impact our profitability.

We believe our insurance coverage is customarpudeinesses of our size and type. However, thergypes of losses we may incur that cal
be insured against or that we believe are not cawiaily reasonable to insure. These losses, if hagur, could have a material and adv
effect on our business and results of operatiomsaddition, the cost of worker€ompensation insurance, general liability insuraane
directors’ and officersliability insurance fluctuates based on our higt@@ritrends, market conditions and availability. Aidhally, healtt
insurance costs in general have risen significaowlgr the past few years and are expected to aentim increase. These increases, as w
recentlyenacted federal legislation requiring employerprmvide specified levels of health insurance toeafiployees, could have a nega
impact on our profitability, and there can be nsuaance that we will be able to successfully oftbet effect of such increases with
modifications and cost control measures, additiopairating efficiencies or the pass-through of sacheased costs to our customers.

Our indebtedness may limit our ability to invest the ongoing needs of our business and if we areable to comply with our financit
covenants, our liquidity and results of operationsuld be adversely affected.

At December 29, 2013 we had $6.0 million of outdtag indebtedness under our Revolving Credit Racili
Our Revolving Credit Facility places certain coratis on us, including that it:
* increases our vulnerability to adverse general @con or industry condition
« limits our flexibility in planning for, or reactintp, changes in our business or the industrieshiclwwe operat
* makes us more vulnerable to increases in inteagss ras borrowings under our Revolving CreditlFEg@re at variable rate
« limits our ability to obtain additional financing the future for working capital or other purposas
e could place us at a competitive disadvantage cosalpar our competitors that have less indebted

Our Revolving Credit Facility places certain lintitlas on our ability to incur additional indebtedaeHowever, subject to the qualificati
and exceptions in our Revolving Credit Facility, may incur substantial additional indebtedness uttta facility and may incur obligatio
that do not constitute indebtedness under thalitiacthe Revolving Credit Facility also places t#n limitations on, among other things,
ability to enter into certain types of transactidiisancing arrangements and investments, to makaia changes to our capital structure at
guarantee certain indebtedness. The Revolving CFeiility also places certain restrictions on gayment of dividends and distributio
These restrictions limit or prohibit, among oth@ngs, our ability to:

e pay dividends on, redeem or repurchase our stoakae other distributior

e incur or guarantee additional indebtedn

» sell stock in our subsidiari¢

e create or incur lien

* make acquisitions or investmet

» transfer or sell certain assets or merge or cattas@iwith or into other companies;
» enter into certain transactions with our affilia

Failure to comply with certain covenants or theuwoence of a change of control under our RevolM@rgdit Facility could result in ti
acceleration of our obligations under the Revol@rgdit Facility, which would have an adverse dffeic our liquidity, capital resources ¢
results of operations.

Our Revolving Credit Facility also requires us tply with certain financial covenants includingnanimum fixed charge coverage ratio ar
maximum total lease adjusted leverage ratio. Changth respect to these financial covenants mayeage our interest rate and failur
comply with these covenants could result in a defaud an acceleration of our obligations underRexolving Credit Facility, which wou
have an adverse effect on our liquidity, capitabrgces and results of operations.

We may be unable to obtain debt or other financiog favorable terms or at all.

There are inherent risks in our ability to borra®ur lenders may have suffered losses related tol#reling and other financial relationshi
especially because of the general weakening ohdienal economy, increased financial instabilityrany borrowers and the declining ve
of their assets. As a result, lenders may becoswhiant or tighten their lending standards, whiochld make it more difficult for us to incre:
the available commitment under our Revolving Créditility, refinance our existing indebtedness mobtain other financing on favora
terms or at all. Our financial condition and resuf operations
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would be adversely affected if we were unable @adfunds under our Revolving Credit Facility be@o$ a lender default or to obtain ot
cost-effective financing.

Longer term disruptions in the capital and creditrkets as a result of uncertainty, changing oreiased regulation, reduced alternative
failures of significant financial institutions cabadversely affect our access to liquidity neededfir business. Any disruption could requir
to take measures to conserve cash until the maskaidlize or until alternative credit arrangemenitsother funding for our business car
arranged. Such measures could include deferringatagxpenditures (including the opening of newtagsants) and reducing or eliminat
other discretionary uses of cash.

We may be required to record asset impairment clesrn the future.

In accordance with accounting guidance as it reladethe impairment of long-lived assets, we reviemgdived assets, such as property
equipment and intangibles subject to amortizatfonjmpairment when events or circumstances indi¢he carrying value of the assets

not be recoverable. In determining the recovenrghif the asset value, an analysis is performeti@individual restaurant level and prima
includes an assessment of historical cash flowsadher relevant factors and circumstances. Nega#staurantevel cash flow (defined

restaurant net income plus depreciation, gain arldés on assets and pre-opening expense) ovgréwéous 12month period in a stabiliz:
location is considered a potential impairment iatlic. In such situations, the Company evaluatagdutash flow projections in conjunct
with qualitative factors and future operating plaRgcoverability of assets to be held and usedeasured by a comparison of the carr
amount of the restaurant to the estimated undideduiuture cash flow expected to be generated dydbtaurant. If the carrying amount of
restaurant exceeds estimated future cash flomngairment charge is recognized for the amount bighwvthe asse$ carrying amount excee
its fair value.

Continued economic weakness within our respectiaekats may adversely impact consumer discretiospending and may result in lov
restaurant sales. Unfavorable fluctuations in emmmodity costs, supply costs and labor rates, whiely or may not be within our contt
may also impact our operating margins. Any of thias¢ors could as a result affect the estimated us®ur impairment analysis and req;
additional impairment tests and charges to earniMgs continue to assess the performance of ouauestts and monitor the need for fu
impairment. There can be no assurance that futopairment tests will not result in additional chesdo earnings.

Security breaches of confidential customer inforniat in connection with our electronic processing afedit and debit card transactio
may adversely affect our business.

The majority of our restaurant sales are by creditiebit cards. Other restaurants and retailere fexyperienced security breaches in w
credit and debit card information of their custombas been stolen. We may in the future becomesiutyj lawsuits or other proceedings
purportedly fraudulent transactions arising outhaf actual or alleged theft of our customergdit or debit card information. In addition,
states have enacted legislation requiring notificatof security breaches involving personal infotima including credit and debit ce
information. Any such claim, proceeding, or mandgatwotification could cause us to incur significamplanned expenses, which could hav
adverse impact on our financial condition and rssaof operations. Further, adverse publicity reésglfrom these allegations may hav
material adverse effect on us and our restaurants.

We may not be able to adequately protect our itetlial property, which, in turn, could harm the va¢ of our brand and adversely affe
our business.

Our ability to implement our business plan sucadisfiepends in part on our ability to build braretognition in the areas surrounding
locations using our trademarks and other propseitatellectual property, including our brand namkegjos and the unique ambience of
restaurants. We have registered or applied toteggisnumber of our trademarks. We cannot assurghat our trademark applications will
approved. Also, as a result of the settlement ageeé¢ with an unaffiliated entity, Baja Chuy’s, waymot use “Chuy’sin Nevada, Californi
or Arizona, which may have an adverse effect ongrawth plans in these states. Additionally, ouartat value may be diluted as a resu
their use of “Chuy’s’in these states. Third parties may also oppos¢rademark applications, or otherwise challengeusar of the trademarl
In the event that our trademarks are successfhiylenged, we could be forced to rebrand our gaodksservices, which could result in los
brand recognition, and could require us to deveseurces to advertising and marketing new brands.

We enforce our rights through a number of methodduding the issuance of cease-atebist letters or making infringement claims inefiex
court. If our efforts to register, maintain and tect our trademarks or other intellectual propeatg inadequate, or if any third pe
misappropriates, dilutes or infringes on our iretilial property, the value of our brand may be learmvhich could have a material adw
effect on our business and might prevent our bfesmd achieving or maintaining market acceptance. &y also face the risk of claims t
we have infringed third partiegtellectual property rights. A successful claiminfringement against us could result in our beieguired ti
pay significant damages or enter into costly lideg®r royalty agreements in order to obtain tightito use a third party’intellectual propert
any of which could have a negative impact on osgulte of operations and harm our future prospdfcssich royalty or licensing agreements
not available to us on acceptable terms or atadlmay be forced to stop the sale of certain prsdac services. Any claims of intellect
property infringement,
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even those without merit, could be expensive antktconsuming to defend, require us to rebrand ewices, if feasible, and diw
management’s attention.

We also rely on trade secrets and proprietary khow-to protect our brand. Our methods of safeguagrdhis information may not

adequate. Moreover, we may face claims of misaptgn or infringement of third partiesights that could interfere with our use of -
information. Defending these claims may be costigl, af unsuccessful, may prevent us from continumgise this proprietary information
the future and may result in a judgment or monetipnages. We do not maintain confidentiality agresisiwith all of our team members
suppliers. Even with respect to the confidentiadigreements we have, we cannot assure you tha #gyeements will not be breached,
they will provide meaningful protection, or thategplate remedies will be available in the eventroipauthorized use or disclosure of
proprietary information. If competitors independgrdevelop or otherwise obtain access to our treelerets or proprietary knotoew, the
appeal of our restaurants could be reduced andwginess could be harmed. In addition, if we défanter our lease agreements with
landlord, Young/Zapp GP, LLC (“Young/Zappénd its subsidiaries, at certain of our locatians,landlord may have the right to operate a
Mex or Mexican food restaurant at that locatiomgsour recipes and our trade dress. If such defaeite to occur, the brand value of
recipes and our trade dress might suffer.

Information technology system failures or breacheSour network security could interrupt our operaths and adversely affect our busine

We rely on our computer systems and network infuasiire across our operations, including poinsale processing at our restaurants.
operations depend upon our ability to protect oomputer equipment and systems against damage ftosigal theft, fire, power los
telecommunications failure or other catastrophierds, as well as from internal and external secuneaches, viruses, worms and o
disruptive problems. Any damage or failure of computer systems or network infrastructure that esas interruption in our operations cc
have a material adverse effect on our businessalpjgct us to litigation or actions by regulatoutterities. Although we employ both inter
resources and external consultants to audit ouesyss and test them for vulnerability, have implated firewalls, data encryption and ol
security controls and intend to maintain and upgradr security technology and operational procesltweprevent such damage, breacht
other disruptive problems, these security measuasnot eliminate all risks.

A major natural or mar-made disaster could have a material adverse eftecbur business.

Most of our corporate systems, processes and ageupport for our restaurant operations are akred at our headquarters in Austin, Te
with certain systems and processes being conciyretored at an offsite storage facility in accorda with our disaster recovery plan. As
of our new disaster recovery plan, we are currefitiglizing the backup processes for our core sgstat our cdecation facility. If we ar
unable to fully implement this new disaster recgvplan, we may experience failures or delays irovecy of data, delayed reporting i
compliance, inability to perform necessary corpaifanctions and other breakdowns in normal opeggtimcedures that could have a mat
adverse effect on our business and create exptisatministrative and other legal claims against us

We incur increased costs and obligations as a résdilbeing a public company.

Prior to our initial public offering (“IPO”)in July 2012, we were a privately held company amde not required to comply with cert
corporate governance and financial reporting pcastiand policies required of a publicly traded canyp As a publicly traded company,
incur and expect to continue to incur significamgal, accounting and other expenses that we wdreeqaired to incur in the recent pi
particularly after we are no longer an “emergingvgth company”as defined under the Jumpstart Our Business Sgargp of 2012 (th
“JOBS Act”). In addition, new and changing laws, regulations stathdards relating to corporate governance anticpdisclosure, includin
the DoddFrank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protectiohaid the rules and regulations promulgated armktpromulgated thereund
as well as under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 nasnded (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Acthe JOBS Act, and the rules and regulations c
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SE@Y)the Nasdaqg Global Select Market, have createertainty for public companies ¢
increased our costs and time that our board otttire and management must devote to complying thigke rules and regulations. We ex
these rules and regulations to increase our leghffiaancial compliance costs and lead to a diversif management time and attention f
revenue generating activities.

Furthermore, the need to establish the corpordtasimucture demanded of a public company may tlivesinagemens’ attention fror
implementing our growth strategy, which could preves from improving our business, results of oflens and financial condition. We he
made, and will continue to make, changes to owrmatl controls and procedures for financial repgrtand accounting systems to meet
reporting obligations as a publicly traded compatgwever, the measures we take may not be suffitiesatisfy our obligations as a publi
traded company.

For as long as we remain an “emerging growth cowyipais defined in the JOBS Act, we may take advantdgmeidain exemptions fro
various reporting requirements that are applicabl®ther public companies that are not “emergingndih companies. These exceptiol
provide for, but are not limited to, relief frometlauditor attestation requirements of Section 4GAeSarbanes-
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Oxley Act, less extensive disclosure obligationgarding executive compensation in our periodic respand proxy statements, exempti
from the requirements to hold a nonbinding adviseoye on executive compensation and stockholdercapp of any golden parachi
payments not previously approved and an extendetition period for complying with new or reviseccaunting standards. We may t
advantage of these reporting exemptions until wee rex longer an “emerging growth company.” We mamai@ an tmerging growt
company”for up to five years. To the extent we use exemmgtioom various reporting requirements under thB®ct, we may be unable
realize our anticipated cost savings from thosengtins.

Pursuant to the recently enacted JOBS Act, our ipéadent registered public accounting firm will ndie required to attest to tl
effectiveness of our internal control over finandieeporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbar@xley Act of 2002 for so long as we i
an “emerging growth company.”

Section 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act requires annual management assessmerttse oéffectiveness of our internal control overafinia
reporting, starting with the second annual reguat tve file with the SEC as a public company, asdegally requires in the same report a re
by our independent registered public accounting fim the effectiveness of our internal control ofieancial reporting. However, under
recently enacted JOBS Act, our independent regidtpublic accounting firm will not be required ttest to the effectiveness of our inte
control over financial reporting pursuant to Seci®4 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act until we are n@é&man “emerging growth companyie
could be an “emerging growth company” for up tcefitears.

Failure of our internal control over financial repating could adversely affect our business and findal results.

Our management is responsible for establishing raathtaining effective internal control over finaalcreporting under Section 404 of
Sarbane®xley Act of 2002. Internal control over financi@porting is a process to provide reasonable assersegarding the reliability
financial reporting for external purposes in acemice with GAAP. Because of its inherent limitatioiméernal control over financial reporti
is not intended to provide absolute assuranceviatould prevent or detect a misstatement of marftial statements or fraud. Any failur
maintain an effective system of internal controko¥inancial reporting could limit our ability teeport our financial results accurately
timely or to detect and prevent fraud. The idecdifion of a material weakness could indicate a ckontrols adequate to generate acc
financial statements that, in turn, could causess lof investor confidence and decline in the ntapkiee of our common stock. We can
assure you that we will be able to timely remedimtg material weaknesses that may be identifiefliture periods or maintain all of t
controls necessary for continued compliance. Likewiwe cannot assure you that we will be able tairresufficient skilled finance ai
accounting personnel, especially in light of ther@ased demand for such personnel among publadgtt companies.

In addition, as an “emerging growth companyé are not required to have and have not had aependent registered public accounting
perform an evaluation of our internal control ofieancial reporting as of the end of our fiscal ygaaccordance with the provisions of
Sarbane$xley Act. Had our independent registered publicoaating firm performed an evaluation of our intrcontrol over financii
reporting in accordance with the provisions of B&rbane®©xley Act, control deficiencies may have been idet by our independe
registered public accounting firm and those cordediciencies could have also represented one oe material weaknesses.

Federal, state and local tax rules may adverselypant our results of operations and financial positi.

We are subject to federal, state and local taxekdanJ.S. If the Internal Revenue Service (“IR8f)other taxing authority disagrees with
positions we have taken on our tax returns, wecctade additional tax liability, including interesbd penalties. If material, payment of <
additional amounts upon final adjudication of amgpdtes could have a material impact on our resiltgperations and financial position.
addition, complying with new tax rules, laws or u&gions could impact our financial condition, andreases to federal or state statutor
rates and other changes in tax laws, rules or atigns may increase our effective tax rate. Anydase in our effective tax rate could ha
material impact on our financial results.

Risks Relating to Ownership of our Common Stock
Our Founders may continue to exert significant infénce over us.

Our Founders serve as chairmen of our board of directors and beneficiallyn approximately 2.6% of our outstanding commimtls As :
result, our Founders may be able to exert signifiaafluence over certain of our decisions.

We are an emerging growth company and we cannotdeetain if the reduced disclosure requirements ajppble to emerging growt
companies will make our common stock less attragtio investors.

We are an emerging growth company, as definedenJ®BS Act, and we may take advantage of certa@mpiions from various reporti
requirements that are applicable to other publimganies that are not emerging growth companiesidina), but not limited to, not bei
required to obtain an assessment of the effectagené our internal controls over financial repagtitom our independent registered pu
accounting firm pursuant to Section 404 of the SadsOxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regardéxgcutive compensation in «
periodic reports and proxy statements, and exempfimm the requirements of holding a nonbindingisaty vote on executive compensa
and stockholder approval of any golden parachuyenpats
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not previously approved. In addition, we may elaxtdelay adoption of new or revised accounting ptortements applicable to pul
companies until such pronouncements are made apf#ito private companies. To the extent we chtms® so, our financial statements r
not be comparable to companies that comply witthsuew or revised accounting standards. We canredigrif investors will find ot
common stock less attractive because we will relyhese exemptions. If some investors find our comstock less attractive as a result, t
may be a less active trading market for our comstonk and our stock price may be more volatile.

The price of our common stock may be volatile araiycould lose all or part of your investment.

Volatility in the market price of our common stoclay prevent you from being able to sell your shatesr above the price you paid for y
shares. The market price of our common stock cthudduate significantly for various reasons, whiohlude:

e our quarterly or annual earnings or those of otloenpanies in our industi

» changes in laws or regulations, or new interpretetior applications of laws and regulations, thatagplicable to our busine
» the publics reaction to our press releases, our other pabhliouncements and our filings with the S

« changes in accounting standards, policies, guidantpretations or principle

e additions or departures of our senior managemeasbpael

» sales of our common stock by our directors and wiex officers

» sales or distributions of our common stock by GoBdgners or its affiliate

* adverse market reaction to any indebtedness weimay or securities we may issue in the fut

» actions by stockholde!

» the level and quality of research analyst covefageur common stock, changes in financial estimateinvestment recommendati
by securities analysts following our business dufa to meet such estimates;

» the financial disclosure we may provide to the pylainy changes in such disclosure or our failareeéet such disclosu

» various market factors or perceived market factoduding rumors, whether or not correct, involyias, our distributors or suppli
or our competitors;

e acquisitions or strategic alliances by us or oumpetitors
» short sales, hedging and other derivative transagtin our common stoc
» the operating and stock price performance of atberpanies that investors may deem comparable &@ng

« other events or factors, including changes in gdneonditions in the United States and global ecuigs or financial marke
(including those resulting from acts of God, wacidents of terrorism or responses to such events).

In addition, in recent years, the stock marketdygmerienced extreme price and volume fluctuatidihgs volatility has had a significant imp
on the market price of securities issued by mamypamies, including companies in our industry. Thegoof our common stock could fluctu
based upon factors that have little or nothingdavith our company, and these fluctuations couldemally reduce our share price.

In the past, following periods of market volatility the price of a company’securities, security holders have often institutlass actic
litigation. If the market value of our common staekperiences adverse fluctuations and we beconudvied in this type of litigation, regardle
of the outcome, we could incur substantial legate@nd our managementattention could be diverted from the operatiorowf busines
causing our business to suffer.

Future sales of our common stock in the public matkcould lower our share price, and the exercisesbéck options and any addition
capital raised by us through the sale of our commstock may dilute your ownership in us.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stotkerpublic market by our existing stockholdersuture registered public offerings, throt
transactions except from registration or upon ther@se of outstanding stock options or stock apstigranted in the future may adversely a
the market price of our common stock. Such saletdcalso create public perception of difficultiesproblems with our business. These ¢
might also make it more difficult for us to selksiities in the future at a time and price thatdeem appropriate.

As of December 29, 2013, we have 1,079,056 shdresmomon stock reserved for issuance under the ZiRibus Equity Incentive Ple
Additionally there were 729,87hares of common stock issuable upon exercisetsfauling options, of which 447,217 of these ofstiomre
fully vested.
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As restrictions on resale expire or as shareseaqsstered, our share price could drop significaiftishe holders of these restricted or ne
registered shares sell them or are perceived byndr&et as intending to sell them. These sales tnailglo make it more difficult for us to <
securities in the future at a time and at a piiet we deem appropriate.

If securities analysts or industry analysts downgie our shares, publish negative research or reppds do not publish reports about o
business, our share price and trading volume codiecline.

The trading market for our common stock is influsthdy the research and reports that industry aurgies analysts publish about us,
business and our industry. If one or more analgdtgrsely change their recommendation regardingsbares or our competitorstock, ou
share price would likely decline. If one or moralysts cease coverage of us or fail to regularlyliphl reports on us, we could lose visibility
the financial markets, which in turn could causeghare price or trading volume to decline.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of us radifficult, limit attempts b'
our stockholders to replace or remove our currenanagement and limit the market price of our commetock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amglaws, as amended and restated, may have the efféelaying or preventing a change
control or changes in our management. Our amendedrestated certificate of incorporation and amdndad restated bylaws inclt
provisions that:

» authorize our board of directors to issue, withfouther action by the stockholders, up to 15,000,8Rares of undesignated prefe
stock;

e require that any action to be taken by our stodién be effected at a duly called annual or speuégting and not by written conse

» specify that special meetings of our stockholdars lse called only by a majority of our board ofedtors, the Chair of our board
directors, or our Chief Executive Officer;

e establish an advance notice procedure for stockhoftoposals to be brought before an annual meetimduding propose
nominations of persons for election to our boardicdctors;

» establish that our board of directors is divid®od three classes, with each class serving theee-staggered tern
« prohibit cumulative voting in the election of ditecs
« provide that our directors may be removed onlycfuse by the holders of a supermajority of ourtantting shares of capital sto

» provide that vacancies on our board of directory b filled only by a majority of directors then aifice, even though less tha
guorum; and

* require the approval of our board of directorsher holders of a supermajority of our outstandingre of capital stock to amend
bylaws and certain provisions of our certificatéraforporation.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any giterby our stockholders to replace or remove oureo management by making it m
difficult for stockholders to replace members of board of directors, which is responsible for a@pfing the members of our managemen
addition, because we are incorporated in Delawaeeare governed by the provisions of Section 20Bi@fDelaware General Corporation L
which generally prohibits a Delaware corporatioanir engaging in any of a broad range of businessbowtions with any “interested”
stockholder (any stockholder with 15% or more of oapital stock) for a period of three years follog/the date on which the stockhol
became an “interested” stockholder.

Since we do not expect to pay any dividends forfilv@seeable future, investors may be forced td 8edir stock in order to realize a retu
on their investment.

Since we do not expect to pay any dividends forftiheseeable future, investors may be forced tiatseir shares in order to realize a retur
their investment. Other than the dividend paid égmreection with entering into our old credit fagili{the "Old Credit Facility") which we
terminated in connection with entering into our Blging Credit Facility in November 2012, we have declared or paid any dividends on
common stock. We do not anticipate that we will pay dividends to holders of our common stock far foreseeable future. Any paymer
cash dividends will be at the discretion of our tdoaf directors and will depend on our financialnddion, capital requirements, le
requirements, earnings and other factors. Ourtalidi pay dividends is restricted by the terms of Revolving Credit Facility and might
restricted by the terms of any indebtedness thainwer in the future. Consequently, you should redy on dividends in order to receiv:
return on your investment. See Item 5. “Market Ragistrants Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters asdds Purchases of Eqt
Securities—Dividend Policy.”

25




Table of Contents

Our reported financial results may be adverselyeadfed by changes in accounting principles applicaibd us.

Our reported financial results may be adverselgc#fd by changes in accounting principles appleablus. Generally accepted accour
principles in the U.S. ("GAAP”) are subject to irteetation by the Financial Accounting StandardaBq“FASB”), the American Institute
Certified Public Accountants, the SEC and varioadibs formed to promulgate and interpret appropréatcounting principles. A change
these principles or interpretations could havegaificant effect on our reported financial resuliad could affect the reporting of transact
completed before the announcement of a changeadditien, the SEC has announced a mydar plan that could ultimately lead to the us
International Financial Reporting Standards by lsSuers in their SEC filings. Any such change ddwve a significant effect on our repo
financial results.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may bénited.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may lmited. Our business and operations may consunmurress faster than we anticipate. In
future, we may need to raise additional funds thtothe issuance of new equity securities, debt@mabination of both. Additional financi
may not be available on favorable terms, or atlaidequate funds are not available on acceptabtes, we may be unable to fund our ca
requirements. If we issue new debt securitiesdetat holders would have rights senior to commonkstolders to make claims on our as
and the terms of any debt could restrict our op@mat including our ability to pay dividends on @mammon stock. If we issue additional eq
securities, existing stockholders will experiendetibn, and the new equity securities could haights senior to those of our common st
Because our decision to issue securities in anyrdudffering will depend on market conditions arlden factors beyond our control, we car
predict or estimate the amount, timing or natur@wf future offerings. Thus, our stockholders bibar risk of our future securities offerin
diluting their interest and reducing the marketemf our common stock.

Conflicts of interest may arise because some of directors are principals of our principal stockhdérs.

Our Founders serve as chairmen on our board of directors. Our Foundetddcmvest in entities that directly or indirectpmpete with u:
As a result of our relationship with our Foundendien conflicts arise between the interests of ocourfders and the interests of
stockholders, these directors may not be disintedes

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of February 28, 2014 , we operated 50 Chuy'stgants located in the following states:

NUMBER OF
LOCATION RESTAURANTS

Alabama
Arkansas
Florida
Georgia
Indiana
Kentucky
Missouri
North Carolina
Ohio
Oklahoma
South Carolina
Tennessee
Texas
Virginia

Total

OR NRPRNREPEMRPRPR®OWNPR

N
= o

a1
o

As of February 28, 2014 we have also signed leasésre in development for Atlditional restaurants in Addison, Texas; San Aitofiexas
Southlake, Texas; Sugar Land, Texas; Fairfax, §fidll, Sterling and Midlothian, Virginia; Jacksale, North Carolina; Kennesaw Geor¢
and Noblesville, Indiana. We lease all of the |gmatking lots and buildings used in our restaucgrrations under various longrm operatin
lease agreements. For additional information raggrdur obligations under our
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leases, see Item 7. “Management’'s Discussion andly8is of Financial Condition and Results of Opers—Commitments ar
Contingencies.”

All of our leases provide for base (fixed) rentusplthe majority provide for additional rent based gross sales (as defined in each |
agreement) in excess of a stipulated amount, ntielifpy a stated percentage. A significant peraggiaf our leases also provide for peric
escalation of minimum annual rent either based uporeases in the Consumer Price Index or adetermined schedule. Typically, the ini
lease term is 10 or 15 years in length with 2 t8ykar extension options. The initial terms of owskes currently expire between 2016
2034. We are also generally obligated to pay aeral estate taxes, insurances, common area mairte charges and various other expe
related to the properties. Our corporate headgsaitealso leased and is located at 1623 Toomeyl Rdastin, Texas 78704. For additio
information about certain facilities, including ccorporate headquarters and six of our restausgatibns, we rent from related parties.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Occasionally we are a party to various legal astiarising in the ordinary course of our businesfuiging claims resulting from “slip and fall”
accidents, employment related claims and claim® ftastomers or employees alleging illness, injurgtber food quality, health or operatio
concerns. None of these types of litigation, mdsivbich are covered by insurance, has had a maeffiect on us, and as dfecember 2!
2013, we are not a party to any material pending Ipgateedings and are not aware of any claims thaitideave a materially adverse eff
on our financial position, results of operationsash flows.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common shares are traded on the Nasdaq GlabettSvarket under the symbol “CHUYSjnce July 24, 2012. The following table
forth, for the periods indicated, the high and kales prices of our common stock, as reported dWdsdaq Global Select Market:

High Low
Fourth Quarter of 2013 (September 30, 2013 — Deeei2®, 2013) $ 40.2¢  $ 31.5¢
Third Quarter of 2013 (July 1, 2013 — September224,3) $ 44.0¢ $ 33.3:
Second Quarter of 2013 (April 1, 2013 — June 30320 $ 40.98 $ 29.2¢
First Quarter of 2013 (December 31, 2012 — March2B13) $ 3347 $ 22.1¢
Fourth Quarter of 2012 (September 24, 2012 — Deee3®, 2012) $ 28.4¢ % 20.4(
Third Quarter of 2012 (July 24, 2012 — Septembe2B32) $ 243C % 14.3¢

On February 28, 2014 , the closing price of our cmm stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market wa8s84 pe r share.
Holders

As of February 28, 2014there were approximately 9 holders of recordwf@ammon stock. The number of holders of recotehised upon ti
actual numbers of holders registered at such dadedaes not include holders of shares in “streetaiaor persons, partnerships, associi
corporations or other entities in security positistings maintained by depositories.

Dividend Policy

During the fiscal years ended December 29, 2813 December 30, 2012 we did not declare or paydangiends on our common stock. '
currently expect to retain all available funds &mre earnings, if any, for use in the operatiad growth of our business and do not antici
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable fuiiny future determination to pay cash dividendd b at the discretion of our board
directors and will depend on our financial conditi@perating results, capital requirements and sihbr factors as our board of direc
deems relevant. In addition, in certain circumsésnoour Revolving Credit Facility restricts our lapito pay dividends. For additior
information, see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion &nalysis of Financial Condition and Results gfe@ations—tiquidity and Capite
Resources.”

28




Table of Contents

Stock Performance Chart

The following graph compares the cumulative totatkholder return on our common stock from July 2312 through December 29, 20tt3
that of the total return of the Nasdaq Composité e S&P 600 Restaurants Index. The comparisomass $100 was invested in Chsly
common stock on July 24, 2012 and in each of thgoiog indices on July 24, 2012 and assumes timeesiment of dividends. This grapl
furnished and not filed with the Securities and liatmge Commission. Notwithstanding anything to thieti@ry set forth in any of our previc
filings made under the Securities Act of 1933 a Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that incorpofatere filings made by us under thi
statutes, the below stock performance graph igmbe incorporated by reference in any prior fiingor shall it be incorporated by refere
into any future filings made by us under thoseusést

Stock Performance Chart

$260

3240

£220

200

EI8D +

Fl60  ~

140

$120 1

£100

£30 T T T T T T T
07/24/12 09/23/12 12/30/12 3/30/13 06/30/13 09/29/13 12/29/13

—@— C(CHUY -l NASDAQ Composite Index

A— S&P 600 Restaurants

29




Table of Contents

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial amémting data for each of the five fiscal yearshie period ended December 29, 2Gi8
derived from our audited consolidated financiatestgents. Not all periods shown below are discussdtlis Annual Report on Form 1K-
This selected consolidated financial and operatilaga should be read in conjunction with the consdd financial statements
accompanying notes, “Management’s Discussion anadlysis of Financial Condition and Results of Opera&” and other financii
information included elsewhere in the Annual Reporf-orm 10-K. Historical results are not nece$sardicative of future performance.

Fiscal Years Ended
December 29, 2013 December 30, 2012 December 25, 2011 December 26, 2010 December 27, 2009

(Amounts are shown in thousands, except per simaoeiats)
Consolidated Statements of Income:

Revenue $ 204,36. $ 172,64 $ 130,58: $ 94,90¢ $ 69,39
Costs and Expenses
Cost of sales 55,89/ 46,47¢ 36,13¢ 25,62¢ 18,19¢
Labor 66,56 55,22 41,54¢ 30,39« 21,18¢
Operating 29,27¢ 24,49¢ 19,297 14,29: 10,48:
Occupancy 12,26: 10,33: 7,622 5,654 4,314
General and administrative 10,01¢ 9,35¢ 7,47¢ 5,29:¢ 4,617
Advisory agreement termination fee — 2,00( — — —
Secondary offering costs 92t 22¢ — — —
Settlement with former director — — 24t — —
Marketing 1,30¢€ 1,31¢ 964 65E 533
Restaurant pre-opening 3,88: 3,38¢ 3,38¢ 1,95¢ 1,67
Depreciation and amortization 8,85¢ 6,52¢ 4,44¢ 2,732 1,54¢
Total cost and expenses 188,98 159,34 121,12: 86,60¢ 62,55(
Income from operations 15,37 13,29¢ 9,46( 8,30: 6,84
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 1,67 78 — —
Interest expense, net 10¢ 3,92 4,28¢ 3,58¢ 3,11¢
Income before income taxes 15,26¢ 7,70C 5,09¢ 4,71¢ 3,73(
Income tax expense 4,19¢ 2,245 1,63¢ 1,42¢ 1,077
Net income 11,06¢ 5,457 3,46¢ 3,291 2,65:
Undistributed earnings allocated to
participating interest — 2,171 3,42 5,617 2,62(
Net income (loss) available to common
stockholders $ 11,06¢ $ 3,28¢ % 41 $ (2,320 $ 33
Per Share Data:
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 0.6¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 021 % 17.1¢ $ 0.2¢
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 0.6e $ 037 $ 0.2 $ a7.1¢) $ 0.2t
Weighted average common stock outstandiny
Basic 16,276,99 6,809,57 191,16t 135,39. 126,21¢
Diluted 16,677,38 12,893,29 10,852,65 135,39: 10,638,51
Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 532: $ 585t $ 2827 $ 333 $ 2,06
Net working capital (deficit) (5,529 (2,680 (4,25¢) 861 (2,817
Total assets 151,16:. 129,72: 105,93t 88,64 70,16¢
Total debt 6,00( 5,00( 55,20( 30,73: 29,91
Common stock subject to put option — — 432 — —
Total stockholders’ equity $ 104,48t $ 87,467 $ 25,627 $ 40,96¢ % 31,92(

(1) We utilize a 52- or 58#ek accounting period which ends on the last Sunfithe calendar year. The fiscal ended Decembgp@1:
was comprised of 53 weeks and the other four figeats were comprised of 52 weeks.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiomctvith Item 6. “Selected Financial Data” and oaonsolidated financial statements and
the related notes to those statements includettim B. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The following discussion contains, in addition fstorical information, forwardooking statements that include risks and uncettaén Ou
actual results may differ materially from thoseieipiated in these forwartboking statements as a result of certain factorsluding those s
forth under the heading Item 1“Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report.

Although we believe that the expectations refleatethe forwarclooking statements are reasonable based on ourecarknowledge of o
business and operations, we cannot guarantee futesalts, levels of activity, performance or ackigents. We assume no obligatio
provide revisions to any forwa-looking statements should circumstances changeptas may be required by law.

The following discussion summarizes the signifidaators affecting the consolidated operating résuiinancial condition, liquidity and ca
flows of our company as of and for the periods @nésd below

Overview

We are a fast-growing, full-service restaurant emmffering a distinct menu of authentic, freshhgpared Mexican and Tex Mex inspi
food. We were founded in Austin, Texas in 1982 bikeMYoung and John Zapp, and as of December 293 204e operated 48 Chuwy’
restaurants across fourteen states.

We are committed to providing value to our custasrérough offering generous portions of made-frigoratch, flavorful Mexican and T
Mex inspired dishes. We also offer a fa#rvice bar in all of our restaurants providing oustomers a wide variety of beverage offerings
believe the Chuy culture is one of our most valuable assets, amén@ committed to preserving and continually itimgsin our culture ar
our customers’ restaurant experience.

Our restaurants have a common décor, but we bediagk location is unique in format, offering an ¢bained”look and feel, as expressed
our motto “If you've seen one Chuy’s, you've seamedChuy’s!” We believe our restaurants have an upbeat, funtigctic, somewhi
irreverent atmosphere while still maintaining a figrfriendly environment.

Our Growth Strategies and Outlook

Our growth is based primarily on the following ségies:
» Pursue new restaurant developm
» Deliver consistent same store sales throughigiray high-quality food and service; a
e Leverage our infrastructu

We opened nine restaurants in fiscal 2013 . D24, we have opened two restaurants as of Feb28a3014, and plan to open a totatef
to eleven restaurants for the year. Over the negtyfears, we expect to grow our restaurant basappyoximately 20%, annuallyWe have a
established presence in Texas, the Southeast ardithwest, with restaurants in multiple large maskie these regions. Our growth plan ¢
the next five years focuses on developing addititotations in our existing core markets, new amerkets and in smaller markets surroun
each of those core markets. For additional disonssi our growth strategies and outlook, see ItefiBlisiness—Our Business Strategies.”

Newly opened restaurants typically experience nbmedficiencies in the form of higher cost of saléabor and direct operating and occup:i
costs for several months after their opening irhlp#rcentage and dollar terms when compared withmmre mature, established restaur:
Accordingly, the number and timing of newly opemedtaurants has had, and is expected to continmav®, an impact on restaurant ope
expenses, cost of sales, labor and occupancy asréhtom expenses. Additionally, initial restaurapenings in new markets may experie
even greater inefficiencies for several monthsdf longer, due to lower initial sales volumes, ethresults from initially low consum
awareness levels, and a lack of operating costdgeeuntil additional restaurants can be opendidese markets and build the overall const
awareness in the market.

Performance Indicators
We use the following performance indicators in eatihg our performance:

* Number of Restaurant Openin. Number of restaurant openings reflects the nurobeestaurants opened during a particular f
period. For restaurant openings we incur @pening costs, which are defined below, before réstaurant opens. Typically n
restaurants open with an initial stag-period of higher than normalized sales volumédsch decrease to a steady level approxim
six to twelve months after opening. However, opegatosts during this initial six to twelve monthrd are also higher than norn
resulting in restaurant operating margins thatgemeerally lower during the staup period of operation and increase to a steadsl
approximately nine to twelve months after opening.
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» Comparable Restaurant Sale§Ve consider a restaurant to be comparable ifittstefull quarter following the eighteenth montff
operations. Changes in comparable restaurant szflest changes in sales for the comparable grdugsiaurants over a specif
period of time. Changes in comparable sales reftbeinges in customer count trends as well as ckaimgaverage check. C
comparable restaurant base consisted of 32 anes2durants at December 29, 2013 and December 38,,26spectively.

» Average Chec. Average check is calculated by dividing revenyedtal entrées sold for a given time period. Ageraheck reflec
menu price influences as well as changes in menu @iir management team uses this indicator to aaeatyends in customeérs
preferences, effectiveness of menu changes anelipdceases and per customer expenditures.

» Average Weekly Custome. Average weekly customers is measured by the nuwibentrées sold per week. Our management
uses this metric to measure changes in custonféctra

« Average Unit Volum. Average unit volume consists of the average safl@sir comparable restaurants over a certain gesfdime
This measure is calculated by dividing total comapéer restaurant sales within a period of time by tittal number of comparal
restaurants within the relevant period. This inticaassists management in measuring changes irmgasttraffic, pricing an
development of our brand.

» Operating Margin. Operating margin represents income from operatama percentage of our revenue. By monitoringcanttolling
our operating margins, we can gauge the overafitphility of our company.

The following table presents operating data forghgods indicated:

Year Ended

December 29, 201 December 30, 201 December 25, 201
Total restaurants (at end of period) 48 39 31
Total comparable restaurants (at end of period) 32 24 18
Average sales per comparable restaurant (in thds$an $ 4,88¢ $ 4,98¢ $ 4,981
Change in comparable restaurant sales 2.3% @ 2.8% @ 3.1%
Average check) $ 13.4¢ $ 13.1¢ $ 12.9¢
@ We consider a restaurant to be comparable in theftill quarter following the eighteenth monthagferations. Change in compare

restaurant sales reflect changes in sales forahmparable group of restaurants over a specifiegef time. Due to the inclusion o
53rd week in fiscal 2012, there is a one-week adeshift in the comparison of fiscal 2013 endeddber 29, 2013to fiscal 201
ended December 30, 2012s a result, our comparable restaurant salesilegion above for 2013 is based on comparing saléise
fiscal year 2013 to sales in the comparable 52-veaddndar period ended December 30, 2012 . Salésdsame 3Pestaurants in tt
comparable restaurant base in the year ended Dece28b2013 increased 2.1% as compared to theeek- period ended Decem
23, 2012.

@ Our change in comparable restaurant sales calonlabove for 2012, is based upon comparable saleshé 52weeks ende
December 23, 2012 as compared to comparable sald#eeffiscal year ended December 25, 2011.

® Average check is calculated by dividing revenuebgnber of entrées sold for a given period of t
Our Fiscal Year

We operate on a 52- or 3ek fiscal year that ends on the last Sunday efttiendar year. Each quarterly period has 13 weskept for
53-week year when the fourth quarter has 14 weeks20L8 and 2011 fiscal years consisted of 52 wersar 2012 fiscal year consistec
53 weeks.

Key Financial Definitions

Revenue. Revenue primarily consists of food and beveraglessand also includes sales of owhirts, sweatshirts and hats. Revent
presented net of discounts, such as managememnapldyee meals, associated with each sale. Reveraugiven period is directly influenc
by the number of operating weeks in such periog nihmber of restaurants we operate and comparedtieurant sales growth.

Cost of Sales Cost of sales consists primarily of food, beveragd merchandise related costs. The componewtsbbf sales are variable
nature, change with sales volume and are subjeatieases or decreases based on fluctuationsrimodity costs.

Labor Costs. Labor costs include restaurant management saldrint- and back-of-house hourly wages and restddevel manager bon
expense, employee benefits and payroll taxes.
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Operating Costs Operating costs consist primarily of restaunatéted operating expenses, such as suppliesiastilrepairs and maintenar
travel cost, insurance, credit card fees, recmititelivery service and security. These costs gdligeincrease with sales volume but r
increase or decrease as a percentage of revenue.

Occupancy CostsOccupancy costs include rent charges, both faretivariable, as well as common area maintenarsts, qmoperty insuran
and taxes, the amortization of tenant allowancestha adjustment to straighihe rent. These costs are generally fixed but giggo may var
with an increase in sales when the lease cont&irceptage rent.

General and Administrative Expensd&Seneral and administrative expenses include esstsciated with corporate and administrative fone
that support our operations, including senior ampesvisory management and staff compensation (imdustockbased compensation) ¢
benefits, travel, financial advisory fees paid too@e Partners LLC prior to termination of the adwsagreement with Goode Partners, |
and professional fees, information systems, cotpasHiice rent and other related corporate costs.

Marketing. Marketing costs include costs associated withrestaurant marketing programs, community servimesponsorship activities, ¢
menus and other promotional activities.

Restaurant Pr-opening Costs Restaurant prepening costs consist of costs incurred before iogea restaurant, including manager sala
relocation costs, supplies, recruiting expensdasiaimew market public relations costs, mpening activities, employee payroll and rel:
training costs for new employees. Restaurantopening costs also include rent recorded duringpthveod between date of possession an
restaurant opening date.

Depreciation and Amortizatiol. Depreciation and amortization principally includepreciation on fixed assets, including equipmemi
leasehold improvements, and amortization of ceitaangible assets for restaurants.

Interest Expens. Interest expense consists primarily of interesbor outstanding indebtedness and the amortizafi@ur debt issuance ca
reduced by capitalized interest.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 29, 2013 Compared to the Yeuatell December 30, 2012

The following table presents, for the periods iadla, the consolidated statement of operatiorh¢usands):

Year Ended
December 29, % of December 30, % of %
2013 Revenue 2012 Revenue Change Change

Revenue $ 204,36: 100.% $ 172,64l 100.% $ 31,72 18.4%
Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 55,89/ 27.4% 46,47" 26.%% 9,41¢ 20.2%

Labor 66,56 32.6% 55,22 32.(% 11,34: 20.5%

Operating 29,27¢ 14.2% 24,49¢ 14.2% 4,781 19.5%

Occupancy 12,26: 6.C% 10,33: 6.C% 1,93( 18.7%

General and administrative 10,01t 4.%% 9,35¢ 5.4% 657 7.C%

Advisory agreement termination fee — —% 2,00( 1.2% (2,000 (100.0%

Secondary offering costs 92t 0.5% 22¢ 0.1% 697 305.7%

Marketing 1,30¢ 0.6% 1,31¢ 0.8% (13 1.0%

Restaurant pre-opening 3,88: 1.2% 3,38:¢ 2.C% 50C 14.€%

Depreciation and amortization 8,85¢ 4.2% 6,52¢ 3. 7% 2,33( 35.7%

Total costs and expenses 188,98’ 92.5% 159,34« 92.2% 29,64: 18.€ %

Income from operations 15,37¢ 7.5% 13,29¢ 7.7% 2,07¢ 15.€%

Loss on extinguishment of debt — —% 1,67 0.% (1,679 (100.0%

Interest expense, net 10¢ 0.1% 3,92 2.3% (3,819 (97.29%

Income before income taxes 15,26¢ 7.4% 7,70(C 4.5% 7,56k 98.2%

Income tax expense 4,19¢ 2.% 2,24: 1.2% 1,95:¢ 87.1%

Net income $ 11,06¢ 54 $ 5,457 32% $ 5,612 102.¢%

RevenueRevenue increased $31.7 million , or 18.4% , tod$2nillion for the year ended December 29, 2048 compared to $172.6 million
for the year ended December 30, 20Revenue for the fiscal year ended December 32 &luded one extra operating week which inch
revenues of $3.3 million. This increase was pritgatiiven by $36.2 million in incremental

33




Table of Contents

revenue from an additional 446 operating weeksigemby 17 new restaurants opened during and subsétp the year endddecember 3(
2012 and increased revenue at our comparable rastau These increases were partially offset byeerahse in revenue related to nor
comparable restaurants that are not included inirtbeemental revenue discussed above. Revenuedetatnoneomparable restaurants
typically lower following the year the restaurampen as a result of the 'honeymoon' period. Theeyrooon period refers to the we
following a restaurant's initial opening, duringialinsales are typically higher than normal. In #ddi 2013 results were negatively impau
by an ice storm in early December, which had an@pmate $500,000 negative impact on revenue.

Due to the inclusion of a 53week in fiscal 2012, there is a one-week calendit | the comparison of the comparable sales5weel

period ended December 29, 2013 , to the 52-wedk@ended December 30, 2012s a result, we calculate comparable restauraies <

comparing sales in fiscal 2013 to sales in theesponding 52veek calendar period ended December 30, 2012. Quailparestaurant sa

increased 2.3% for the 52-week period ended Dece2the2013 compared to the Bzek calendar period ended December 30, 2012

increase in comparable restaurant sales was dpviemarily by a 2.0% increase in average check arfi38& increase in average wee

customers. Sales for the same restaurants in ghal fyear ended December 29, 2013 increased 2.19paced to the 52+«eek period ende

December 23, 2012. Our revenue mix attributed todades decreased to 18.6% during the year endedniieer 29, 2013 from 19.2%
primarily as the result of lower bar sales as @qatrof total revenue at certain new locations.

Cost of SalesCost of sales as a percentage of revenue incréased4% during the year ended December 29, 2068n 26.9%during the
same period in 2012 , primarily as a result of bighroduce and chicken costs.

Labor CostsLabor costs as a percentage of revenue increas3ti@éo during the year ended December 29, 2018n 82.0%during the san
period in 2012 primarily as a result of decreased leverage foom less week in 2013, increases in managemers asst percentage of si
caused by lower volumes at our non-comparableusstés as well as increased hourly labor due tgdotearning curves at these same no
comparable restaurants, partially offset by imptblabor efficiencies in our comparable restaurants.

Operating CostsOperating costs as a percentage of revenue incréaskt.3% during the year ended December 29, 2@h3 14.2%durinc
the same period in 2012The increase in the current period was primasdysed by higher utility and insurance costs agragmtage «
revenue, partially offset by lower liquor taxesasesult of opening more locations outside of Texdsich charges a higher liquor tax tl
other jurisdictions.

Occupancy Cost#\s a percentage of revenue, occupancy costs rethfiateat approximately 6.0% .

General and Administrative Expens€eneral and administrative expenses increasedn$i0i@n , or 7.0% , to $10.0 milliofor the year ende
December 29, 2013 , as compared to $9.4 millioinduhe same period in 2012This increase was primarily driven by an increassalan
and stock based compensation expense associate@dditional employees as we continue to strengtherinfrastructure for future grow
and an increase in incremental costs associatédop#rating as a public company for a full fiscahyin 2013 as compared to only half a
for fiscal 2012. These increases were partiallgetfby a decrease in performance based bonuses.

Advisory Agreement Termination FeOn March 21, 2012, we paid a $2.0 million termioatfee to terminate our advisory agreement
Goode Partners. We paid the termination fee usiagtoceeds from our additional borrowings of $28illion under our Old Credit Facility.

Secondary Offering Costin fiscal 2013 and 2012, we incurred approximate®25,000 and $228,000respectively, of offering expen:
related to our January 2013 and April 2013 secondéerings of the Compang’common stock. All of the stock in these offerimgsre sol
by certain existing stockholders and as a rehdtQompany did not receive any proceeds from tfezings.

Marketing CostsMarketing costs as a percentage of revenue dedd¢as®6% during the year ended December 29, 2@t8n 0.8%durinc
the same period in 2012rimarily as the result of decreasing externatkaiing expenses and focusing more on local staketing. We als
reduced expenditures for the annual conferenceuprestaurant general managers as compared ye#nended December 30, 2012 .

Restaurant Pr-opening Costs Restaurant pre-opening costs increased by $0ltomi or 14.8% , to $3.9 milliorfor the year ende
December 29, 2013 , as compared to $3.4 milliontfier year ended December 30, 2Q1Phis increase is primarily due to opening
additional restaurant in 2013.

Depreciation and AmortizatiorDepreciation and amortization as a percentagevage increased to 4.3% for the year endedember 2!
2013 , as compared to 3.7% during the same peni@D12. This increase is primarily related to one lesgkvef revenue in 2013 and
increase in equipment and leasehold improvemeits$ celated to new restaurant openings.
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Loss on Extinguishment of Deln fiscal 2012, we recorded a $1.6 million writé of loan origination costs associated with the gawn o
$79.4 million of borrowings under our Old Creditcitily with proceeds from our IPO. In addition, dlovember 30, 2012 we recorded a ¢
million write off of loan origination costs assotgd with the termination of our Old Credit Facility

Interest Expensdnterest expense decreased $3.8 million for the gaded December 29, 2013 , as compared to theepelmdDecember 3!
2012 . The decrease was primarily due to decreassge outstanding borrowings during the year éftBrember 29, 201,3ompared to tt
same period in 2012 . Borrowings during the yealeginDecember 29, 20E&eraged approximately $4.9 million, while borrogsrduring th
same period in 2012 averaged approximately $44libmiln addition, the average interest rate on autstanding borrowings during the y
ended December 29, 2013 was 2.0% compared to 8Mittgdhe year ended December 30, 2012 .

Income Tax ExpensFor the year ended December 29, 2013 our effettiveate decreased to 27.5% from 29.d@ting the same period
2012. The decrease in the effective income taxasteompared to the same period in 2012 was piyrattiibutable to the favorable impact
a one time adjustment made for incremental employri@e credits for the current year as well aspgtevious open tax years, which resulte
a $556,000 net favorable impact on net income dutfie year ended December 29, 2013. The decredbe ieffective income tax rate v
partially offset by the unfavorable impact of thendax deductible secondary offering costs incurrednduthe year ended December 29, 2
The effective income tax rate for 2013 excludingst items is estimated to be approximately 29% itibda@lly, due to the Company's |
operating loss carry forwards the net favorable liarefit related to employment tax credits willnparily be added to the general busil
credits deferred tax asset and will not be utililededuce taxes until the net operating loss clamyards are completely utilized. The effec
tax rate differs from the statutory rate of 34%iily due to these employment tax credits atteble to payroll taxes paid on employees’
non-deductible secondary offering costs and varitate and local income taxes.

Net IncomeAs a result of the foregoing, net income incregs®® million , to $11.1 million for the year endBécember 29, 2013 fro$5.£
million during the same period in 2012 . We hadinebme available to common stockholders of $11illiam for the year ende®ecember 2!
2013 as compared to net income available to comstankholders of $3.3 million during the same peiio@012 .

Year Ended December 30, 2012 Compared to the Yeuatell December 25, 2011

The following table presents, for the periods iadla, the consolidated statement of operationh¢unsands):

Year Ended
December 30, % of December 25, % of %
2012 Revenue 2011 Revenue Change Change

Revenue $ 172,64( 100.(% $ 130,58: 100.% $ 42,057 32.2%
Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 46,47 26.9% 36,13¢ 27.1% 10,33¢ 28.6%

Labor 55,22 32.(% 41,54! 31.8% 13,67¢ 32.5%

Operating 24,49¢ 14.2% 19,297 14.€% 5,201 27.C%

Occupancy 10,33: 6.C% 7,622 5.8% 2,71( 35.€%

General and administrative 9,35¢ 5.4% 7,47¢ 5.7% 1,88( 25.1%

Advisory agreement termination fee 2,00( 1.2% — —% 2,00( 100.C %

Secondary offering costs 22¢ 0.1% — —% 22¢ 100.C %

Settlement with former director — —% 24¢ 0.2% (24%) (100.0%

Marketing 1,31¢ 0.8% 964 0.8% 35k 36.E%

Restaurant pre-opening 3,38: 2.C% 3,38t 2.6% 2 (0.1)%

Depreciation and amortization 6,52¢ 3.7% 4,44¢ 3.4% 2,08( 46.€ %

Total costs and expenses 159,34: 92.2% 121,12: 92.8% 38,221 31.€%

Income from operations 13,29¢ 7.7% 9,46( 7.2% 3,83¢ 40.5%

Loss on extinguishment of debt 1,67¢ 0.€% 78 0.1% 1,59t 2,044. %

Interest expense 3,92: 2.2% 4,28¢ 3.2% (361) (8.9)%

Income before income taxes 7,70C 4.5% 5,09¢ 4.C% 2,60z 51.(%

Income tax expense 2,24: 1.2% 1,63« 1.2% 60¢ 37.2%

Net income $ 5,457 32% $ 3,464 28% $ 1,99: 57.5%

RevenueRevenue increased $42.0 million, or 32.2%, to $a Adllion for the fiscal year ended December 30,28ompared to $130.6 millic
for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2011. Thagamy’s fiscal year 2012 included 53 weeks comptoed
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52 weeks in fiscal year 2011. Revenues in fiscal @12 attributed to the extra week totaled apprately $3.3 million. Excluding the ex
week, the increase in sales was primarily drivei$8§.9 million in incremental revenue from an aiddial 446 operating weeks provided by
new restaurants opened during and subsequenttl jisar 2011. Comparable restaurant sales inaea8&6 during the year for the B&el
period ended December 23, 2012 compared to theesk- period ended December 25, 2011. Comparabtaurast sales were positiv:
impacted by an extra 1.5 operating days in fis@dl2as a result of the Compasyestaurant closing schedule on Christmas EveChindtma
Day during the 52veek period of 2011. Excluding the impact of thér@x.5 days, comparable restaurant sales increaget, which wa
driven by a 1.4% increase in average check and% OGncrease in average weekly customers. Revernoes élcoholic beverages wi
approximately 19.2% of total revenues for fiscal 20

Cost of SalesCost of sales as a percentage of revenue decr&a@6d9% during the year ended December 30, 20b8) £7.7% during tf
same period in 2011. This percentage decreasdedguimarily from price decreases in produce cast} to a lesser degree, decreases in
and bar costs, partially offset by increases ircgrg, beef and chicken costs.

Labor CostsLabor costs as a percentage of revenue, increasz1@% during the year ended December 30, 20a&) 81.8% during the sai
period in 2011, primarily as a result of increagemning and staffing levels at our new restaurapitially offset by improved lab
efficiencies in our comparable restaurants.

Operating CostsOperating costs as a percentage of revenue, dedrémd4.2% during the year ended December 30,,204r% 14.8% durin
the same period in 2011, primarily attributablddwer liquor taxes as a result of opening more tiooa outside of Texas, which charge
higher liquor tax than other jurisdictions and lowslity costs and credit card fees. The reductias partially offset by an increase in worl
compensation insurance premiums as of result afiogenore new locations outside the state of Texas.

Occupancy Cost®ccupancy costs as a percentage of revenue, ied¢a$.0% during the year ended December 30, ZF6d, 5.8% durin
the same period in 2011 primarily attributable ighler common area expenses as well as higher xpenee as a percentage of revenu
certain non-comparable restaurants.

General and Administrative Expens€eneral and administrative expenses increasedr$illidn, or 25.1%, to $9.4 million for the year eru
December 30, 2012, as compared to $7.5 milliontlier comparable period in 2011. This increase wasapily driven by a $1.8 millio
increase in salary and bonus expense associatkauditional employees as we continue to strengthwennfrastructure for future growth &
an increase in performance based bonuses as aaksulr stronger overall profitability for the yeaidditionally, this increase was a resul
incremental costs associated with operating asbigpecompany. The general and administrative expdosthe year ended December 25, -
included a oneime cash bonus totaling $1.0 million paid to memshaf management in May 2011 in conjunction with tefinancing of ot
credit facility. As a percentage of revenue, geharal administrative expenses decreased to 5.4%héyear ended December 30, 201!
compared to 5.7% for the same period in 2011 (4o@d6re the onéime bonus payment). We expect general and admatiigg expenses
increase as we continue to strengthen our infretsire. However, we expect that general and admatige expenses as a percentage of re\
will continue to decrease due to operating leverage

Advisory Agreement Termination FeOn March 21, 2012, we paid a $2.0 million termioatfee to terminate our advisory agreement
Goode Partners. We paid the termination fee usiagtoceeds from our additional borrowings of $28illion under our Old Credit Facility.

Secondary Offering Costhn fiscal 2012, we incurred $228,000 of offeringoerses related to a secondary offering of the Cagipa&ommo
stock that was completed in January 2013. All efgtock in the offering was sold by certain exgptstockholders and as a result, the Com
did not receive any proceeds from the offering. pect to incur approximately an additional $320,00 expenses related to the secon
offering in the first quarter of 2013.

Marketing CostsAs a percentage of revenue, marketing costs remdiaeat approximately 0.8% for the years endedddaber 30, 2012 a
December 25, 2011. Our marketing costs in a paatiqueriod are generally limited to the periggroportionate amount of our marke
budget of 0.8% of sales.

Restaurant Pr-Opening CostsRestaurant prepening costs remained flat at $3.4 million for thears ended December 30, 2012
December 25, 2011, due to eight restaurants bawugloped in both 2012 and 2011.

Depreciation and AmortizatiorAs a percentage of revenue, depreciation and aratidn expenses increased to 3.7% for the yeard
December 30, 2012 from 3.4% for the year ended mbee 25, 2011. This increase is primarily relatedhe increase in equipment i
leasehold improvement costs related to new restaogenings, which is partially offset by restadraguipment becoming fully depreciate:
some of our older restaurants.

Loss on Extinguishment of Deln fiscal 2012, we recorded a $1.6 million writé of loan origination costs associated with the gawn o
$79.4 million of borrowings under our Old Creditcidly with proceeds from our IPO. In addition, dlovember 30, 2012 we recorded a ¢
million write off of loan origination costs assotgd with the termination of our Old Credit Facility

36




Table of Contents

Interest Expensenterest expense decreased $0.4 million for the gaded December 30, 2012, as compared to theeyeled December 2
2011. This decrease was due to a reduction in Heeage effective interest rate on our outstandingdwings during the year enc
December 30, 2012, as compared to the same peegodrniber 25, 2011, offset by greater average odfisigrborrowings. The interest r.
reduction was associated with the refinancing of @ld Credit Facility we completed in May of 201hdain November of 2012. (
November 30, 2012, we entered into a $25.0 milsecured revolving credit facility (th“Revolving Credit Facility”)and borrowed $5
million under the facility to repay approximatel$.$ million of outstanding debt remaining under @ld Credit Facility and to pay closi
fees for the Revolving Credit Facility. Under ouewlving Credit Facility, we elected a variableeraif interest based on LIBOR. As
December 30, 2012, we had an interest rate of 2t%ur Revolving Credit Facility as compared toisterest rate of 7.0% under our (
Credit Facility.

Income Tax ExpensOur effective tax rate decreased to 29.1% for tharyended December 30, 2012 from 32.1% for the pede:
December 25, 2011. The decrease in the effectiveata for the year ended December 30, 2012 isgifynattributable to lower state and Ic
income taxes. The effective tax rates differ frdma statutory rate of 34.0% primarily due to paytaX credits attributable to payroll taxes
on employee tips and various state and local inctaxes.

Net IncomeNet income increased $2.0 million to $5.5 milliawr the year ended December 30, 2012 compared forflion for the yee
ended December 25, 2011. We had net income awailablcommon stockholders of approximately $3.3 iamllfor the year end:
December 30, 2012 as compared to net income alailaltommon stockholders of approximately $41,00the comparable period in 20
This change in net income available to common s$tolders was primarily related to the conversioroof preferred stock to common st
immediately prior to the IPO.

Liquidity

Our principal sources of cash are net cash provijedperating activities, which includes tenant imy@ment allowances from our landlol
and borrowings under our $25 million Revolving Gtdehacility, which we entered into on November 2012. Our need for capital resource
driven by our restaurant expansion plans, ongoigntenance of our restaurants, investment in ouparate and information technolc
infrastructure, obligations under our operatingsésaand interest payments on our debt. Based ocustent growth plans, we believe

expected cash flows from operations, expected teinggrovement allowances and available borrowingden our Revolving Credit Facili
will be sufficient to finance our planned capitapenditures and other operating activities forribgt twelve months.

Consistent with many other restaurant and retalrcktore operations, we use operating lease amaggts for our restaurants. We believe
these operating lease arrangements provide apatepeverage of our capital structure in a finalhciefficient manner. We have entered |
operating leases with certain related parties vafipect to six of our restaurants and our corpdreselquarters.

Our liguidity may be adversely affected by a numbiefactors, including a decrease in customer itraff average check per customer du
changes in economic conditions, as described i #A. “Risk Factors.”

Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 29, 20D&cember 30, 2012 and December 25, 2011

The following table summarizes the statements ehdbows for the years ended December 29, 2013cemeer 30, 2012nd December 2
2011 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 29, 2013 December 30, 2012 December 25, 2011
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 24,24, $ 24,70: $ 17,35¢
Net cash used in investing activities (31,199 (27,42% (20,839
Net cash provided by financing activities 6,42¢ 5,75( 2,96¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent (532 3,02¢ (510
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 5,85¢k 2,821 3,331
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 532: $ 585 $ 2,821

Operating ActivitiesNet cash provided by operating activities decre&gef million to $24.2 million for the year endeéd&@mber 29, 2013 ,
from $24.7 million during the same period in 2Q1Qur business is almost exclusively a cash busin@snost all of our receipts come in
form of cash and cash equivalents and a large ihagrour expenditures are paid within a 30 dayigee The decrease net cash provided |
operating activities during the year ended Decer@iBe013 compared to the same period in 2048 primarily due to the excess tax bei
from stock-based compensation of $4.0 million i120a $1.7 million writesff of loan origination fees associated with theg pawn of long
term debt in 2012, decreased deferred income w@i®2.1 million and a decrease in the change imatts payable due to timing differenc
This decrease was partially offset by an increageet income of $5.6 million and depreciation ambetization of $2.3 million as we contin
our expansion.
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Investing ActivitiesNet cash used in investing activities increase® $3llion to $31.2 million for the year ended Ded#n 29, 2013 from
$27.4 million for the year ended 2012 . This inseavas the result of an increase in capital experedi of $3.7 milliorfor the year ende
December 29, 2013These expenditures were primarily related tocthrstruction of our nine new restaurants that opeheing the year end
December 29, 2013 , as well as expenditures retatéde additional unopened restaurants undertcoction at December 29, 2013 .

Financing ActivitiesNet cash provided by financing activities increa$8d million to $6.4 million for the year endedd2enber 29, 2018om
$5.8 million during the same period in 2012. Thisrease was primarily the result of $4.0 millioneircess tax benefits from stock be
compensation and proceeds of $1.4 million from éxercise of stock options . During the year endextdinber 29, 2018e had ne
borrowings on our Revolving Credit Facility of $Indllion.

In addition, we simplified our capital structure2012 as a result of our IPO which included thevession of all series A, B and X prefer
stock into common stock and the refinancing of deiot into our new $25 million Revolving Credit Hagi On March 21, 2012, prior to t
IPO, we entered into an amendment to our previoeditcfacility and borrowed an additional $25.0 liait under the Term A Loan facility,
which the proceeds were primarily used to repurel§#2.5 million of our common stock, series A prefd stock, series B preferred stock
series X preferred stock on April 6, 2012. On J2ify 2012, we received proceeds of $81.1 millionmfrour IPO, which were used to re|
approximately $79.4 million of our outstanding debiso, during that same period in 2012, we borrdwd.5 million under our delayed dr
Term B Loan and had net payments on our revolviegitfacility of $2.7 million.

As of December 29, 2013 , we had no financing &atigns, arrangements or other relationships withumconsolidated affiliates or related
parties. Additionally, we had no financing arrangens involving synthetic leases or trading actatinvolving commodity contracts.

Capital Resources
Long-Term Capital Requirements

Our capital requirements are primarily dependemtnughe pace of our growth plan and resulting nestargrants. Our growth plan is depen:
upon many factors, including economic conditioms| restate markets, restaurant locations and ttueenaf our lease agreements. Our ca
expenditure outlays are also dependent on maintenamd remodel costs in our existing restaurantgeisas information technology and ot
general corporate capital expenditures.

The capital resources required for a new restawtepénd on whether the restaurant is a graymdenstruction or a conversion. We estir
that each ground-up restaurant will require a totsh investment of $1.7 million to $2.5 milligmet of estimated tenant incentives of betv
zero and $1.0 million ). We estimate that each eosion will require a total cash investment of $2illion to $2.2 million. In addition to th
cost of the conversion or ground-up buildout, wpeet to spend approximately $350,000 to $400,00Ggstaurant for restaurant pogening
costs. We target a cash-on-cash return beginnirtpeanthird operating year of 40.0% , and a salemtestment ratio of 2:for our nev
restaurants.

For 2014, we currently estimate capital expenditoméays will range between 27.5 million and $3@ndlion, net of agreed upon ten:
improvement allowances and excluding approxima$&y8 million to $4.3 million of restaurant popening costs for new restaurants tha
not capitalized. These capital expenditure estimmate based on average new restaurant capital épes of $2.4 million (net of estimal
tenant improvement allowances) each for the opeafritf) to 11 new restaurants as well as $3.0 miltim maintain and remodel our exist
restaurants and for general corporate purposes.

Based on our growth plans, we believe our combimqabected cash flows from operations, availabledwainigs under our Revolving Cre
Facility and expected tenant improvement allowanagdse sufficient to finance our planned capiipenditures and other operating activ
in fiscal 2013.

Short-Term Capital Requirements

Our operations have not required significant wogkaapital and, like many restaurant companies, peraie with negative working capi
Restaurant sales are primarily paid for in casbyocredit card, and restaurant operations do reptire significant inventories or receivables
addition, we receive trade credit for the purchafsimod, beverages and supplies, therefore redubtiageed for incremental working capite
support growth. We had a net working capital def€i$5.5 million at December 29, 2013 , compa@é tnet working capital deficit &2.7
million at December 30, 2012 .

Initial Public Offering

On July 27, 2012, we completed our IPO of our comrsimck. We issued 6,708,332 shares, includingeshsold to the underwriters purst
to their overallotment option. We received net pexts from the offering of approximately $78.1 roilli(after estimated offering expens
We used the net proceeds with additional Compangdo repay $79.4 million of indebtedness underQld Credit Facility.
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Secondary Offeringt

Subsequent to our IPO we completed two secondéeyirgs in January 2013 and April 2013 for 5,179,@dd 3,000,008hares, respective
including shares sold to the underwriters pursuartheir overallotment options. We did not receamy proceeds from the two seconc
offerings as all the shares sold in the offeringsenowned by certain of the Company's existinglstolciers. The selling stockholders paic
of the underwriting discounts and commissions dased with the sale of shares in the two seconddigrings; however, the Compe
incurred costs and registration expenses relat¢bdetofferings of approximately $925,000 and $208,during the year endddlecember 2!
2013 and December 30, 2012 , respectively.

Revolving Credit Facility

On November 30, 2012, we entered into our $25.0aniRevolving Credit Facilityvith Wells Fargo Bank, National Association. On #zeni
date, we repaid all debt outstanding under the@#tlit Facility using borrowings from the new Rexing Credit Facility. In connection wi
the repayment of debt outstanding under our OldiCreacility, the Old Credit Facility was termindteAs a result of the repayment
outstanding debt and the termination of the Oldd@rEacility, we recorded a $1.7 millioless on extinguishment of debt to write off
unamortized loan origination fees. As of Decemi&r2013we had $6.0 million of outstanding indebtednessenrmdir new Revolving Cret
Facility. Our Revolving Credit Facility will maturen November 30, 2017.

Under our Revolving Credit Facility , we may reduiesincrease the size of our Revolving Credit Fgcby up to $25.0 million, in minimu
principal amounts of $5.0 million or the remainiagount of the $25.0 million if less than $5.0 oitli(the " Incremental Revolving Lodh
which Incremental Revolving Loawill be effective after 10 days written notice toetagent. In the event that any of the lenders fie
Incremental Revolving Loan , the terms and provisiof the Incremental Revolving Loan will be thengaas under ouRevolving Credi
Facility .

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facilggnerally bear interest at a variable rate based opr election, of (i) the base rate (which i<
highest of prime rate, federal funds rate plus 0ds%ne month LIBOR) plus 1%, or (ii) LIBOR, plug,either case, an applicable margin bi
on our consolidated total lease adjusted leveragie (as defined in the Revolving Credit Faciliyreement). OuRevolving Credit Facilit
also requires payment for commitment fees thatugcon the daily unused commitment of the lendahatapplicable margin, which var
based on our consolidated total lease adjusteddgeeaatio. As of December 29, 20d3r interest rate was 1.92%. The revolving linemfdil
also requires compliance with a fixed charge cayeratio, a lease adjusted leverage ratio andicerta-financial covenants.

As of December 29, 2013we were in compliance with all covenants under Ravolving Credit Facility. Based on our capitapenditurt
plans, contractual commitments and cash flow frg@rations, we expect to be able to comply withéhms/enants in the near and long term.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes contractual obligasi at December 29, 2013 on an actual basis (us#mals):

Payment Due By Period

More Than 5
Total Less Than 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years

Contractual Obligations:
Long-Term Debt Obligation® $ 6,54¢ $ 13¢  $ 27¢ % 6,127 $ —
Operating Lease Obligatioffs 173,38 11,85¢ 25,66 24,17 111,69:
Purchase Obligatiori3 16,64 16,34¢ 29¢ — —
Total $ 196,58( $ 28,34¢ $ 26,24, % 30,30 $ 111,69:
(1) Reflects principal and interest payments on revobadances and fees on unused revolver commitmarder our Revolving Cre(

Facility. On November 30, 2012, we entered into $266.0 million Revolving Credit Facility. As of Dember 29, 2013$6.0 millior
was outstanding. All amounts under our RevolvingditrFacility are due November 30, 2017.

(2) Reflects the aggregate minimum lease paymentsuforastaurant operations and corporate office. @ijyay lease obligations excluc
contingent rent payments that may be due undeaiinest our leases based on a percentage of sales.

€)) Includes contractual purchase commitments for tinehase of goods related to system restaurant tigmesaand commitments 1
construction of new restaurants.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of our orgoing business, we do not participate in transastithat generate relationships with unconsolid&tetities or financi:
partnerships, such as entities referred to asteted finance or variable interest entities, whiabuld have been established for the purpo
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or otoatractually narrow or limited purposes. As efdd@mber 29, 2013we are not involved
any variable interest entities transactions andatmtherwise have any off-balance sheet arrangemen

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements and accormripgmpotes are prepared in accordance with accayiptimciples generally accepted in
United States of America. Preparing consolidatedrftial statements requires us to make estimagsssumptions that affect the repo
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and experideese estimates and assumptions are affectdetapplication of our accounting polici
Our significant accounting policies are describedilote 1 to our Consolidated Financial Stateme®tisical accounting estimates are those
require application of managementhost difficult, subjective or complex judgmerdfien as a result of matters that are inherentlgettair
and may change in subsequent periods. While wey appljudgment based on assumptions believed te&sonable under the circumstan
actual results could vary from these assumptidris.possible that materially different amounts Vdobie reported using different assumpti
The following is a description of what we consitiebe our most significant critical accounting pas.

Leases and Leasehold ImprovemeWe lease land, buildings and/or certain equipmentife majority of our restaurants under noncarute
lease agreements. Our land and building leasesdijypihave initial terms ranging from 10 to 15 y&aand certain renewal options for on
more five-year periods. We account for leases aoatance with ASC 84Q.eases and other related authoritative guidance. Wheardening
the lease term, we include option periods for wiiglure to renew the lease imposes a penalty an gach an amount that a renewal app
at the inception of the lease, to be reasonablyrads The primary penalty to which we are subjet¢hé economic detriment associated witt
existence of leasehold improvements which mightbeximpaired if we choose not to continue the dsbkeleased property.

Certain of our operating leases contain predetexdhiixed escalations of the minimum rent during ¢higinal term of the lease. For th
leases, we recognize the related rent expensestaightline basis over the lease term and record therdiffee between the amounts cha
to operations and amounts paid as deferred rentm@iereceive rent holidays, which would begin oa plossession date and end on the
construction of the restaurant begins, during whichcash rent payments are typically due undertdhms of the lease. Rent holidays
included in the lease term when determining strtaligle rent expense.

Additionally, certain of our operating leases camtalauses that provide for additional contingestitrbased on a percentage of sales gi
than certain specified target amounts. We recogoizgingent rent expense prior to the achieveménhe specified target that triggers
contingent rent, provided achievement of the taigebnsidered probable. This may result in som@bdity in rent expense as a percentac
revenues over the term of the lease in restauvamtse we pay contingent rent.

We make judgments regarding the probable term dch eestaurant property lease, which can impacthimssification and accounting fo
lease as capital or operating, the rent holidayarescalations in payments that are taken intsidenation when calculating straigite ren
and the term over which leasehold improvementsdefielrred lease incentives for each restaurantraetazed. These judgments may proc
materially different amounts of depreciation, arzation and rent expense than would be reportelifférent assumed lease terms were (
In an exposure draft issued in 2010, the FASB, ttagewith the International Accounting Standardail has proposed a comprehensive ¢
changes in GAAP for leases. We are continuing taoitobthe FASB an International Accounting StandaBibard's activities regarding lea
and will disclose expected impacts on our busiaaskfinancial statements as rules are finalized.

Impairment of Lon-Lived AssetsWe review longhved assets, such as property and equipment aadgibles, subject to amortization,
impairment when events or circumstances indicatecthirying value of the assets may not be recoleerbbdetermining the recoverability
the asset value, an analysis is performed at thigidtual restaurant level and primarily includesamsessment of historical cash flows and
relevant factors and circumstances. The other fa@od circumstances include changes in the ecanemvironment, changes in the mannt
which assets are used, unfavorable changes in fagairs or business climate, incurring excessscostconstruction of the asset, ove
restaurant operating performance and projectionfutare performance. These estimates result iride wange of variability on a year to y
basis due to the nature of the criteria. Negatestaurant-level cash flow over the previousni@ith period is considered a poter
impairment indicator. In such situations, we eviuature undiscounted cash flow projections injaoation with qualitative factors and futt
operating plans. Our impairment assessment praegs#res the use of estimates and assumptionsdiagduture undiscounted cash flows
operating outcomes, which are based upon a signifidegree of management’s judgment.

Based on this analysis, if the carrying amounthef &assets is less than the estimated future undited cash flows, an impairment charg
recognized by the amount by which the carrying am@xceeds the fair value. In performing our impesnt testing, we forecast our fut
undiscounted cash flows by looking at recent resatatuevel performance, restaurant level opergtiags,
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sales trends, and cost trends for cost of salbsy land operating expenses. We believe that thisbamation of information gives us a f
benchmark to estimate future undiscounted cashsflaMe compare this cash flow forecast to the assetrying value at the restaurant. If
predicted future undiscounted cash flow does noted the long-lived asssettarrying value, we impair the assets relatetidd restaurant or
pro-rata basis of the relative carrying valuesheflong-lived assets.

Continued economic deterioration within our respecinarkets may adversely impact consumer disaratipspending and may result in lo
restaurant sales. Unfavorable fluctuations in emmmodity costs, supply costs and labor rates, whiely or may not be within our contt
may also impact our operating margins. Any of thias¢ors could as a result affect the estimated us®ur impairment analysis and req;
additional impairment tests and charges to earniMgs continue to assess the performance of ouauestts and monitor the need for fu
impairment. There can be no assurance that futopairment tests will not result in additional chesdo earnings.

Goodwill and Other Intangible AssetSoodwill and indefinite life intangible assets a@ amortized but are tested annually on the disst o
the fourth quarter, or more frequently if eventsoianges in circumstances indicate that the assiglst be impaired. In assessing
recoverability of goodwill and indefinite life imaible assets, the Company must make assumptiang #ie estimated future cash flows
other factors to determine the fair value of theseets.

For goodwill, the impairment evaluation includesamparison of the carrying value of the reportimgt (including goodwill) to that reportir
unit’s fair value. If the reporting unit's estimdtéair value exceeds the reporting usitarrying value, no impairment of goodwill exidfsthe
fair value of the reporting unit does not exceegluhit’s carrying value, then an additional analysis ifqumed to allocate the fair value of
reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilit@fsthat unit as if that unit had been acquire@ ibusiness combination and the fair value o
unit was the purchase price. If the excess of direvhlue of the reporting unit over the fair valfethe identifiable assets and liabilities is
than the carrying value of the unit's goodwill, iampairment charge is recorded for the difference.

Similarly, the impairment evaluation for indefinilige intangible assets includes a comparison efdhset’s carrying value to the assé#i
value. Fair value is estimated primarily using fetdiscounted cash flow projections in conjunctidth qualitative factors and future operal
plans. When the carrying value exceeds fair vadueimpairment charge is recorded for the amourthefdifference. An intangible asse
determined to have an indefinite useful life whieeré are no legal, regulatory, contractual, cortigetieconomic or other factors that may |i
the period over which the asset is expected toritoné directly or indirectly to the future caslovls of the Company. The Company
annually evaluates intangible assets that are gingtamortized to determine whether events andigistances continue to support an indef
useful life. If an intangible asset that is notrgeamortized is determined to have a finite uskfie] the asset will be amortized prospecti
over the estimated remaining useful life and actedifor in the same manner as intangible assejscub amortization.

At December 29, 2013 none of the Company’s intdagisets or goodwill were impaired.

Income Taxeslncome tax provisions consist of federal and states currently due, plus deferred taxes. Defaagdassets and liabilities
recognized for the future tax consequences ataiblatto temporary differences between the finamstialement carrying amounts of exis
assets and liabilities and their respective taxsbd@eferred tax assets and liabilities are measusing enacted tax rates expected to apj
taxable income in the years in which those tempodiiferences are expected to be recovered oregetideferred tax assets are recogr
when management considers the realization of thesets in future periods to be more likely than Rature taxable income, adjustment
temporary difference, available carryforward pesiashd changes in tax laws could affect these ettgna

Stock-Based Compensatiddompensation cost for stock options granted isrdeted based on the fair value of the option atdae of grar
and is recognized, net of estimated forfeitureerdhe award’s requisite service period on a ditdige basis. We use the Bla8chole
valuation model to determine the fair value of stack options, which requires assumptions to beermadarding our stock price volatility,
expected life of the award, rigkee interest rate, and expected dividend rates. vidtatility assumptions were derived from the tiitees of
comparable public restaurant companies. If faotbenge and we employ different assumptions, shased compensation expense may (
significantly from what we have recorded in the tpdf there is a difference between the assumptiossd in determining stodsase:
compensation expense and the actual factors wigichrbe known over time, we may change the inpubfaaised in determining stotlase:
compensation costs for future grants. These chaifgasy, may materially impact our results of cgté@ns in the period such changes are n
We expect to continue to grant stock options inftitere, and to the extent that we do, our acttaaksbased compensation expense recog!
in future periods will likely increase.

One significant factor in determining the fair valaf our options, when using the BlaSkholes option pricing model, is the fair valuethd
common stock underlying those stock options. Weeveeprivate company with no active public marketdor common stock prior to our IF
During that time, our board of directors obtainedipdic contemporaneous valuation studies fromndependent thirgharty valuation firm. |
performing its valuation analysis, the valuatiomnmfiengaged in discussions with management, analiistdrical and forecasted financ
statements and reviewed our corporate documentaddiition, these valuation studies were based omraber of assumptions, includ
industry, general economic, market and other candit
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that could reasonably be evaluated at the timéefaluation. Thirdparty valuations were performed on each of Jun€80}1, September :
2011 and December 31, 2011 using generally accepdadtion methodologies.

Since becoming a publicly traded company, our badrdirectors determines the fair value of our camnnstock underlying the options ba
on the market price as quoted by the Nasdag GBélalct Market.

Based upon a price of $36.63 per share, the clgwilcg of the Compang’ common stock on December 27, 2013, the lastnmadiay of ou
fiscal year, the aggregate intrinsic value of stogkions outstanding as of December 29, 20E3 approximately $26.7 million, of whi
approximately $16.4 million related to vested stopkions and approximately $10.3 million relatediftvested stock options.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We reviewed all significant newligsued accounting pronouncements and concludegwiitatthe exception of the pronouncement belowy
either are not applicable to our operations or tfmmaterial effect is expected on our consoliddiegncial statements as a result of fu
adoption.

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardsamo("FASB") issued Accounting Standards UpdateSUR) number 20131, Incom:
Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognizaed Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforwar&imilar Tax Loss, or a Tax Cre
Carryforward Exists — a consensus of the FASB Eingrigsues Task Force. ASU 2013-generally requires, with some exceptions, aity
to present its unrecognized tax benefits as iteslto its net operating loss carryforwards, siniex losses, or tax credit carryforwards,
reduction of deferred tax assets when settlemeavaslable under the tax law of the applicable rigxjurisdiction as of the balance st
reporting date. It is effective prospectively faschl years, and interim periods within those yeéeginning after December 15, 2C
Retrospective application is permitted. The Compaogs not anticipate a material impact on its famnposition, results of operations or ¢
flows as a result of this change.

Inflation

Our profitability is dependent, among other things, our ability to anticipate and react to changethe costs of key operating resour
including food and other raw materials, labor, ggeaind other supplies and services. Substantisdé@ses in costs and expenses could in
our operating results to the extent that such asme cannot be passed along to our restaurantrarstolhe impact of inflation on food, lak
energy and occupancy costs can significantly atfezprofitability of our restaurant operations.

Many of our restaurant staff members are paid jaates related to the federal minimum wage. loafi007, Congress enacted an increa
the federal minimum wage implemented in two phabegjnning in fiscal 2007 and concluding in fis2@09. In addition, numerous state
local governments increased the minimum wage withir jurisdictions, with further state minimum ge&increases going into effect in fis
2010. Certain operating costs, such as taxes,ansarand other outside services increase withdhergl level of inflation or higher and n
also be subject to other cost and supply fluctoatimutside of our control.

While we have been able to partially offset infiatiand other changes in the costs of key operatisgurces by gradually increasing price:
our menu items, more efficient purchasing practipesductivity improvements and greater economiescale, there can be no assurance
we will be able to continue to do so in the futdfeom time to time, competitive conditions coulehii our menu pricing flexibility. In additio
macroeconomic conditions could make additional metice increases imprudent. There can be no assthat all future cost increases
be offset by increased menu prices or that inccbasenu prices will be fully absorbed by our restatircustomers without any result
changes in their visit frequencies or purchasirttepas. A majority of the leases for our restawsgrbvide for contingent rent obligations be
on a percentage of revenue. As a result, rent esepeiil absorb a proportionate share of any meiepncreases in our restaurants. There
be no assurance that we will continue to generateases in comparable restaurant sales in amsuffisient to offset inflationary or oth
cost pressures.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk in connectidgth our longterm indebtedness. Our principal interest rate swpo relates to loa
outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facilitytthee entered into in November 2012. All outstandindebtedness under our Revol
Credit Facility bears interest at a variable ragsddl on LIBOR. Each quarter point change in interates on the variable portion
indebtedness under our Revolving Credit Facilityldaesult in a change of $15,000 to our intergpease on an annual basis.

Commodity Price Risk

We are exposed to market price fluctuation in fpomduct prices. Given the historical volatility aértain of our food product prices, includ
produce, chicken, beef and cheese, these fluchsatian materially impact our food and beveragescdghile
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we have taken steps to enter into long term agretnier some of the commodities used in our restausperations, there can be no assul
that future supplies and costs for such commodiidsot fluctuate due to weather and other madagtditions outside of our control.

Consequently, such commodities can be subject foreseen supply and cost fluctuations. Dairy caesis also fluctuate due to governn
regulation. Because we typically set our menu griceadvance of our food product prices, we caimmatediately take into account chanc
costs of food items. To the extent that we are lentd pass the increased costs on to our custothesagh price increases, our result
operations would be adversely affected. We do setfinancial instruments to hedge our risk to miagkiEe fluctuations in our food prodi
prices at this time.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our consolidated financial statements, notes thexatl the report of McGladrey LLP, our independegistered public accounting firm, are
forth beginning on page F-1 hereto and are incatedrherein by reference.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervisioth with the participation of our chief executivificer and chief financial officer, of tl
effectiveness of the design and operation of ostldsure controls and procedures (as defined ip RB&15(e) of the Securities Exchange
of 1934) as of the end of the period covered ia thport. Based on this evaluation, our principa&lcaitive officer and principal financial offic
concluded that our disclosure controls and proeaslare effective to provide reasonable assuraratenthterial information required to
included in our periodic SEC reports is recordedcpssed, summarized and reported within the tienegs specified in the relevant SEC n
and forms.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingraaititaining adequate internal control over finahmporting. As defined in Exchange
Rule 13a15(f), internal control over financial reporting & process designed by, or under the supervisipmowf principal executive a
principal financial officer and effected by our Bdaof Directors, management and other personneirduide reasonable assurance regai
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsos accordance with GAAP and inclu
those policies and procedures that (i) pertaitnéonhaintenance of records that in reasonable gdatailirately and fairly reflect the transact
and dispositions of the assets of the Companypiiyide reasonable assurance that transactionre@weded as necessary to permit prepar
of financial statements in accordance with GAAR] #mat receipts and expenditures of the Companyeirey made only in accordance v
authorizations of management and directors of the@any; and (iii) provide reasonable assurancerdags prevention or timely detection
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of @empanys assets that could have a material effect onitla@dial statements. The desig
any system of control is based upon certain assangabout the likelihood of future events, andé¢hean be no assurance that any desigi
succeed in achieving its stated objectives unddutlre events, no matter how remote, or thatdbgree of compliance with the policies
procedures may not deteriorate. Because of itsrémbdimitations, internal control over financiaéporting may not prevent or det
misstatements. Accordingly, even effective intercahtrol over financial reporting can only provideasonable assurance of achieving
control objectives. Also, projections of any evaiol of effectiveness to future periods are subjecthe risk that controls may becc
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthibalegree of compliance with the policies orcpaures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatioroof management, including our chief executiveceffiand chief financial officer, we carr
out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our imaéicontrol over financial reporting as of Decemp®r 2013 based on the criteria imterna
Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the Cotteri of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwayn@gssion (“COSO”)Based o
this evaluation, our management concluded thatrernal control over financial reporting was etfee as of December 29, 2013.

This Annual Report on Form 1K-does not include an attestation report of ouepehdent registered public accounting firm due tr@masitior
period established by the rules of the SEC for ggwblic companies.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There have been no changes in our internal cowiret financial reporting that occurred during ouosirecent fiscal quarter that h.
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.
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ITEM 9B.
None

OTHER INFORMATION
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PART Il

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 18 &4 will be furnished (and are hereby incorpordtgdeference) by an amendment here
pursuant to a definitive proxy statement pursuamégulation 14A that will contain such information
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PART IV
ITEM 15: EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
The following documents are filed as a part of Réport:
(1) Financial Statements - see Index to Finar&tatements appearing on pagé.F-
(2) Financial Statement ScheduleNene

(3) Exhibits -The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibitdx@re filed or incorporated by reference as phitiie report
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regitthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

Date: March 11, 2014 CHUY’S HOLDINGS, INC.

By: /s/ STEVEN J. HISLOP

Steven J. Hislop
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpithe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the dattisdted.

Name Title Date
s/ STEVE HISLOP
Steve Hislop Director, President and Chief Executive Officeiirjpipal 3/11/2014

executive officer)
/s/ JON HOWIE

Jon Howie Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (priredip 3/11/2014
financial and accounting officer)

/s MIKE YOUNG

Mike Young Co-Chairman of the Board, Director 3/11/2014
s/ JOHN ZAPP
John Zapp Co-Chairman of the Board, Director 3/11/2014
/s/ STARLETTE JOHNSON
Starlette Johnson Director 3/11/2014
Is! SAED MOHSEN!I
Saed Mohseni Director 3/11/2014
/s/ DOUGLAS SCHMICK
Douglas Schmick Director 3/11/2014
/s! IRA ZECHER
Ira Zecher Director 3/11/2014
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Exhibit No.

Exhibit Index

Description of Exhibit

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

10.6* +
10.7*

10.8*

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12*

10.13

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatincofporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the @any’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 27, 2012)

Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by referéo Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Reporform 8-
K, filed on October 30, 2013)

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated &ference to Exhibit 4.1 of Amendment No. 7 to thegiRtration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-176097), fdedluly 11, 2012)

Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, tiéagdt, 2010, by and among Chuy’s Holdings, Inc., MY
Equity, LP, Goode Chuy’s Holdings, LLC, Goode Chigirect Investors, LLC, J.P. Morgan U.S. Direcr@wate
Finance Institutional Investors IIl LLC, 522 Fiffkvenue Fund, L.P., and certain other stockholdgptpnholders and
permitted transferees (incorporated by referendextabit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration StatetmemForm S-1
(File No. 333-176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Stockholdersefmgat, dated July 9, 2012, by and among Chuy’s iHgd
Inc., MY/ZP Equity, LP, Goode Chuy’s Holdings, LLGpode Chuy’s Direct Investors, LLC, J.P. Morga® \Direct
Corporate Finance Institutional Investors Il LLE22 Fifth Avenue Fund, L.P., and certain otherlgtotders,
optionholders and permitted transferees (incorpdral reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Amendment Noo thie
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3386P7), filed on July 11, 2012)

Employment Agreement, dated July 9, 2007, betwdary® Opco, Inc. and Steven J. Hislop (incorpordied
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s RegigtraStatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-1760918¢dfon
August 5, 2011)

Chuy’s Holdings, Inc. 2012 Omnibus Equity IncentRdan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2ofendment
No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-te (Ro. 333-176097), filed on July 11, 2012)

Form of Restricted Share Agreement (2012 Omnibustiéncentive Plan) (incorporated by referenc&sibit 10.4
of Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statemerffam S-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on July 2012)

Form of Option Agreement (2012 Omnibus Equity IrtaenPlan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit516f
Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement amF®-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on July 11, 2p1

Chuy’s Holdings, Inc. 2006 Stock Option Plan (immanated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Comfmany
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 338@B7), filed on August 5, 2011)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement Under tteis Holdings, Inc. 2012 Omnibus Equity IncentRlan

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (2006 Stocki@pPlan) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit71® the
Company'’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Rde333-176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 afiéhdment
No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-te (Ro. 333-176097), filed on July 11, 2012)

Letter Agreement regarding Arbor Trails Chuy’s,ethNovember 7, 2006, by and between Chuy’s Opa,aind
Three Star Management, Ltd. (incorporated by refeedo Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Registratidat&nent on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on Augus2811)

Recipe License Agreement, dated November 7, 200&ntd between Chuy’s Opco, Inc. and MY/ZP IP Grdugd,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to@wmnpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Rde333-
176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

Cross-Marketing License Agreement, dated Novemb260@6, by and between Chuy’s Opco, Inc. and MYIZP
Group, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhil@it1R2 to the Company’s Registration Statement omF8r1 (File
No. 333-176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

Management Agreement, dated November 7, 2006, thpatween Chuy’s Opco, Inc. and Three Star Manageme
Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13hte Company’s Registration Statement on Form Bi& No. 333-
176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

Management System License Agreement, dated Novemi2806, by and between Chuy’s Opco, Inc. and MYIZ
Group, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhilfitl¥ to the Company’s Registration Statement omF8+1

(File No. 333-176097), filed on August 5, 2011)
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10.14 Parade Sponsorship Agreement, dated November 8, B9Gand between Chuy’s Opco, Inc. and MY/ZP 1Bupx
Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15He Company’s Registration Statement on Form Eilé No. 333-
176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

10.15 Form of Chuy’s Holdings, Inc.'s 2009 Common StoalbScription Agreement (incorporated by referencExhibit
10.18 to the Company’s Registration Statement amF®-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on August 512D
10.16 Form of Chuy’s Holdings, Inc.'s 2010 Common StoalScription Agreement (incorporated by referencexbibit
10.19 to the Company’s Registration Statement amF®-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on August 512D
10.17 Form of License Exercisable Upon Event of Defauitder Lease Agreement (incorporated by referen&kibit
10.21 to the Company’s Registration Statement amF®-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on August 512D
10.18 Lease Agreement, dated November 7, 2006, betweengrdapp Graceland, Ltd. and Chuy’s Opco, Inc.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to@wmnpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Rde333-
176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

10.19 Lease Agreement, dated January 1, 2002, betweengydapp North Lamar, Ltd. and Chuy’s Opco, Inc.aagended,
modified and assigned (incorporated by referendextabit 10.24 to the Company’s Registration Staatron Form
S-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

10.20 Lease Agreement, dated November 1, 1998, betweeangfdapp Joint Venture Il and ChgyOpco, Inc., as amend:t
modified and assigned (incorporated by referendextabit 10.25 to the Company’s Registration Staatron Form
S-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

10.21 Lease Agreement, dated November 19, 1996, betweeangrZapp Joint Venture-IV and Chuy’s Opco, Ins., a
amended, modified and assigned (incorporated leyeate to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s RegisiraBtatement
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on Augbis011)

10.22 Lease Agreement, dated January 22, 2001, betweengvdapp JVRR, Ltd. and Chuy’s Opco, Inc., as aradnd
modified and assigned (incorporated by referendextubit 10.27 to the Company’s Registration Staatron Form
S-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

10.23 Lease Agreement, dated June 1, 2003, between Yzamg Shenandoah, Ltd. and Chuy’s Opco, Inc., andett
modified and assigned (incorporated by referendextubit 10.28 to the Company’s Registration Staatron Form
S-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on August 5, 2011)

10.24 Lease Agreement, dated April 22, 2008, between Ydapp Arbor Trails, Ltd. and Chuy’s Opco, Inc.d@mporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Regtion Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-17§08léd on
August 5, 2011)

10.25 Form of Right to Repurchase Agreement (incorporateteference to Exhibit 10.30 of Amendment Noo 2he
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 338@B7), filed on October 27, 2011)
10.26* Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 2011, dmtvChuy’s Holdings, Inc., Chuy’s Opco, Inc. anevgh J.

Hislop (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10d37Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statemerftam S-1
(File No. 333-176097), filed on November 17, 2011)

10.27* Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 2011, datvChuy’s Holdings, Inc., Chuy’s Opco, Inc. and Y¢.
Howie (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32mendment No. 3 to the Registration Statemenfom S-1
(File No. 333-176097), filed on November 17, 2011)

10.28* Form of Employment Agreement, between Chuy’s Hadirinc., Chuy’s Opco, Inc. and certain employees
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of Amherent No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Forb(Sle No.
333-176097), filed on November 16, 2011)

10.29* Chuy’s Holdings, Inc. Senior Management IncentilenRincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34Aafendment
No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-te (Ro. 333-176097), filed on July 11, 2012)
10.30 Consent and First Amendment to Credit Agreemerigddas of March 21, 2012, by and among Chuy’s Ojpo, as

borrower, the persons designated on the signaagesithereto as guarantors, the lenders partytohemd GClI
Capital Markets LLC, as administrative agent fédexhders (incorporated by reference to Exhibi350of
Amendment No. 5 to the Registration Statement amF®-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on May 17, 2p12

10.31 Agreement Relating to Termination of Advisory Agment, dated as of March 21, 2012, between ChuyQOpc.
and Goode Partners LLC (incorporated by refereadexhibit 10.36 of Amendment No. 5 to the Registrat
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-176097), fdadMay 17, 2012)

10.32* Chuy’s Holdings, Inc. Amended and Restated 2006KS@ption Plan (incorporated by reference to ExHibi37 of
Amendment No. 5 to the Registration Statement amF®-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on May 17, 2p12
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10.33*

10.34

21.1

23.1+
31.1+
31.2+
32.1+

101.INS+

101.SCH+
101.CAL+
101.DEF+
101.LAB+
101.PRE+

Voting Agreement, dated July 9, 2012, by and am®ogde Chuy’s Holdings, LLC, MY/ZP Equity, LP, Goode
Chuy’s Direct Investors, LLC, J.P. Morgan U.S. Bir€orporate Finance Institutional Investors llICland 522 Fifth
Avenue Fund, L.P. (incorporated by reference toiltixa0.38 of Amendment No. 7 to the Registratidat&ment on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-176097), filed on July 1012)

Credit Agreement, dated November 30, 2012, by amohg Chuy’s Holdings, Inc., as borrower, the sulasids of
Chuy’s Holdings, Inc., as guarantors, and WellgBdank, N.A., as administrative agent, swinglieeder, issuing
lender and lender (incorporated by reference talixh0.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Forig,8iled on
December 6, 2012)

Subsidiaries of Chuy’s Holdings, Inc. (incorporatgdreference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Regtion
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-176097), fdadAugust 5, 2011)

Consent of McGladrey LLP
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chieinancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section(,3% adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- OxleyoA2002

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutne
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenim

* Indicates management contract or compensatiary or arrangement.

+  Filed herewith
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Chuy’s Holdings, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Chuy’'s Holdings, Inc. and subsidiagssof December 29, 201&hc
December 30, 2012 , and the related consolidattdrsents of income, stockholdeesjuity, and cash flows for each of the three yaaike
period ended December 29, 2013 . These financ&brsents are the responsibility of the Companypanagement. Our responsibility i
express an opinion on these financial statemerssdoan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastiééments are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hasewere we engaged to perform, an audit of itsrivdl control over financial reportir
Our audits included consideration of internal cohtiver financial reporting as a basis for desigradit procedures that are appropriate il
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsaimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compairyternal control over financial reportii
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An aulibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and disclosure
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made bypagement, as well as evaluating
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeeferred to above present fairly, in all materégspects, the financial position of Chsy’
Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December293 and December 30, 2012nd the results of their operations and theih damwvs fol
each of the three years in the period ended DeceR®013 , in conformity with U.S. generally aptad accounting principles.

/sl McGladrey LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 11, 2014
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CHUY’S HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 29, 2013 December 30, 2012

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 532 $ 5,85¢
Accounts receivable 63€ 564
Lease incentives receivable 1,93: 4,21z
Inventories 70t 621
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,82¢ 1,73(
Total current assets 10,42: 12,98:
Property and equipment, net 93,52( 69,74¢
Other assets and intangible assets, net 1,25( 1,021
Tradename 21,90( 21,90(
Goodwill 24,06¢ 24,06¢
Total assets $ 151,16 $ 129,72:

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $ 4,62 $ 3,46
Accrued liabilities 9,90z 10,88:
Deferred lease incentives 1,33t 1,04«
Current deferred tax liability 89 27t
Total current liabilities 15,94° 15,66:
Deferred tax liability 4,05¢ 4,18¢
Accrued deferred rent 3,50z 1,90z
Deferred lease incentives, less current portion 17,167 15,501
Long-term debt 6,00( 5,00(C
Total liabilities 46,67 42,25¢

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 60,000,000 shatt®ared; 16,385,683 shares issued and
outstanding at December 29, 2013 and 15,918,42@slssued and outstanding at December 30,
2012 164 15¢

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 15,000,000 steart®rized and no shares issued or outstanding
December 29, 2013 and December 30, 2012 — —

Paid-in capital 86,25¢ 80,30"
Retained earnings 18,06¢ 6,991
Total stockholders’ equity 104,48t 87,46

&

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 151,16: $ 129,72

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CHUY’'S HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Income
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales
Labor
Operating
Occupancy
General and administrative
Advisory agreement termination fee
Secondary offering costs
Settlement with former director
Marketing
Restaurant pre-opening
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expenses
Income from operations
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Interest expense, net
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income
Undistributed earnings allocated to participatinggiests
Net income available to common stockholders
Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic

Diluted

Fiscal Year Ended

December 29, 2013 December 30, 2012 December 25, 2011

$ 204,36: $ 172,64C $ 130,58:

55,89 46,47 36,13¢

66,56: 55,22! 41,548

29,27¢ 24,49¢ 19,29’

12,26: 10,33: 7,62

10,01 9,35¢ 7,47¢

— 2,00 —

92t 22€ —

— — 24E

1,30€ 1,31¢ 964

3,88¢ 3,38: 3,38¢

8,85¢ 6,52¢ 4,44¢

188,98° 159,34/ 121,12

15,37 13,29¢ 9,46(

— 1,67¢ 78

10¢ 3,92 4,28t

15,26¢ 7,70C 5,00¢

4,19¢ 2,24: 1,63

11,06¢ 5,457 3,46¢

— 2,171 3,42:

$ 11,06¢ $ 3,28¢ $ 41
$ 0.6¢ $ 0.4¢ $ 0.21
$ 0.6€ $ 037 $ 0.2(
16,276,99 6,809,57 191,16¢
16,677,38 12,893,29 10,852,65

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-4






Table of Contents

CHUY’'S HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

For the Fiscal Years Ended December 29, 2013 , Dedeer 30, 2012 and December 25, 2011

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Common Stock Convertible Preferred Stock

Paid-in Retained
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Earnings Total
Balance, December 26, 2010 169,80t $ 2 10,657,25 $ 107 $ 36,13 $ 4,728 $ 40,96¢
Stock-based compensation — — — — 352 — 352
Non-cash settlement with former
director — — — — 70 — 70
Dividends declared and paid — — — — (12,369 (6,649 (19,010
Sale of stock and exercise of stock
options 38,69¢ — — — 18z — 18<
Temporary equity related to put option — — — — (432 — (432)
Deferred compensation contributed
stockholder — — — — 32 — 32
Net income — — — — — 3,46¢ 3,46¢
Balance, December 25, 2011 208,50! 2 10,657,25 107 23,97¢ 1,54( 25,62’
Stock-based compensation — — — — 32¢ — 32¢
Purchase of stock (15,627 — (1,640,03) a7 (22,45Y) — (22,47
Sale of common stock from initial
public offering, net of fees and
expenses 6,708,33. 67 — — 78,02t — 78,09:
Expiration of put option reclassed frc
temporary equity — — — — 432 — 432
Conversion of convertible preferred
stock to common stock 9,017,21 9C (9,017,21) (90) — — —
Net income — — — — — 5,457 5,457
Balance, December 30, 2012 15,918,422 15¢ — — 80,30° 6,997 87,46:
Stock-based compensation — — — — 531 — 531
Proceeds from exercise of stock
options 467,25t 5 — — 1,43( — 1,43t
Excess tax benefit from stock-basec
compensation — — — — 3,99( — 3,99(
Net Income — — — — — 11,06¢ 11,06¢
Balance, December 29, 2013 16,385,68 $ 164 — % — $ 86,25¢ $ 18,06t $ 104,48t

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CHUY’'S HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended
December 29, 2013 December 30, 2012 December 25, 2011

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 11,06¢ $ 5,451 3,46¢

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 8,85¢ 6,52¢ 4,44¢
Amortization of loan origination costs 45 24¢ 28t
Write-off of loan origination costs associated widlydown of long-term debt — 1,67 78
Stock-based compensation 531 32¢ 352
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation (3,990 — —
Deferred compensation contributed by stockholder — — 32
Non-cash settlement with former director — — 70
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 61 56 44
Amortization of deferred lease incentives (1,242 (84¢) (620
Deferred income taxes (319 1,76( 1,19¢

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (72 (119 (44)
Inventories (84 4 (209
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (96) (69€) (80)
Accounts payable (610 1,381 204
Accrued liabilities and deferred rent 4,612 3,90¢ 2,761
Deferred lease incentives 5,47: 5,032 5,361
Net cash provided by operating activities 24,24 24,70 17,35¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (30,90 (27,246 (20,797
Purchase of other assets (299) (179 (152
Net proceeds on note receivable — — 11t
Net cash used in investing activities (31,199 (27,42% (20,839
Cash flows from financing activities:

Payments on long-term debt — (82,000 (28,48)
Borrowings on long-term debt — 29,50( 52,50(
Dividend payments — — (29,010
Purchase of stock — (22,47¢) —
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of undéngrfees — 81,10« 18¢
Deferred offering costs — (2,137%) (87%)
Borrowings under revolving line of credit 3,00( 7,25( 3,70C
Payments under revolving line of credit (2,000 (4,950 (3,250
Loan origination costs — (549 (1,799
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 3,99( — —
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 1,43¢ — —
Net cash provided by financing activities 6,42t 5,75( 2,96¢
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Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing arahting activities:
Property and equipment and other assets acquiraddnunts payable

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Deferred offering costs not yet paid

Deferred offering costs paid in 2011 reclassedjigtg

(532) 3,02¢ (510)

5,85¢ 2,821 3,331

$ 532: $ 585 $ 2,821
$ 1,767 $ — 3 —
$ 13C $ 4227 $ 4,06(
$ 685 $ 382 $ 317
$ — — 762
$ — 87t % —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CHUY’'S HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except stuadeper share data)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Busines:

Chuy’s Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (tR®mpany”), through its wholly owned subsidiary, @ts Opco, Inc., owns and oper:
restaurants in Texas and 13 states in the Souéraamtd Midwestern United States. All of the Comypanestaurants operate under the r
Chuy’s. The Company had 48 , 39, and 31 restasirastof December 29, 2013, December 30, 204@ Dacember 25, 2011 , respectively.

Chuy’s was founded in Austin, Texas in 1982 anampto 2006, operated as Chuy’s Comida Deluxe, (f€huy’s”). The Company wz
incorporated and acquired in November 2006 by GadBHay’'s Holdings, LLC, an affiliate of Goode Panmme LC (the “Sponsor”)the
controlling stockholder. Subsequent to Decembe28Q2, in connection with the secondary offerifig Sponsor is no longer the control
stockholder.

On July 27, 2012, the Company completed the inftighlic offering (“IPO”) of its common stock. Theo@pany issued 6,708,33hare
including shares sold to the underwriters pursuantheir overallotment option. The Company receivied proceeds from the offering
approximately $78.1 million . The net proceeds additional Company funds were used to repay loatstanding under the Compasycredi
facility.

Principles of Consolidatior

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeriside the accounts of the Company and its wholiyned subsidiaries. All significe
intercompany balances and transactions have begimaied.

Certain amounts in the prior periods presented ten reclassified to conform to the current pefindncial statement presentation. Tt
reclassifications have no effect on previously reggnet income.

Fiscal Year

The Company utilizes a 52- or 5&ek fiscal year that ends on the last Sundayettiendar year. The fiscal year ended Decembe2(BO
consisted of 53 weeks. The fiscal years ended Dieee9, 2013 and December 25, 2011 each had S&wee

Accounting Estimate:

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with GAAP requires managementake estimates and assumptions
affect certain reported amounts of assets anditiabiand disclosure of contingent assets andliligis at the date of the financial statem:
and the reported amounts of revenues and expemsti®fperiod. Actual results could differ fromipsites.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all cash and sherr investments with original maturities of thnemnths or less as cash equivalents. Amc
receivable from credit card processors are consitleash equivalents because they are both shtatrmand highly liquid in nature, and
typically converted to cash within three businesgsdof the sales transactions.

Lease Incentives Receivak

Lease incentives receivable consist of receivaitas landlords provided for under the lease agregm finance leasehold improvements.
Inventories

Inventories consist of food, beverage, and mercsarehd are stated at the lower of cost (firsfitat-out method) or market.
Restaurant Pr-opening Costs

Restaurant pre-opening costs consist primarily ahager salaries, relocation costs, supplies, targuexpenses, travel and lodging, pre
opening activities, employee payroll and relatedhing costs for employees at the new location. Chmpany expenses such mgening cos
as incurred. Pre-opening costs also include remtrded during the period between date of possessidrihe restaurant opening date.

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, lemsraulated depreciation. Equipment consists prignafi restaurant equipment, furnitu
fixtures and smallwares. Depreciation is calculatsithg the straighline method over the estimated useful life of thkated asset, which ran
from 3 to 7 years. Expenditures for major additiandg improvements are capitalized. Leasehold
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improvements are capitalized and amortized usiegsthaightine method over the shorter of the lease termuding option periods that ¢
reasonably assured of renewal, or the estimatddluge of the asset, which ranges from 5 to 2@nge

Leases

The Company leases land and/or buildings for itpa@te office and all of its restaurants undeiotes longterm operating lease agreeme
The Company uses a lease life that begins on tteetbat the Company takes possession under the, lgaduding the prepening perio
during construction, when in many cases the Commmngt making rent payments (“Rent Holiday”).

Certain of the Compang’operating leases contain predetermined fixedagmas of the minimum rent during the originalrteof the lease. F
these leases and those with a Rent Holiday, thep@oynrecognizes the related rent expense on @lsttaie basis over the lease term
records the difference between the amounts chaogeperations and amounts paid, as accrued deferntd

In addition, certain of the Comparsybperating leases contain clauses that providadditional contingent rent based on a percenthgale:
greater than certain specified target amounts.démpany recognizes contingent rent expense pritrg@chievement of the specified ta
that triggers the contingent rent, provided achieset of the target is considered probable.

Leasehold improvements financed by the landloréubh lease incentive allowances are capitalizedh Wit lease incentive allowan
recorded as deferred lease incentives. Such lelasieorovements are amortized on a straight linesaver the lesser of the life of the ass
the defined lease term, which includes option mpkriehich are reasonably assured of renewal. Defde@se incentives are amortized ¢
straight-line basis over the same defined lease, tend are recorded as a reduction of occupanansep

Other Assets and Intangible Assets

Other assets and intangible assets include ligisendes, lease acquisition costs and loan originatiosts and are stated at cost,
accumulated amortization.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over theviaiue of assets of the businesses acquired. Ghddwot amortized, but is subject
impairment tests at least annually. The Companfopes tests to assess potential impairments offitsteday of the fourth quarter or duri
the year if an event or other circumstance ind#tat goodwill may be impaired. The impairmentleation for goodwill is conducted usin
two-step process. In the first step, the fair valuthefreporting unit is compared to the carrying ampimcluding goodwill. If the estimated f
value is less than the carrying amount, then arskstep must be completed in order to determinatheunt of the goodwill impairment tl
should be recorded. In the second step, the imgéadvalue of the goodwill is determined by alltiog fair value to all of its assets ¢
liabilities, other than goodwill, in a manner siaritto a purchase price allocation. If the resuliimglied fair value of the goodwill that rest
from the application of this second step is lesanthhe carrying amount of the goodwill, an impainneharge is recorded for f
difference. Based on the Company’s analysis, naaimpent charges were recognized on goodwill for ttiree years endebecember 2!
2013.

Indefinite Life Intangibles

Intangible assets acquired in a business combimatial determined to have an indefinite useful dife not amortized because there i
foreseeable limit to the cash flows generated byirtkangible asset, and have no legal, contraatei@llatory, economic or competitive limiti
factors.

The annual impairment evaluation for indefinite litangible assets includes a comparison of thetascarrying value to the assetair value
When the carrying value exceeds fair value, an impant charge is recorded for the amount of théedéhce. The Company also annu
evaluates intangible assets that are not beingta@adrto determine whether events and circumstacgegnue to support an indefinite ust
life. If an intangible asset that is not being atized is determined to have a finite useful lifeg asset will be amortized prospectively ove
estimated remaining useful life and accountedrfdhe same manner as intangible assets subjectddiaation.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company reviews longred assets, such as property and equipment aadgibles, subject to amortization, for impairmestiien events
circumstances indicate the carrying value of theetssmay not be recoverable. In determining theverability of the asset value, an analys
performed at the individual restaurant level ananprily includes an assessment of historical cdetwvsd and other relevant factors
circumstances. Negative restaurbavtel cash flow is considered a potential impairtriedicator. In such situations, the Company evaisidai
values through support with third party sourcefuture cash flow projections in conjunction withadjtative factors and future operating ple
Recoverability of assets to be held and used isuored by a comparison of the carrying amount ofréiséaurant to the estimated fair valu
the carrying amount of the restaurant exceedsstimated fair value, an impairment charge is recghby the amount by which the carry
amount exceeds the fair value.
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The Companys impairment assessment process requires the usstiofates and assumptions regarding future castsfland operatir
outcomes, which are based upon a significant degfeaanagement judgment. The Company assessestf@rpance of restaurants :
monitors the need for future impairment. Changesdonomic environment, real estate markets, capjpahding and overall operat
performance could impact these estimates and ri@sfulture impairment charges.

Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instrument:

The Company uses a thréer value hierarchy, which classifies the inpusgd in measuring fair values, in determining thHe Walue of th
Company's non-financial assets and fioancial liabilities. These tiers include: Leveldefined as observable inputs such as quotedspita
identical instruments in active markets; Level &fimed as inputs other than quoted prices in actiaekets that are either directly or indire
observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservabplatsnin which little or no market data exists, #fere requiring an entity to develop its ¢
assumptions. There were no changes in the methadssomptions used in measuring fair value dutiegpieriod.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalantgunts receivable and accounts payable at Dece28b@013 andDecember 30, 20:
approximate their fair value due to the short-tenaturities of these financial instruments. The Camys longterm debt has a variable intel
rate and therefore rgrices frequently and entails no significant chaimgeredit risk and as a result the fair value agpnates the carryir
value.

Loan Origination Costs

Loan origination costs are capitalized and amadtiager the term of the related debt agreement t&seist expense, using the straight
method for the Company's $25.0 millisacured revolving credit facility (the "Revolvinge@it Facility") entered into on November 30, 2
and the effective interest method for the Compafig’s.5 millionsenior secured credit facility (the "Old Credit Hiac') that the Compan
entered into on May 24, 2011 and paid in full invmber 2012.

Revenue Recoghnitio

Revenue from restaurant operations (food, beveaagealcohol sales) and merchandise sales are ligedgmpon payment by the custome
the time of sale. Revenues are reflected net e§gak and certain discounts and allowances.

Proceeds from the sale of gift cards are recordedederred revenue at the time of sale and recednas revenue upon redemption by
customer. Breakage is recognized on unredeemedcaifts based upon historical redemption patternenwthe Company determines
likelihood of redemption of the gift card by thestomer is remote. Any gift card breakage was imnadtfor all periods presented.

Marketing

The Company expenses the printing of menus and gtteenotional materials as incurred. The costsarhimunity service and sponsors
activities are expensed on the expected timinpade events. Marketing expense was $1.3 millidh3 illion , and $1.0 milliorior the year
ended December 29, 2013, December 30, 2012 acehileer 25, 2011 , respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company maintains an equity incentive plan umdech it allows the Company's board of directirgrant stock options, restricted stc
and other equityyased awards to directors, officers, and key engalsyf the Company. The plans provide for grantihgptions to purcha:
shares of common stock at an exercise price nstthes the fair value of the stock on the daterahy The Company recognizes stdise:
compensation in accordance with the Financial Anting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standataslification ("ASC") Topic 71
("Topic 718"). Stock-based compensation cost inefudompensation cost for all shéwased payments granted based on the grant da
value estimated in accordance with the provisioh3apic 718. Compensation cost is recognized onraightline basis, net of estimat
forfeitures, over the requisite service period aleaward.

Income Tax Matters

Income tax provisions are comprised of federal atate taxes currently due, plus deferred taxeserexl tax assets and liabilities
recognized for future tax consequences attributabldne temporary difference between the finanstatement carrying amounts of exis
assets and liabilities and their respective taxsbd@eferred tax assets and liabilities are measusing enacted tax rates expected to apj
taxable income in the years in which those tempodiiferences are expected to be recovered oregetideferred tax assets are recogr
when management considers the realization of thesets in future periods to be more likely than Rature taxable income, adjustment
temporary differences, available carryforward pasiand changes in tax laws could affect these attsn

Deferred Offering Cost:

The Company incurred costs related to its initiabl offering. These costs were deferred and debras an offset to the proceeds fromn
offering and recorded to equity at the time of igs
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Segment Reportin

The FASB issued ASC 280, Segment Reporting, whithbdished standards for disclosures about produntsservices, geographic areas
major customers. The Company currently operatesepating segment; full-service, casual diningxMan food restaurants.

Revenue from customers is derived principally fimod and beverage sales and the Company doeslypair@ny major customers as a so!
of revenue.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

The Company's management reviewed all significamwtlyrissued accounting pronouncements and concludeghitfitht the exception of tt
pronouncement below, they either are not applicabléhe Company's operations or that no matericefis expected on the Compal
consolidated financial statements as a resulttoféuadoption.

In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standddgslate ("ASU") number 20181, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation ¢
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Ll@agyforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Creditr@forward Exists —a consensus
the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force. ASU 2013jenerally requires, with some exceptions, aityeiat present its unrecognized tax ben
as it relates to its net operating loss carryfodsasimilar tax losses, or tax credit carryforwaras a reduction of deferred tax assets \
settlement is available under the tax law of thgliapble taxing jurisdiction as of the balance sheeorting date. It is effective prospectiv
for fiscal years, and interim periods within thogears, beginning after December 15, 2013. Retrospeapplication is permitted. T
Company does not anticipate a material impactfiriincial position, results of operations or cislvs as a result of this change.

2 . NET INCOME PER SHARE

The number of shares and earnings per share daRS() for all periods presented are based on thidal weightedaverage shares
common stock outstanding. EPS for the years endebmber 30, 2012 and December 25, 2011 is compgiad the tweelass method. Ti
two-class method determines EPS for common stock artitipating securities according to dividends andidénd equivalents and th
respective participation rights in undistributedrséags. The Compang’convertible preferred stockholders were entittececeive dividends
the event dividends on the Company’s common stoetewleclared. As a result, the shares of the Copmpaonvertible preferred stock w
deemed to be participating securities.

In connection with the IPO, all preferred stock whatorily converted to common stock on a 1: 1 basis.

Basic EPS of common stock was computed by dividiagincome, less the undistributed earnings alimtéd participating interests, by
weightedaverage number of shares of common stock outstgridirthe period. Due to the issuance of the setipseferred stock in 2010, t
basic EPS was computed by dividing net income, tlesoriginal investment of $5.0 million in serigpreferred stock and annualizd.0%
preferred return and the undistributed earningscated to participating interests, by the weigtdedrage number of shares of common ¢
outstanding for the period. The original investmiengeries X preferred stock and the 20.pféferred return was required to be paid to set
preferred stockholders prior to any payment ofdbwids to the common stockholders.

Diluted EPS of common stock is computed on thesbakihe weightedwverage number of shares of common stock plusfthet ®f dilutive
potential shares of common stock equivalents oudétg during the period using the treasury stockhoe for dilutive options and the
converted method for dilutive convertible preferstdck. The numerator is net income less the medereturn and undistributed earnings
the series X preferred stock as this series ofepred stock was antiilutive using the if converted method. For all ipds presente
undistributed earnings allocated to participatintgiests related to the series A preferred stodksamnies B preferred stock were not dedt
from net income for purposes of calculating diluednings per share because the diluted earnimghpee gave effect to the conversion of
preferred stock into common stock as of the begimoif the year.
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The computation of basic and diluted net incomespeare is as follows:

Year Ended
December 29, 2013 December 30, 2012 December 25, 2011
BASIC
NUMERATOR:
Net income $ 11,06¢ $ 5457 % 3,46¢
Less: liquidation preference and preferred returiseries X preferred stock — 577 1,121
Less: undistributed earnings allocated to partiaigainterest — 1,594 2,30z
Net income available to common stockholders $ 11,06¢ $ 3,28t $ 41
DENOMINATOR:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 16,276,99 6,809,571 191,16t
Basic net income per common share $ 0.6¢ $ 0.4t $ 0.21
DILUTED
NUMERATOR:
Net income $ 11,06¢ $ 5457 $ 3,464
Less: liquidation preference and preferred returiseries X preferred stock — 577 1,121
Less: undistributed earnings allocated to partiaigainterest — 91 131
Net income available to common and participatirglsholders $ 11,06¢ $ 4,78¢ $ 2,21
DENOMINATOR:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 16,276,99 6,809,57! 191,16t
Dilutive effect of preferred stock conversion — 5,356,89 10,049,57
Dilutive effect of stock options 400,38t 726,81¢ 611,91:
Weighted-average of diluted shares 16,677,38 12,893,29 10,852,65
Diluted net income per common share $ 0.6 $ 037 $ 0.2(

3 . PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The major classes of property and equipment asecEBber 29, 2013 and December 30, 2012 are sunadaizfollows:

December 29, 2013 December 30, 2012

Leasehold improvements $ 69,05¢ $ 48,92¢
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 38,32( 29,39(
Construction in progress 10,79¢ 7,38¢

118,17: 85,69¢
Less accumulated depreciation (24,657 (15,95)
Total property and equipment, net $ 93,52( $ 69,74¢

Depreciation exp ense was $8.8 million , $6.5 willand $4.4 million for the years ended Decembe@®3 , December 30, 2012 and
December 25, 2011 , res pectively.
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4 . OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The major classes of other assets and other irtisgassets along with related accumulated ambadizat December 29, 2013 abé&cembe
30, 2012 are summarized as follows:

Average Life 2013 2012
at December  Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated
29, 2013 Amount Amortization Net Amount Amount Amortization Net Amount
Finite-lived assets:
Loan origination costs 3.99% 22t $ (49 % 17¢ % 21€ % 4 $ 21z
Lease acquisition costs 13.0 1,19t (199 99¢ 90¢ (139 774
Total finite-lived assets 1,41¢ (243) 1,17¢ 1,12¢ (13¢) 98¢
Indefinite-lived assets:
Liguor license 75 — 75 35 — 35
Total indefinite-lived assets 75 — 75 35 — 35
Total other assets and other intangible assets $ 149 $ (245 $ 1,25 $ 1,15¢ % (13¢) $ 1,021

Amortization expense was $0.1 million , $2.0 mitliand $0.4 million for the years ended Decembe2293 , December 30, 2012 and
December 25, 2011 , respectively. Amortization @geefor the year ended December 30, 2012 excluueadvtite off ofunamortized loa
origination costs which are included in the "Lossextinguishment of debt" line item in the consatitl statements of income.

The following table represents the total estimatembrtization of intangible assets for the five sexting fiscal years:

For the Fiscal Years Ended:

2014 $ 10¢
2015 10¢
2016 10¢
2017 10t
2018 62
Thereafter 681

$ 1,17t

5.LONG-TERM DEBT
Revolving Credit Facility

On November 30, 2012, the Company entered into520$%2illion Revolving Credit Facilityvith Wells Fargo Bank, National Association.
the same date, the Company repaid all debt outsigiushder the Old Credit Facility using borrowirfgsm the new Revolving Credit Facili
In connection with the repayment of debt outstagdinder the Company's Old Credit Facility, the Qlekdit Facility was terminated. As
result of the repayment of outstanding debt andtémmination of the Old Credit Facility, the Comparecorded a $1.7 milliofoss o1
extinguishment of debt to write off the unamortizeadn origination fees. As of December 29, 2013 @mmpany had $6.0 milliorof
outstanding indebtedness under the Company's nemhReg Credit Facility. The Company's Revolving edit Facility will mature ot
November 30, 201.

Under the Company's Revolving Credit Facility , @@mpany may request to increase the size of tep@ny's Revolving Credit Facilityy
up to $25.0 million , in minimum principal amourd&$5.0 million or the remaining amount of the $2illion if less than $5.0 million (the
Incremental Revolving Loan "), which IncrementavBleing Loanwill be effective after 10 days written notice tetagent. In the event tl
any of the lenders fund the Incremental Revolvingh , the terms and provisions of the IncremengaidRing Loanwill be the same as unc
the Company's Revolving Credit Facility .

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facilggnerally bear interest at a variable rate based tipe Company's election, of (i) the base
(which is the highest of prime rate, federal funate plus 0.5% or one month LIBOR) plus 1%r (ii) LIBOR, plus, in either case, an applic
margin based on the Company's consolidated taaaskl@djusted leverage ratio (as defined in the IRiegoCredit Facilityagreement). Tt
Company's Revolving Credit Faciliplso requires payment for commitment fees thatuscon the daily unused commitment of the lend
the applicable margin, which varies based on themamy's consolidated total lease adjusted leveratie. As of December 29, 2018e
Company's interest rate was 1.92% . The revolving
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line of credit also requires compliance with a éb@harge coverage ratio, a lease adjusted leveatigeand certain non-financial covenants.

As a result of entering into the Revolving CreditcHity, the Company paid loan origination costsagproximately $225,00felated to th
Revolving Credit Facility, and will amortize thelean origination costs over the term of the craditeement.

The obligations under the Company’s Revolving Gre&dcility are secured by a first priority lien sabstantially all of the Company’s assets.

6 . ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The major classes of accrued liabilities at Decar2Be 2013 and December 30, 2012 are summarizéadlawss:

December 29, 2013  December 30, 2012

Accrued compensation and related benefits $ 4,12: $ 4,28¢
Other accruals 2,18¢ 3,16¢
Sales and use tax 1,49: 1,50¢
Property tax 1,00¢ 861
Deferred gift card revenue 1,09t 1,062

Total accrued liabilities $ 9,90: % 10,88:
7 . LEASES

The Company leases land and buildings for its aateooffice and all of its restaurants under vagimngterm operating lease agreements.

initial lease terms range from 10 years to 20 yaascurrently expire between 2016 and 2034 . €heds include renewal options for 2t
additional years. Some of the leases provide feelrant, plus additional rent based on gross satedgefined in each lease agreement.

Company is also generally obligated to pay centaal estate taxes, insurance and common area mairge (“CAM”) charges, and vario

other expenses related to properties.

Rent expense is paid to various landlords includiengeral companies owned and controlled by the @owyip founders.

At December 29, 2013 , the future minimum rentahootments under nonancellable operating leases, for opened resteugard thos
under development, including option periods thatraasonably assured of renewal are as follows:

Related Party Unrelated Parties Total
Fiscal year ending:
2014 $ 1,88 $ 9,97 % 11,85¢
2015 1,89¢ 10,91( 12,80¢
2016 1,921 10,93¢ 12,85¢
2017 1,30¢ 10,81" 12,12¢
2018 1,322 10,72¢ 12,04¢
Thereafter 96¢ 110,72« 111,69:
Total minimum lease payments $ 9,30¢ $ 164,08! $ 173,38

Additionally, the Company has entered in to thessk agreements related to the development ofie frgstaurant subsequenttecember 2!
2013 . The Company’s future commitments relatinthtse leases are $7.9 million .

The above future minimum rental amounts excludeathertization of deferred lease incentives, renepébns that are not reasonably ass
of renewal, and contingent rent. The Company gdlgenas escalating rents over the term of the leasel records rent expense on a straig!
line basis.




Table of Contents

Rent expense, excluding real estate taxes, CAMgelsainsurance, deferred lease incentives and eipemses related to operating lease
the years ended December 29, 2013 , Decembef3Q,&hd December 25, 2011 consists of the following

2013 2012 2011
Minimum rent—related parties $ 1,93C $ 187¢ $ 1,74¢
Contingent rent—related parties 54: 531 472
Total rent—related parties 2,47: 2,41( 2,221
Minimum rent—unrelated parties 7,94¢ 5,96¢ 4,02¢
Contingent rent—unrelated parties 237 272 197
Total rent—unrelated parties 8,18: 6,24( 4,22¢
Total minimum and contingent rent $ 10,65 $ 8,65( $ 6,44¢

8 . STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Public Offerings

The following table summarizes our public offeringfscommon stock, all of which have been registareder the Securities Act of 1933
amended):

Date Number of Shares Net Proceeds Use of Proceeds
IPO July 27, 2012 6,708,332 $78,100 @
Secondary January 30, 2013 5,175,000 — ®
Secondary April 17, 2013 3,000,000 — ®

@  Proceeds were used to repay amounts outstandireg threlOld Credit Facilit

®  The Company did not receive any proceeds fromwulesecondary offerings as all shares sold in tlferiofys were owned by cert:
of the Company's existing stockholders.

The selling stockholders paid all of the undenmgtidiscounts and commissions associated with the fashares in the two second
offerings; however, the Company incurred costs @agistration expenses related to the offeringspifraximately $925,000 an$i228,001
during the year ended December 29, 2013 and Deae3Gh2012 , respectively.

Convertible Preferred Stock

In accordance with the Company’s certificate ofoiporation and effective immediately prior to tHesing of the IPO on July 27, 2012ll
preferred stock mandatorily converted into commoglson a 1: 1 basis.

Share Repurchase

On April 6, 2012 , the Company repurchased 15,627 15640,035 shares of common and preferred steskectively, totaling22.5 millior
including expenses.

9 . EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Chuy’s Opco, Inc. 401(k) plan, (the “401(k)riPhais a defined contribution plan covering all eligildmployees. The 401(k) Plan provi
for employee sa lary deferral contributions uphe maximum amount allowable by the Internal Reveberrice (“IRS”),as well as Compal
discretionary matching contributions. Company dbntions relating to the 401(k) Plan were $151,0@119,000 and $80,000 fathe year
ended December 29, 2013, December 30, 2012 acehileer 25, 2011 , respectively.

10 . STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has outstanding awards under the 206 Phe outstanding options vest 20% on eachfitkt five anniversaries of the d:
of grant and have a maximum term ofyiars. In connection with the IPO, the Company teated the 2006 Plan, and no further awards
be granted under the 2006 Plan. The terminatioth®f2006 Plan did not affect awards outstandingeuride 2006 Plan at the time of
termination and the terms of the 2006 Plan contiougpovern those outstanding awards.

In connection with the IPO, the Company adopted20&2 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plamhich allows the Company’
Board of Directors to grant stock options, restricistock, and other equibased awards to directors, officers, and key enggsyof th
Company. The 2012 Plan provides for granting ofamystto purchase shares of common stock at anisgeurce not less than the fair valu
the stock on the date of grant. The outstandingogtvest 20% on each of the first five
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anniversaries of the date of grant and have a maxiterm of 10 years. As of December 29, 2013 ta tf 1,079,05&hares of common stc
are reserved and remain available for issuanceruhde€012 Plan.

Stock-based compensation cost recognized in themgeanying consolidated income statements was $681,8329,000 and $352,00dr the
yearsended December 29, 2013 , December 30, 2012 arehfiter 25, 2011 , respectively.

A summary of stock-based compensation activity @rahges for the year ended December 29, 2013 dodass:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate
Exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price (Year) Value
Outstanding and expected to vest as of Decemb&(3®2, 1,052,86. $ 5.2¢
Granted 147,89:. 29.0¢
Exercised (467,25¢) 3.0¢
Forfeited (3,629 17.3¢
Outstanding and expected to vest as of Decembe&t(A%R 729.87- 11.4¢ 571 § 18,38«
Exercisable as of December 29, 2013 44721 5.51 416 $ 13,91¢

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abowbtsined by subtracting the weighted average eseprice from the estimated fair value of
the underlying common stock as of December 29, 20ttBmultiplying this result by the related numbgoptions outstanding and exercise
at December 29, 2013 . The estimated fair valutdh@fcommon stock as of December 29, 2013 useceimblove calculation was $36.68I
share, the closing price of the Company’s commogksbn December 27, 2013, the last trading dathefyear. The total intrinsic value
options exercised during the year ended Decemhe2®@® was $11.2 million .

The weighted-average grant date fair value of mgtigranted was $11.05 , $6.07 and $5.71 per stlarig the years endddecember 2!
2013 , December 30, 2012 and December 25, 201specévely, as estimated at the date of grant usiagBlackScholes pricing model wi
the following weighted-average assumptions:

2013 2012 2011
Dividend yield —% —% —%
Expected volatility 43% 44% 44%
Risk-free rate of return 0.8(% 0.6&% 3.3€%
Expected life (in years) 5 5 7.5

The assumptions above represent managemdmast estimates, but these estimates involve eénharncertainties and the applicatior
managemens judgment. The expected life of options grantedhdu2011 was based on the simplified method dfredtng expected term. T
expected term of options granted during 2012 ariB2@as based on a representative peer group wititasiemployee groups and expec
behavior. The riskree rate for periods within the contractual lifetlee option is based on the U.S. Treasury consteattrities rate in effect
the time of grant. The Company utilized a weightse for expected volatility based on a represemtgteer group within the industry.

There was approximately $1.9 milli@f total unrecognized compensation costs relategptmns granted under the 2006 Plan and the
Plan as of December 29, 2013 . These costs wikbaegnized ratably through the year 2018 the event of a change of control, approxiny
$369,000 of the Company’s unrecognized compensatists would be immediately recognized.

One significant factor in determining the fair valaf the Company’s options, when using the Bl&ckwoles option pricing model, is the
value of the common stock underlying those stodikoop. The Company was a private company with nivag@ublic market for its commi
stock prior to its IPO. During that time, the boarfddirectors obtained a contemporaneous valuattady from an independent thipaty
valuation firm. In performing its valuation analysithe valuation firm engaged in discussions witanagement, analyzed historical
forecasted financial statements and reviewed thagaoys corporate documents. In addition, these valuatiodies were based on a nun
of assumptions, including industry, general ecompmiarket and other conditions that could reasgnakel evaluated at the time of

valuation.

After the consummation of the IPO, the fair valfieghe Companys common stock is based on the market price a®edumnt the Nasdaq Stc
Market.
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11 . INCOME TAXES

The provision for federal and state income taxesHe years ended December 29, 2013 , Decemb@03@, and December 25, 20&dnsiste
of the following:

2013 2012 2011

Current Income Tax Expense

Federal $ —  $ —  $ —

State 778 48: 43¢
Total Current income tax expense 77t 48: 43¢
Deferred income tax expense

Federal 3,21¢€ 1,552 75E

State 20t 20¢ 443
Total deferred income tax expense 3,421 1,76( 1,19¢
Total income tax expense $ 4,19¢ $ 2,24: % 1,63¢

Temporary difference between tax and financial repg basis of assets and liabilities that give tis the deferred income tax assets (liabili
and their related tax effects as of December 2932d December 30, 2012 are as follows:

2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 4571 % 5,80(
Accrued liabilities 363 773
General business credits 7,582 4,46¢
Stock-based compensation 53€ 551
Other 107 62
Total deferred tax assets 13,15¢ 11,65(
Deferred tax liability:
Intangibles (7,129 (6,05%)
Prepaid expenses (389 (29¢)
Property and equipment (9,779 (9,219
Other (26) (542)
Total deferred tax liabilities (17,30¢) (16,117)
Net deferred liabilities $ 4,147 $ (4,467

The Company'’s net operating loss carry forward 8.8 million at December 29, 2013 will expire beéne2028 and 2031 . We have
approximately $11.0 million of tax benefits ( $4dllion net of tax) related to excess stock compensaticchmivere recorded to additiol
paid-incapital during the fiscal year ended December 2332Under the "tax law ordering" method, as désctin ASC 740, this amount v
also used as a tax deduction and reduced the ambuet operating loss carry forward utilized dgrin013. As of December 29, 2013he
Company has general business tax credits of $Ali@méxpiring between 2026 and 2033 .

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuatiowatioe if, based on the weight of the available @vig, it is more likely than not that som
all of the deferred taxes will not be realized. IB@bsitive and negative evidence are considerefdriming managemerd’ judgment as
whether a valuation allowance is appropriate, andemveight is given to evidence that can be objettiverified. The tax benefits relating
any reversal of the valuation allowance on the mefetax assets would be recognized as a reducfidnture income tax expense.
Company believes that it will realize all of thefeleed tax assets. Therefore, no valuation allowdras been recorded.
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The effective income tax expense differs from thdefal statutory tax expense for the fiscal yeaded December 29, 2013ecember 3l
2012 and December 25, 2011 as follows:

2013 2012 2011
Expected income tax expense $ 5191 $ 2,61¢ $ 1,73:
State tax expense, net of federal benefit 647 45¢€ 58(
Non-deductible compensation 711 457 354
FICA tip credit (2,099 (1,347 (1,040
Other (267) 54 7
Income tax expense $ 4,19¢ $ 2,24 $ 1,63¢

Federal tax standards require that a position tak@xpected to be taken in a tax return be rezeghin the financial statements when it is

more likely than not (i.e. a likelihood of more th&0%) that the position would be sustained upameration by tax authorities. A recogni:
tax position is measured at the largest amounteatfit that is greater than 50% likely of beinglieal upon settlement. The standards
require that changes in judgment that result irsegbent recognition, derecognition or change ineasurement of a tax position taken
prior annual period (including any related interastl penalties) be recognized as a discrete itetheirinterim period in which the char
occurs. As of December 29, 2013 and December 3@, 28e Company recognized no liability for uncertax positions.

It is the Company policy to include any penalties and interesttegldo income taxes in its income tax provisionwidweer, the Compai
currently has no penalties or interest relatedhtoine taxes. The Company is currently open to audier the statute of limitations by the
for the years ended December 26, 2010 through Deeef®, 2013 .

The effective income tax rate for the year endedebDwer 29, 2013 was 27.5% compared to an effectomme tax rate of 29.1%6r the yea
ended December 30, 201Zhe decrease in the effective income tax rate fitee prior year was primarily attributable to fagorable impact «
a one time adjustment made for incremental employr@x credits for the current year as well aspgtevious open tax years, which resulte
a $556,000 net favorable impact on net income dutfire year ended December 29, 20The decrease in the effective income tax rate
partially offset by the unfavorable impact of thendax deductible secondary offering costs incurredingu the current year end
December 29, 2013The impact on the effective income tax rate fase items will be treated discretely in this fisezar as required by t
FASB's ASC. The effective income tax rate for 2@k8luding these discrete items is estimated toppecximately 29% .

Since the Company has net operating loss carrydiatsy the net favorable tax benefit mentioned ahmlleprimarily increase the gene
business credits deferred tax asset.

12 . COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is involved in various claims and legetions arising in the normal course of businésgshe opinion of management,
ultimate disposition of these matters will not havenaterial effect on the Compasyconsolidated financial position, results of ofieres o
cash flows.

In connection with the Sponsor's investment in 2006 Company entered into an advisory agreemehttié Sponsor, pursuant to which
Sponsor provided the Company with certain finanaidisory services. In exchange for these servites,Company paid the Sponsot
aggregate annual management fee equal to $35@0@0eimbursed them for out of pocket expensesriediby it in connection with tl
provision of services pursuant to the agreementMarch 21, 2012, the Company paid a $2.0 milliermination payment to the Sponso
terminate its advisory agreement and no furthenpyts are required under the advisory agreemepmé&as to the Sponsor web.1 millior
and $0.4 million for the fiscal years ended Decenfle 2012 and December 25, 2011, respectively.

13 . RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Founders
The Company leases its corporate office and staweant locations from entities owned by its fowsd&ee Note 7 Leases.

In addition, the Company entered into a manageragréaement in November 2006 with Three Star Managenhéd. (an entity owned by
founders) to provide management services, suchdasnistrative, accounting and human resources stipfm Three Star Management’
restaurants. In connection with this agreement,Gbenpany received management fees of $40jA08ach of the three fiscal years en
December 29, 2013 .
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Purchase of Common Stock by Company Executi

Pursuant to the Chief Financial Officer joining tiempany, the Company agreed to sell 8,488es of common stock at a price per she
$11.78 for an aggregate purchase price of $10Ma08ugust 15, 2011.

The price per share of this common stock purchas® estimated to be the fair value of the stockatdate of purchase as determined b
quarterly contemporaneous valuation completed lgy Gompanys board of directors. For additional information e contemporanec
valuation, see Note 10 Stock-Based CompensatiorteShis stock was sold to the Chief Financial €2ffiat its fair value, no stodkase!
compensation expense was recorded.

14 . SETTLEMENT WITH FORMER DIRECTOR

In June 2011, the Company entered into a settleaggeement with a former director. The settlemgné@ment provided the Company pay
former director a settlement of $175,000 and aiapédidend of approximately $53,0@h shares issued upon exercise of stock optiore
settlement was paid on June 16, 2011.

Prior to the settlement being paid, the formeraloeexercised his stock options and purchased)9GRares of common stock. As part of
settlement, the Company granted a one-time pubwftr $14.48er share for the 30,209 shares purchased. Atraeyftom June 15, 2012,
August 13, 2012, the former director had the optigrnwritten notice require the Company to repurehals or a portion of these shares
price of $14.48 per share. The Company reviewedlatrangement and determined that the stock bedewad temporary equity and classit
as common stock subject to put options. The Compeogrded the common stock subject to put optiarfaiavalue on the date of issua
totaling $426,000 including $70,006corded as settlement expense, which was redétab§ibm stockholders equity to temporary equithe
fair value per share of the stock at the date efstttlement agreement was determined by the reosht quarterly contemporaneous valu
performed by the board of directors. The Compargreded changes in fair value to the redemption evalver the period from the date
issuance to the earliest redemption date on aghktrdine basis. At December 25, 2011 the recorda@ldrite of $432,00@onsisted of tF
aforementioned $426,008nhd accretion from the date of the settlement agee¢ to December 25, 2011. On August 13, 2012 theoptior
expired and $432,000 was reclassed from temporaryyeto stockholders' equity.

15 . QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following tables set forth certain unauditedsaidated financial information for each of theifguarters in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2Q1r2
thousands, except per share data):

2013
March 31 June 30 September 29 December 29
Revenue $ 46,69¢ $ 53,427 $ 53,47¢ $ 50,76(
Income from operation® 3,22¢ 4,80¢ 4,04¢ 3,29¢
Net incomée? 2,641 3,16( 2,81¢ 2,452
Basic net income per share $ 0.1€ $ 0.1¢ $ 017 $ 0.1t
Diluted net income per share $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.17 $ 0.1t
2012
March 25 June 24 September 23 December 30
Revenue $ 37,47¢ 3 43,54 % 44,93¢ % 46,68(
Income from operation® 1,82¢ 4,35¢ 3,41¢€ 3,70(
Net income® 381 1,731 79C 2,55¢
Basic net income per share $ 0.01 $ 0.1€ $ 0.08 % 0.1¢€
Diluted net income per share $ 0.01 $ 0.1t $ 0.08 $ 0.1t

(1) Contains expenses related to the January @0d 3\pril 2013 secondary offerings, which decreasedme from operations (417,00t
in the first quarter of 2013 and $508,000 in theosel quarter of 2013, respectively.

(2) Contains a $556,000 ptax favorable income tax benefit, in the first gearrelated to incremental employment tax creftitsthe
current year as well as the previous open tax years

(3) Contains a termination payment to Goode Chuyboldings, LLC, an affiliate of Goode Partners LI terminate its adviso
agreement, in the first quarter of 2012, which dased income from operations by $2.0 millionontains expenses related to
secondary offering, in the fourth quarter of 20dBjch decreased income from operations by $228,000

(4) Contains a write off of unamortized loan originatiees related to the portion of long term debt thas repaid, in the third quarter
2012, which decreased net income by $1.1 milliaat ¢f tax).
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16 . SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to December 29, 2013 , the Company dpenenew restaurants, for a total of 50 restagranfourteen states.

In preparing these financial statements, the Compais evaluated events and transactions for pateetognition and disclosure through
date of issuance.
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FORM OF
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT
UNDER THE
CHUY'’'S HOLDINGS, INC. 2012 OMNIBUS EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
This Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (this * RSUréement’), dated as of , 20__ (the " Date ofBh
is made by and between Chuy’s Holdings, Inc., aate corporation (the_* Compatjyand (the *

Participant’). Capitalized terms used without definition hershall have the meaning ascribed to them in theyGh
Holdings, Inc. 2012, Omnibus Equity Incentive P{dre “ Plan”). Where the context permits, references to the
Company shall include any successor to the Company.

1. Grant of Restricted Stock UnitS'he Company hereby grants to the Participant Deferred Shares (such

4,

deferred shares, the " Restricted Stock Ubitsubject to all of the terms and conditions of R8U Agreement ar
the Plan. Each Restricted Stock Unit shall repretbenright to receive one share of Common Stock.

Vesting of Restricted Stock Units'he Restricted Stock Units specified in Sectiaf this RSU Agreement shall
vest as follows:

(@) Vesting. Subject to the provisions set forth below, andegt to the extent set forth in Section 12 of ttanP
on each of the first four (4) anniversaries of frege of Grant (each such date, a “ Vesting Dgta number of
Restricted Stock Units equal to twenty-five perd@%) multiplied by the number of Restricted Stadriits
specified in Section 1 of this RSU Agreement wdtbme nonforfeitable, subject in each case todhé&rued
employment of the Participant by the Company or ainés Subsidiaries or Affiliates in a positionited to, or
more senior than, from the date hereof tfirdhe relevant Vesting Date, and provideat the
Participant has not given notice of resignatiomfasach such Vesting Date, subject to paragrapbf(this
Section 2. Subject to Section 6 of this RSU Agrestiimeach such Vesting Date shall be a settlemdatutaler
this RSU Agreement.

(b) Termination of EmploymentSubject to Section 12 of the Plan, (i) upon teation of the Participant’s
employment with the Company and its Affiliates &y reason (including, but not limited to, the teat
Disability of the Participant) or (ii) in the evethie Participant is no longer employed by the Camgpa one of
its Subsidiaries or Affiliates in a position eqt@| or more senior than, , any Restrictedk3Units
that have not become nonforfeitable hereunder blealihnmediately forfeited.

Transfer of Awards No purported sale, assignment, mortgage, hypatloex; transfer, charge, pledge,
encumbrance, gift, transfer in trust (voting oremlor other disposition of, or creation of a sé@gunterest in or liel
on, any of the Restricted Stock Units or any agesgr commitment to do any of the foregoing (eachTransfer
") by any holder thereof in violation of the promas of this RSU Agreement will be valid. Any purfed Transfer
of Restricted Stock Units or any economic benefinterest therein in violation of this RSU Agreemshall be nu
and voidab initio, and shall not create any obligation or liabitifythe Company, and any person purportedly
acquiring any Restricted Stock Units or any ecomdneinefit or interest therein transferred in violatof this RSU
Agreement shall not be entitled to be recognized laslder of such Restricted Stock Units. Withajydice to the
foregoing, in the event of a Transfer or an attedgiransfer in violation of this RSU Agreement, @@mpany
shall have the right (in its sole discretion) tonigate the Restricted Stock Units which are tHgest of the
Transfer or attempted Transfer.

Adjustments Pursuant to Section 5 of the Plan, in the evéat@hange in Capitalization, the Administratorlsha
make such equitable changes or adjustments asntgirecessary or appropriate
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to the Restricted Stock Units, including, withautitation, the number of Restricted Stock Units.

No Employment Contrac«. Nothing contained in this RSU Agreement shallc@)fer upon the Participant any right
to be employed by or remain employed by the Comparany Affiliate thereof, or (b) limit or affechiany manner
the right of the Company or any Affiliate thereofterminate the employment or adjust the compemsati the
Participant.

Settlement of Restricted Stock Unit§o the extent the Restricted Stock Units shatbb@e nonforfeitable pursuant
to Section 2(a) above, the shares of Common Stodknlying such Restricted Stock Units shall begfamed to th
Participant no later than 30 days after the datevloich the Restricted Stock Units become nonfarfgé, except as
otherwise provided in Section 8 and unless otherweferred by the Participant in accordance witit@adures
established by the Company subject to the limitegtiof Section 409A of the Code.

Dividend, Voting and Other RightsThe Participant shall have no rights of ownershithe Restricted Stock Units
and shall have no voting rights with respect tchdestricted Stock Units unless and until the datevhich the
shares of Common Stock transferred to the Partitiparsuant to Section 6 above and a stock cextéic
representing such shares of Common Stock is igsuiie Participant. Dividend equivalents will bedoa cash on
the shares of Common Stock underlying the ResttiSteck Units and shall be deferred (with no eaysiaccruing)
until, and paid contingent upon, the vesting ofrédated Restricted Stock Units and paid at theest@me the
underlying shares of Common Stock are transfewddd Participant.

Retention of Restricted Stock Units by the Compaflge shares of Common Stock underlying the RéstriStock
Units shall be released to the Participant by toem@any’s transfer agent at the direction of the gany. At such
time as the Restricted Stock Units become payab$pacified in this RSU Agreement, the Companyl shract the
transfer agent to forward all such payable shaf€ommon Stock to the Participant; provided, howetleat (a) th
Company may withhold a number of shares of Commonk3with a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum
amount the Company is then required to withholddaes and (b) the transfer agent will be direttefdrward the
remaining balance of shares of Common Stock diteatnount necessary for such taxes has been deduibte
foregoing provisions of this Section 8 are in akets subject to Section 409A of the Code.

Taxes and WithholdingTo the extent that the Company or any Affilidtereof shall be required to withhold any
federal, state, local or foreign taxes in connectidth the issuance or vesting of the RestrictegtiStinits, and the
amounts available to the Company or such Affilfatesuch withholding are insufficient, the Partigigt shall pay
such taxes or make provisions that are satisfat¢tottye Company for the payment thereof.

Failure to Enforce Not a WaivefThe failure of the Company to enforce at any tang provision of this RSU
Agreement shall in no way be construed to be a&va¥ such provision or of any other provision loére

Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisioinhis RSU Agreement shall be invalidated for any
reason by a court of competent jurisdiction, argvmion so invalidated shall be deemed to be sepafeom the
other provisions hereof, and the remaining prowvisibereof shall continue to be valid and fully ecéable.

Relation to Plan The Plan is hereby incorporated by reference artd made a part of, this RSU Agreement, and
the Restricted Stock Units and this RSU Agreemball e subject to all terms and conditions of Bfen and this
RSU Agreement. In the event of any inconsistendwéen the provisions of this RSU Agreement andPlaa, the
Plan shall govern.

Successors and Assignghe provisions of this RSU Agreement shall intaréhe benefit of, and |
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binding upon, the successors, administrators, Hegal representatives, and assigns of the Raatiti and the
successors and assigns of the Company.

Securities Laws Requirement$he Company shall not be obligated to issue Réstk Stock Units or Common

Stock underlying such Restricted Stock Units toRaeticipant, if such transfer, in the opinion otiosel for the
Company, would violate the Securities Act of 1988 amended (the_* Securities Aytor any other federal or state
statutes having similar requirements as may b&@cteat that time.

Governing Law. The interpretation, performance, and enforceroétitis Agreement shall be governed by the law

of the State of Delaware.

Notices. Any notice to the Company provided for hereinlidba in writing to the Company, marked Attention:

President, and any notice to the Participant sfealiddressed to the Participant at his or her agdne file with the
Company. Any written notice required to be givenhi® Company shall be deemed to be duly given whign
actually received by the Company.

Clawback. If, at any time, the Board or the Committee,lesdase may be, in its sole discretion determimatsainy

action or omission by the Participant constitut@dwrongdoing that contributed to any material maitesment in or
omission from any report or statement filed by @@mpany with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Casion, (b
intentional or gross misconduct, (c) a breach fidaciary duty to the Company or a Subsidiary toé (d) fraud,
then in each such case of (a) through (d), commegnwith the first fiscal year of the Company durimlgich such
action or omission occurred, the Participant stoafeit (without any payment therefor) up to 100%@ay
Restricted Stock Units that have not vested antll sy to the Company, upon notice to the Pandiot by the
Company, up to an amount equal to 100% of theMarket Value of the shares of Common Stock undeglyuch
Restricted Stock Units that were delivered to tadiBipant, during and after such fiscal year. Board or the
Committee, as the case may be, shall determiris sole discretion the date of occurrence of satbraor
omission, the percentage of the Restricted Stodislimat shall be forfeited and the percentagdefair Market
Value of the shares of Common Stock underlying $Restricted Stock Units that must be repaid toGbmpany.

Amendment Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Board raagny time, revise or amend this RSU Agreement ir

any respect whatsoever. No such revision or amentdmay, without the consent of a Participant, imiae
Participant’s rights under this RSU Agreement.

[Signature Page to Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetatel delivered this RSU Agreement on the day anc
year first above written.

Chuy’s Holdings, Inc.:

By:
Name:
Title:

[INAME]:
The Participant

By:
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement (No. 333-185948) on Form S-&lofiy’s Holdings, Inc. of our repc
dated March 11, 2014 , relating to our audits @& tlonsolidated financial statements, which appeahis Annual Report on Form 10-of
Chuy’s Holdings, Inc. for the year ended Decemi$er2D13 .

/sl McGladrey LLP
Dallas, Texas

March 11, 2014
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Steven J. Hislop, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual report on Form 1@fKChuy’s Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or amgtate a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstamnceer which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period cove
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material resp
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) forehéstrant and we have:

a)

b)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingmared;

designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finahoégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amsaraegarding the reliability of financial repodimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtéds report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure coniots procedures, as of the end of the period cougyetis report based on st
evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in thesteaint’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfburth fiscal quarter in the case of the annapbrt) that has materially affected, c
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasi's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @bmver financial reportin
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controémofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refioaincial informatior
and

any fraud, whether or not material, that ineshmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrast’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2014

/sl Steven J. Hislop

Steven J. Hislop
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jon W. Howie, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual report on Form 1@fkKChuy’s Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or amgtate a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstamnceer which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period cove
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material resp
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) forehéstrant and we have:

a)

b)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingmared;

designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finahoégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amsaraegarding the reliability of financial repodimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtéds report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure coniots procedures, as of the end of the period cougyetis report based on st
evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in thesteaint’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfburth fiscal quarter in the case of the annapbrt) that has materially affected, c
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasi's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @bmver financial reportin
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controémofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the itegig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refioaincial informatior
and

any fraud, whether or not material, that ineshmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrast’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2014

/sl Jon W. Howie

Jon W. Howie

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10/Ghuy’s Holdings, Inc., a Delaware Corporatione(ttCompany”),for the period endir
December 29, 2013, as filed with the Securitie Bxchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R§pthe undersigned, Steven J. His
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Compamd Jon W. Howie, Vice President and Chief FamanOfficer of the Company, ea
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aptetbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxtewf 2002 that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations
the Company as of the dates and for the periodeatedi.

Date: March 11, 2014

/sl Steven J. Hislop

Steven J. Hislop
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Jon W. Howie

Jon W. Howie

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




